
 
 

 
1 | P a g e   
√ Denotes an attachment  BOARD MEETING NOVEMBER  2021 

 

BOARD MEETING 
Tuesday, November 16, 2021 | 6:30 pm 

  
Join Zoom Meeting 

https://nearnorthschools-
ca.zoom.us/j/82147536425?pwd=M0pVNndqTE5KZEpNVE96TXVsRXh4QT09 

 
Meeting ID: 821 4753 6425 

Passcode: 394738 
Dial in: 1 855 703 8985  

AGENDA        
 
1.0 Call to Order 

1.1 Land Acknowledgement  
We would like to open this meeting by acknowledging the traditional 
territories of the Anishinaabe, on which all schools of the NNDSB are 
situated. The Board Office is specifically located on the traditional territory of 
the Nipissing First Nation. We value the cultures, histories and relationships 
with the Indigenous People of Turtle Island. We are grateful to be gathered 
here today. 
 

1.2 Opening Prayer by Elder 
Welcome to Elder  

 
 

2.0 Attendance  
2.1 Confirmation of Quorum  
2.2 Declaration of Conflict of Interest 

 
 

3.0 Indigenous Student Circle Update- Presented by A. Lewis Trodd  
 
 

4.0 Approval of the Agenda and Previous Minutes √ 
Motion: That the agenda for the Board meeting of November 16, 2021 be 
approved, together with the minutes of the October 12, 2021, meeting.  

 
 
5.0 Business Arising  

Nil.  
 

 
6.0 Communication to the Board 

6.1 Information Items  
6.1.1 Professional Development Opportunities Calendar √ 
6.1.2 Board committee membership √ 

https://nearnorthschools-ca.zoom.us/j/82147536425?pwd=M0pVNndqTE5KZEpNVE96TXVsRXh4QT09
https://nearnorthschools-ca.zoom.us/j/82147536425?pwd=M0pVNndqTE5KZEpNVE96TXVsRXh4QT09


 
 

 
2 | P a g e   
√ Denotes an attachment  BOARD MEETING NOVEMBER  2021 

 

6.1.3 Board correspondence √ 
6.1.4 Administrative Guidelines Report √ 
6.1.5 Monthly Tender Report- November 2021 √  
6.1.6 2021/22 Enrollment Projections √  
6.1.7 Elementary Class Size Compliance Report √  
6.1.8 COVID-19 Management Update √ 

 
6.2 Director’s Update- Director Myles to lead this item. 

6.2.1 Board Report √ 
  

6.3 Chair’s Remarks- Chair Aspin to lead this item.  
6.3.1 Message from the Chair for the Director’s Annual Report √ 
 

6.4 OPSBA Report- Trustee Steer to lead this item. 
6.4.1 Board Report √ 

  
6.5 Student Trustees’ Update- Student Trustee Darling to lead this item.  

6.5.1 Student Trustee Report √ 
 
 

7.0 Items for Decision 
7.1 Report from Committee of the Whole Private Session 

 
7.2 Report from Committee of the Whole Public Session 
 
7.3 Levying Education Taxes Bylaw 2022 √  

Whereas subsection 257.7(1) of the Education Act requires the Board to levy 
the tax rates prescribed under section 257.12 of the Act; 
 
And whereas Ontario Regulation 400/98 prescribes the tax rates under 
subsection 257.12 of the Act; 
 
Be it resolved that the NNDSB Board of Trustees enacts that the rates set out 
in Ontario Regulation 400/98 for 2022 are levied in localities within the area of 
jurisdiction of the Board on the property indicated in section 257.7 of the Act. 
 

7.4 Trustee Honorarium √  
Be it resolved that the NNDSB Board of Trustees approves the trustee 
honoraria as presented in the accompanying report.  

 
 
8.0 Committee Reports 

8.1 Committee Meeting Minutes Presented for Information 
8.1.1 SEAC meeting minutes- October 21, 2021 √ 
8.1.2 Parent Involvement Committee minutes- October 28, 2021 √  
8.1.3 Parry Sound Build Committee minutes- November 2, 2021 √ 
8.1.4 Parry Sound Build Committee- minutes- November 10, 2021 √ 



 
 

 
3 | P a g e   
√ Denotes an attachment  BOARD MEETING NOVEMBER  2021 

 

 
9.0 Next meeting Date: December 7, 2021 
 
 
10.0 Adjournment 

10.1 Motion: That on November 16, 2021 we do now adjourn at _____ pm. 
 



 Minutes of the Public Session Board Meeting of the Near North District School Board held October 12, 2021 

1 | P a g e 

 

 

963 Airport Road North Bay, ON  P1B 8H1 
Phone: 705.472.8170 
Website: www.nearnorthschools.ca 

 
Jay Aspin, Chair   Craig Myles, Director of Education 

 
 

 
 

The October 12, 2021 Public Session Board Meeting of the Near North District School 
Board was held via teleconference and videoconference. 

 
 

 
 

1.0 Call to Order 
Chair Aspin called the meeting to order at 6:45 pm. 

 1.1  Land Acknowledgement  
  Chair Aspin read the land acknowledgement aloud.  

 
1.2  Opening Prayer by Elder 
 Chair Aspin welcomed elder P. Beaucage of the Nipissing First Nation to the Board 

meeting. Elder Beaucage spoke in the Nipissing dialect of Anishinaabemowin, then 
interpreted his words and shared he requested that the Great Spirit give 
participants positive guidance to do their work in a positive way. 

 
 Chair Aspin thanked Elder Beaucage for his words and presence at the meeting.  

 
 

2.0 Attendance 
2.1   Confirmation of Quorum  

Attendance indicated that eight trustees are present for the meeting, including the 
Trustee Elect and the Student Trustee.  

 
2.2   Declaration of Conflict of Interest  

NIL 
 

Trustees Present: Administrative Staff Present: 
Jay Aspin, Chair 
John Cochrane, Vice-Chair 
Al Bottomley 
Bill Steer  
Caren Gagne 
Louise Sargent 
Nichole King  
Student Trustee C. Darling 
 
Trustee Regrets:  
Donna Breault 

   Rob Learn   

Craig Myles, Director of Education 
Deb Bartlett, Communications Officer 
Gay Smylie, Superintendent of Education  
Krista Messenger, Executive Assistant  
Melanie Gray, Superintendent of Education   
Tim Graves, Superintendent of Education  
Seija Van Haesendonck, Superintendent of Business 

 
Other: 

  Staff, media and community partners  
 

http://www.nearnorthschools.ca/


 Minutes of the Public Session Board Meeting of the Near North District School Board held October 12, 2021 

2 | P a g e 

 

 

3.0 Welcome Trustee Elect Gagne 
3.1 Declaration of Office 
Following the appointment of C. Gagne at the previous meeting to fill the vacancy in 
zone 2, C. Gagne was provided with the Declarations of Office in advance of the 
meeting to review.  
 
Chair Aspin confirmed she had received the document and questioned whether the 
Trustee Elect was prepared to proceed. Trustee Elect Gagne affirmed that she was and 
proceeded to read the Declarations aloud to declare she is qualified to hold office, will 
remain impartial, and disclose conflicts of interests with diligence.  

 
3.2 Oath of Allegiance  
In the presence of trustees and the Board’s Secretary (Director Myles), Chair Aspin read 
aloud the Oath of Allegiance for Trustee Elect Gagne. Trustee Elect Gagne repeated 
after the Chair to affirm her allegiance.  
 
Following the swearing of the oath, Chair Aspin formally welcomed and introduced 
Trustee Gagne.  
 
 

4.0 Approval of the Agenda and Previous Minutes 
 Motion: 21-10-01, J. Cochrane/ A. Bottomley   

That the agenda for the Board meeting of October 12, 2021 be approved, together with 
the minutes of the September 21, meeting. - CARRIED. 

  
 
5.0 Business Arising 

5.1 Menstrual Product Report 
Chair Aspin noted that this is an item of business arising from the June meeting from the 
previous Student Trustee, Ms. Hall-Paradis. Director Myles was invited to speak to this 
item. Highlights noted as:  

• Trustees were referred to the report contained in the package about menstrual 
product access in NNDSB schools.  

• Initially, this report was designed to inform the Board’s decision to write a letter of 
support for this initiative.   

• It is noted that following the development of this report, the provincial government 
announced a partnership with Shoppers Drug Mart to give menstrual products to 
school boards across the province, which can be accessed in school washrooms. 
The investment includes the distribution of dispensers on a one-time basis, as 
well as products for a three year term.  

• Student Trustees, M. Hall-Paradis and C. Darling were recognized for their work 
with the Ontario Student Trustee’s Association (OSTA), given how the report has 
shown what great benefit this will bring to NNDSB students. 

• Providing equity of access to menstrual products fosters inclusivity in the NNDSB 
school community, and represents further strides towards the strategic 
commitment to Excellence in Teaching and Learning.  

Director Myles noted that SO Graves is in attendance to respond to any questions.  
 



 Minutes of the Public Session Board Meeting of the Near North District School Board held October 12, 2021 

3 | P a g e 

 

 

Chair Aspin opened the floor for questions, with none rose. Chair Aspin thanked Director 
Myles for presenting this item.  

 
 

6.0 Communication to the Board 
6.1 Information Items 
Chair Aspin referred trustees to the board reports submitted for information as part of 
the agenda package for each item. Brief highlights were offered for each item as noted 
below.  

 
6.1.1  Monthly Tender Report- October 2021  

• No comments to note 
6.1.2  Professional Development Opportunities Calendar  

• Chair Aspin noted this is a key area of development organized by the 
Ontario Public School Board Association (OPSBA). Trustees are 
encouraged to participate in these initiatives.  

6.1.3  Board Correspondence   
• Note that two items of correspondence are included.  
• Chair Aspin spoke to the legacy of S. Weinberg during her time with the 

OPSBA as a conference coordinator. Chair Aspin offered high regards on 
behalf of the Board for her retirement.  

• Chair Aspin noted the letter of thanks provided to the Board of Directors 
for North Bay Parry Sound District Health Unit for their continued 
partnership with NNDSB to navigate the pandemic safely within the school 
community. It is noted that a letter from Board Chair N Jacko was received 
recognizing NNDSB trustees and administration for their excellent work 
and dedication.  

6.1.4  CODE Summer Learning Report   
• Director Myles this program was very successful this summer to support 

students with math and literacy skills.  
• Recognition to the staff and community partners involved in the delivery of 

this program, under the leadership of SO Gray.  
6.1.5  Canadian Centre for Child Protection (C3P) Partnership Initiative  

• No further comments offered.  
 

6.2   Director’s Update 
Opening remarks from Director Myles to note many meaningful days of recognition 
were celebrated this month. Director Myles recognized every effort by staff in support of 
student achievement and well-being. Together with the Chair of the Board, gratitude 
and recognition have been shared with staff this month in honour of the work carried out 
each day in service to students.  As part of his report, the Director also highlighted: 

• NNDSB continues to ensure compliance with the instructions issued by the 
Office of the Chief Medical Officer of Health to achieve 100% vaccination policy 
compliance. Part of this compliance involves the use of a third-party application, 
ThriveHealth. NNDSB has been recognized by the application provider for 
developing an implementation procedure that is one of the most effective across 
Canada. ThriveHealth has reached out to see if NNDSB would support the 
Government of the Northwest Territories by sharing the board’s approach. This 



 Minutes of the Public Session Board Meeting of the Near North District School Board held October 12, 2021 

4 | P a g e 

 

 

work demonstrates action towards the board’s strategic commitment to 
excellence in innovation. Thanks is expressed to the H.R. and I.T. departments 
under the leadership of SBO Van Haesendonck for their excellent work that has 
brought national recognition to the board. 

• Following the Board’s approval at the previous meeting, several administrative 
guidelines have been approved for public consultation and posted to the board’s 
website.  

Chair Aspin thanked the Director for providing this report, and for his leadership to 
steward these priorities within the school community.   
 
6.3 Chair’s Remarks 
The Chair shared remarks regarding Board and community engagement initiatives 
following the Director’s Remarks. Chair Aspin’s verbal report centered on:  

• Positive press acknowledgement. It is noted that the website has showcased 
many interesting achievements by NNDSB students that have been shared 
further by media partners. Chair Aspin is very proud of NNDSB students and 
expressed thanks to the staff who support drawing attention to these 
accomplishments.  

• Significant progress noted across Board of Trustee priorities. It is noted that the 
Board outlined several priorities for action and trustees have worked hard to 
achieve two of the top three thus far. The Multi-Year Strategic Plan approval 
under the leadership of the MYSP Committee chaired by Trustee Steer was a 
significant priority, together with the initiation of the Fricker Build capital project- 
which is being discussed further in the agenda. The third priority is identified as 
the Parry Sound build, which will continue with its momentum.  

Trustees received Chair Aspin’s report with thanks.   
 
 6.4  OPSBA Report 

 The Chair invited Trustee Steer to lead the Board through this item. Trustee Steer 
referred trustees to the report contained in the agenda package and provided highlights to 
note:  

• Equity, diversity and inclusion work continues at OPSBA. The agency is seeking 
an interim advisor to interpret some of the findings in the equity audit.  

• Project Compass continues its work reviewing OPSBA governance, policies and 
guidelines.  

• Trustee Steer is pleased to be presenting an experiential learning presentation to 
the northern regional caucus. Trustee Steer will be speaking to the importance of 
indigenous land-based learning.  

  The Chair thanked Trustee Steer for his report and diligence in continuing to represent 
NNDSB at the provincial level.    
 
6.5  Student Trustee’s Update 

 The Chair invited Student Trustee Darling to speak to this item. Student Trustee Darling 
referred trustees to the report shared as part of the agenda package. Highlight shared are 
noted as:  

• Truth and Reconciliation Week was honored by the secondary schools from 
September 27-30. Schools provided many meaningful opportunities for students to 
commemorate the history and ongoing impacts of residential schools, and to 



 Minutes of the Public Session Board Meeting of the Near North District School Board held October 12, 2021 

5 | P a g e 

 

 

further the process of Truth and Reconciliation. 
• NNDSB students have shown their enthusiasm for the re-opening of extra-

curricular activities. From sports to clubs, such as drama, basketball, volleyball, 
cross-country, golf, soccer, and band, they have had overwhelming participation 
from students. 

 Student Trustee Darling closed her report by speaking to the Ontario Student Trustee 
Association’s Fall General Meeting. This event is being hosted in-person in November 
and Student Trustee Darling expressed her desire for the Board’s approval for her 
attendance.  

 
The Chair thanked the Student Trustee for her report and noted the Board would be 
pleased to support her attendance at this event. The floor was opened for comments, with 
none rose.  
 
Motion: 21-10-02, J. Cochrane/ L. Sargent 
Be it resolved that the NNDSB Board of Trustees approve Student Trustee Cecelia 
Darling to attend the Fall 2021 General Meeting of the Ontario Student Trustee 
Association on behalf of Near North District School Board. - CARRIED.  
 

 
7.0 Items for Decision 

7.1 Report from Committee of the Whole- Private Session 
Motion: 21-10-03, J. Cochrane/ L. Sargent 
Be it resolved that the NNDSB Board of Trustees approve of the intended approach 
presented by the DPA Committee during the in-camera meeting.- CARRIED.  

 
7.2 Report from Committee of the Whole- Public Session 
Motion: 21-10-04, J. Cochrane/ A. Bottomley 
Be it resolved that the NNDSB Board of Trustees approve the nomination of SBO Van 
Haesendonck for the OSBIE Northeast Regional Board of Directors.- CARRIED.   

 
Motion: 21-10-05, J. Cochrane/ L. Sargent 
Be it resolved that the NNDSB Board of Trustees appoint Director Myles as the NNDSB 
Voting Delegate for the OSBIE Northeast Regional Board of Directors elections. 
- CARRIED.    
 
7.3  Terms of Reference- For Approval  
Motion: 21-10-06, B. Steer/ C. Gagne 
Be it resolved that the Board of Trustees of Near North District School Board approve the 
Director’s Performance Appraisal Committee’s Terms of Reference, as recommended by 
the Director’s Performance Appraisal Committee. - CARRIED.    
 
7.4 Tender Recommendation 
Motion: 21-10-07, B. Steer/ L. Sargent 
Whereas NNDSB has issued a formal selection process and published an RFP for this 
project; 
 
And whereas the W.J. Fricker Build Committee has reviewed the report from the 
evaluation committee to develop a recommendation;  



 Minutes of the Public Session Board Meeting of the Near North District School Board held October 12, 2021 

6 | P a g e 

 

 

 
Be it resolved that the Board of Trustees of Near North District School Board 
approve the following firm for the successful award of the W.J. Fricker construction 
tender, as recommended by the W. J. Fricker Build Committee: 
VENASSE BUILDING GROUP in the amount of $17,580,000 excluding HST- CARRIED 
UNANIMOUSLY.   

 
 
8.0 Committee Reports 
 8.1  Committee Meeting Minutes Presented for Information 

8.1.1 FNAC Committee- unofficial minutes- September 16, 2021 
8.1.2 SEAC Committee- unofficial minutes- September 16, 2021 
8.1.3 W.J. Fricker Committee- unofficial minutes- October 5, 2021 

 
 Chair Aspin referred trustees to the committee minutes included for information 
purposes.  

 
 
9.0  Next Meeting Date 

 Chair Aspin confirmed the Board of Trustees would meet next on Tuesday, November 16, 
2021.   
 

 
10.0 Motion to Adjourn 

Motion: 21-10-08, A. Bottomley/ N. King  
That we do now adjourn at 7:22 pm. – CARRIED 

  
 

__________________      _______________________ 
        Jay Aspin Craig Myles 

          Chair Director of Education 
 
 

RESOLUTION SUMMARY 
 

21-10-01  
J. Cochrane 
A. Bottomley 

That the agenda for the Board meeting of October 12, 2021 be 
approved, together with the minutes of the September 21, meeting.  
- CARRIED.   
 

21-10-02 
J. Cochrane 
L. Sargent 
 

Be it resolved that the NNDSB Board of Trustees approve Student 
Trustee Cecelia Darling to attend the Fall 2021 General Meeting of the 
Ontario Student Trustee Association on behalf of Near North District 
School Board.  
- CARRIED.  

 
21-10-03 
J. Cochrane  
L. Sargent 

Be it resolved that the NNDSB Board of Trustees approve of the 
intended approach presented by the DPA Committee during the in-
camera meeting. 
- CARRIED.  



 Minutes of the Public Session Board Meeting of the Near North District School Board held October 12, 2021 

7 | P a g e 

 

 

21-10-04  
J. Cochrane  
A. Bottomley 

Be it resolved that the NNDSB Board of Trustees approve the 
nomination of SBO Van Haesendonck for the OSBIE Northeast 
Regional Board of Directors. 
- CARRIED.   
 

21-10-05  
J. Cochrane  
L. Sargent 

Be it resolved that the NNDSB Board of Trustees appoint Director 
Myles as the NNDSB Voting Delegate for the OSBIE Northeast 
Regional Board of Directors elections. 
- CARRIED.    
 

21-10-06 
B. Steer 
C. Gagne 

Be it resolved that the Board of Trustees of Near North District School 
Board approve the Director’s Performance Appraisal Committee’s 
Terms of Reference, as recommended by the Director’s Performance 
Appraisal Committee.  
- CARRIED.    
 

21-10-07 
B. Steer 
L. Sargent 
 

Whereas NNDSB has issued a formal selection process and published 
an RFP for this project; 

 
And whereas the W.J. Fricker Build Committee has reviewed the 
report from the evaluation committee to develop a recommendation;  

 
Be it resolved that the Board of Trustees of Near North District School 
Board approve the following firm for the successful award of the W.J. 
Fricker construction tender, as recommended by the W. J. Fricker 
Build Committee:  VENASSE BUILDING GROUP in the amount of 
$17,580,000 excluding HST 
- CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY.   
 

21-10-08 
A. Bottomley  
N. King 

That we do now adjourn at 7:22 pm.  
– CARRIED 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 

       PD Opportunities Calendar 
 

Title: November 2021 Trustee Professional Development Opportunities Calendar 

Scheduled 
Opportunities 

Public Education Symposium (PES) 2022 

OPSBA has announced the Public Education Symposium (PES) will be held on 
Friday, January 28, 2022. The event will be hosted virtually, with more 
information regarding topics and speaks to following in the months to come.  

OPSBA offers online lunchtime speakers and professional development sessions 
for trustees. OPSBA has advised the sessions will resume in the new year. A 
number of previous OPSBA sessions have been recorded and may be viewed 
here:  

https://www.opsba.org/events-and-publications/public-education-symposium/  

 
Ongoing 
Opportunities 
 
 
 

 
• Ontario Public School Board Association’s “Trustee Development Program” 

modules https://modules.ontarioschooltrustees.org/  
 

• Ministry of Education governance resources  
http://www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/policyfunding/leadership/govern_resources.ht
ml 

 
• Trustee election resources http://www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/trustee-

elections/index.html  
 

• Canadian School Boards Association (CSBA) School District Governance- 
Theoretical and Conceptual Foundations 
https://www.cdnsba.org/governance-resources  

 
Registration 
Support 

Trustees may reach out to Krista Messenger via email at 
krista.messenger@nearnorthschools.ca for registration support if they are 
unsuccessful in self-registering by following the links above, or to request printed 
copies of the material to review, where available. 
 

 
 

https://www.opsba.org/events-and-publications/public-education-symposium/
https://modules.ontarioschooltrustees.org/
http://www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/policyfunding/leadership/govern_resources.html
http://www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/policyfunding/leadership/govern_resources.html
http://www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/trustee-elections/index.html
http://www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/trustee-elections/index.html
https://www.cdnsba.org/governance-resources
mailto:krista.messenger@nearnorthschools.ca


 
 
 

2021/2022 Committee Membership List 
 

Standing Committees 

Committee 
Name:   

Current Trustee 
Representation 

Executive Council 
Representative 

Meeting 
Frequency 

Reports to: 

Committee of 
the Whole  

All trustees Director Myles Monthly or as 
needed 

Regular meeting of 
the Board 

Director’s 
Performance 
Appraisal 
Committee 

Jay Aspin * 
Bill Steer 
John Cochrane 
Nichole King 
 

Director Myles At the call of the 
Committee Chair 
in accordance 
with BL-208 

Committee of the 
Whole In-Camera  

Finance 
Committee 

John Cochrane * 
Al Bottomley 
Bill Steer 
Donna Breault 
 

SBO Van 
Haesendonck 

As needed  Regular meeting of 
the Board 

First Nations 
Advisory 
Committee 

Al Bottomley 
Louise Sargent 
Nichole King 
Rob Learn (alternate) 
Bill Steer (alternate) 
 

SO Gray Bi-monthly Regular meeting of 
the Board 

Multi-Year 
Strategic 
Planning 
Committee  

Bill Steer * 
Rob Learn 

Director Myles As needed Regular meeting of 
the Board 

Transportation 
Appeals 
Committee 

All trustees 
 
Two required but three 
preferred 
 

SBO Van 
Haesendonck 

As needed Committee of the 
Whole In-Camera 

Ad- Hoc Committees  
Equity Advisory 
Circle 
 

Louise Sargent 
Nichol King 

SO Gray As needed Regular meeting of 
the Board 

North Bay 
Facilities Study 
Committee 

Jay Aspin Director Myles 
SO Smylie 
 

As needed  Committee of the 
Whole In-Camera 

Parry Sound 
Build Committee 

John Cochrane * 
Nichole King 
Rob Learn 

SO Smylie As needed Regular meeting of 
the Board 



 
 

 
COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP LIST | 2021/2022 

Committee 
Name:   

Current Trustee 
Representation 

Executive Council 
Representative 

Meeting 
Frequency 

Reports to: 

WJ Fricker Build 
Committee 

Bill Steer * 
Louise Sargent 

SO Smylie As needed Regular meeting of 
the Board 

Legislated Committees 
Audit Committee John Cochrane * 

Jay Aspin 
Nichole King 

SBO Van 
Haesendonck 

As required in 
accordance with 
O. Reg. 361/10  

Regular meeting of 
the Board 

Parent 
Involvement 
Committee 

Nichole King  
 

SO Graves As required in 
accordance with 
O. Reg. 612/00  

Regular meeting of 
the Board 

Special 
Education 
Advisory 
Committee 

Al Bottomley 
Louise Sargent 
Nichole King 
John Cochrane 
(alternate) 
Bill Steer (alternate) 

SO Graves Monthly on the 
third Thursday  
 
In accordance 
with O. Reg. 
464/97 

Regular meeting of 
the Board 

Supervised 
Alternative 
Learning 
Committee 

Al Bottomley 
(Almaguin) 
Donna Breault (North 
Bay) 
John Cochrane (Parry 
Sound) 
Nichole King (FN) 

Determined by 
need  

As required in 
accordance with 
O. Reg. 374/10  

Regular meeting of 
the Board 

 
Association Representatives 

OPSBA Delegate Bill Steer 
OBSBA Alternate delegate  Jay Aspin 

 
Notes: 

• The asterick (*) represents the current Committee Chair or Co-Chairs.  
• Per BL-108, the Chair is an “ex-officio” voting member of all non-legislated 

committees, and thus regularly attends the Finance, Audit, MYSP, Fricker and Parry 
Sound Build Committees.   

• Depending on the sensitivity of agenda items discussed, committee may elect to host 
a private session. Committee private session reports will be brought forward to the 
Committee of the Whole In-Camera meetings.  

• Once membership is approved, each committee will be responsible for: 
o Appointing a Committee Chair or Co-Chairs for the 2022 year 
o Reviewing or developing a Terms of Reference for approval by the Board of 

Trustees. 
 





 

 

 

Our mission is to educate learners to their fullest potential in preparation for life-long learning. 

 
 

Head Office 
P.O. Box 3110 
963 Airport Road. 
North Bay, ON 
P1B 8H1 
Fax: 705.472.9927 
 
Main switchboard 
for all offices: 
705.472.8170 
 
Toll free: 
1.800.278.4922 
 
Web site: 
www.nearnorthschools.ca 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

November 5, 2021 
 
 
Mr. Norm Miller, M.P.P. 
Parry Sound Constituency Office 
26 James Street 
Parry Sound, ON  
P2A 1T5 
 
Dear Mr. Miller: 
 
On behalf of the Board of Trustees of Near North District School Board, 
we wish to personally congratulate you on your forthcoming retirement as 
the long-standing Member of Provincial Parliament for Parry Sound- 
Muskoka.   
 
A school board marks the passage of time through the growth of our 
students. Throughout the time that you have served as MPP, your 
influence has shaped the future of a generation of students, which will 
continue into the future with your support for our new school build.   
 
We are thankful that our students and their families are well served by an 
engaged local government, and we appreciate your leadership and 
partnership throughout the years as we have worked together to align the 
board’s vision for students with the needs of our community. Retirement 
will surely offer you many new opportunities, which we trust you will 
embrace wholeheartedly, just as you did as our MPP.  
 
We welcome the opportunity to host you again to showcase more of the 
incredible work of students in the Near North District School Board as you 
shift full-time into the prestigious role of a community member of the 
district you served so benevolently. 
 
Congratulations on a legacy well served, and a retirement well deserved.  
 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 
__________________   __________________ 
Jay Aspin,      John Cochrane,  
Board Chair     Board Vice-Chair 
 
CC: Craig Myles, Director of Education  
       NNDSB Board of Trustees  
  



 
 

 

      |      

BOARD REPORT     

Title: New and Revised Administrative Guidelines 

Contact:   SO Smylie 

Date Submitted: November 2, 2021 

Mandate: Excellence in Communication 
 

Background:  Executive Council has established operational protocols (Administrative 
Guidelines) and policies to guide operations within the board to ensure a 
consistent and best practice approach to board operations.   
 
The Board’s governance policies set forth the required criteria for the 
development and creation of operational policy and guidelines. The 
process is delineated in Governance Policy 202, which was adopted as 
part of the Board’s Governance Policy Manual that was approved on June 
22, 2020 
 
In September, Executive Council brought forward a report to trustees 
seeking expressed approval to proceed to the public consultation period 
for all Administrative Guidelines once approved for review by Executive 
Council. Trustees passed a resolution to provide this approval to 
administration in order to expediate seeking public input into 
Administrative Guidelines. Trustees requested the Director include a list of 
all Administrative Guidelines posted on the website for consultation as part 
of the Director’s Update to the Board to increase traction.    
 

Information: Attached are new or updated Administrative Guidelines that have 
undergone a 30-day public consultation period and any subsequent 
revisions required. Prominent revisions are summarized below: 
 

Student Conduct Management AG:  

• Changes include an emphasis on promoting positive student 

behaviour through whole school and individualized strategies. 

• Updates regarding age of suspension for 306(1) infractions. 

 

Emergency Response Plan: 

• New section to reflect the use of Hold and Secure. Two categories 

were created to denote more specific uses: Hold and Secure 

Internal; and Hold and Secure External. 

• Updated Fire Safety Plan to mirror the template distributed by City of 

North Bay Emergency Services (found in section A.10 - Fire Safety 

Plan) 



 
 

 

      |      

Bear Protocol: 

• Changes were made to streamline the instructions for all staff found 
within the Guideline, however the general response and 
preventative measures remain unchanged. 

 
These Administrative Guidelines were posted on the website for 
consultation from September 27- October 28, 2021. Public feedback was 
culminated into a final version of each AG and presented for approval at 
the Executive Council meeting on November 2, 2021. 
 

Recommendations: That the Board of Trustees receive the received updated approved 
Administrative Guidelines for information as per section 5.2.4 of the 
Governance Manual. 
  

 
 

 

https://www.nearnorthschools.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/AG-Bear-Protocol.pdf


 

 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE GUIDELINE 
 

Safe Schools: Student Conduct Management  
 

Effective Date:          January 29, 2008                Responsibility: Superintendent 
Re-Revised Date:      May 17, 2010                                               of Safe Schools 
                                     March 27, 2017 
                                     April 23, 2019 
                                     November 16, 2021 

 
Policy Statement: 
 
The goal of the policy is to support a safe, inclusive, and accepting learning and teaching environment in 
which every student can reach his or her full potential. As such, the following parameters will be applied 
to all information contained in this Administrative Guideline: 
 

• All inappropriate student behaviour, including bullying, must be addressed. 

• Responses to behaviours that are contrary to the board's code of conduct must be 
developmentally appropriate. 

• Progressive discipline is an approach that makes use of a continuum of prevention programs, 
interventions, supports, and consequences, building upon strategies that build skills for healthy 
relationships and promote positive behaviours. 

• The range of interventions, supports, and consequences used by the board and all schools must 
be clear and developmentally appropriate, and must include learning opportunities for students 
to reinforce positive behaviours and help students make good choices. 

• Information in the student's IEP must be considered in the determination of interventions, 
supports, and consequences for students with special education needs. 

• The board, and school administrators, must consider all mitigating and other factors, as required 
by the Education Act and as set out in Ontario Regulation 472/07. 

 
Many regulations and publications inform our Board’s processes for managing student conduct. Our 
discipline policies, which create clear expectations for behaviour for all persons on school property, 
outline strategies to address incidents and utilize processes that are in accordance with the principles of 
equity and inclusion. 
  



 

 2 

This Administrative Guideline is divided into seven sections: 
 

Section Title Page 

1.0 Promoting Positive Student Behaviour: School Climate 4 

1.2 Promoting Positive Student Behaviour: Individualized Strategies 6 

 

2.0 Progressive Discipline 7 

 

3.0 Responding to Incidents 10 

 

4.0 Reporting Incidents: Overview 12 

4.1 Safe Schools Incident Reporting Form 13 

4.2 Reporting Violent Incidents 15 

4.3 Notifying Parents/Guardians 15 

 

5.0 Suspensions 18 

5.1 Appeal of Suspensions 24 

 

6.0 Expulsions: Overview 27 

6.1 Expulsions: Decision Not to Recommend Expulsion 29 

6.2 Expulsions: Decision to Recommend Expulsion 30 

6.3 Expulsions: Programs for Expelled Students 34 

   

7.0 Delegation of Authority 39 

 
This Guideline contains a Glossary and Appendices, as outlined below: 
 

Appendix Title: 

1A Safe Schools Incident Reporting Form, Part 1 

1B Safe Schools Incident Reporting Form, Part 2 

2A Delegation of Authority Teacher in Charge 

2B Delegation of Authority Vice Principal in Charge 

3 Suspension Letter 

4 Notice of Suspension Review 

5 Suspension Review Decision 

6 Notice of Suspension Appeal 

7A Notice of Suspension Appeal Decision 

7B Suspension Appeal Decision of the Discipline Committee 

8 Suspension Pending Possible Recommendation for Expulsion 

9 Decision Letter Not to Recommend Expulsion 

10 Notice of Recommendation for Expulsion 

11A Expulsion Decision 

11B Recommendation for Expulsion Decision of the Discipline Committee 

12 Violent Incident Form 



 

 3 

Glossary Definition of Terms 

 
Legislation and documentation that were considered in the development of this Administrative 
Guideline include: 
 

• The Near North District School Board Code of Conduct; 

• The Education Act, Ontario Regulation 472/07 and 440/20; 

• PPM 119 Developing and Implementing Equity and Inclusive Education Policies in Ontario 
Schools; 

• PPM 120 Reporting Violent Incidents to the Ministry of Education; 

• PPM 128 Provincial Code of Conduct and School Board Codes of Conduct; 

• PPM 141 School Board Programs for Students on Long-Term Suspension 

•  PPM 142 School Board Programs for Expelled Students 

• PPM 144 Bullying Prevention and Intervention 

• PPM 145 Progressive Discipline and Promoting Positive Student Behaviour 

• PPM 149 Protocol for Partnerships with External Agencies for Provision of Services by Regulated 
Health Professionals, Regulated Social Service Professionals, and Paraprofessionals 

 
The Human Rights Code of Ontario has primacy over provincial legislation and policies, as well as school 
board policies and procedures, such as the Education Act, Regulations, and Ministry of Education PPMs, 
and Board policies and procedures are subject to, and shall be interpreted and applied in accordance 
with the Human Rights Code of Ontario. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 4 

Section 1.0 Promoting Positive Student Behaviour: School Climate 
 
In order to promote a positive school climate school boards must provide opportunities for all 
members of the school community to increase their knowledge and understanding of such issues as 
bullying; violence; inappropriate sexual behaviour; bias, stereotyping, discrimination, prejudice, and 
hate; critical media literacy; and safe Internet use. 
 
Safe Schools Framework: 
Near North District School Board (NNDSB) creates safe spaces to grow and learn through the 
implementation of our Safe Schools Framework. All schools participate in activities that focus on 
creating safer spaces through Citizenship and Community; Conflict Resolution; and Bullying Awareness. 
Each of these three domains contain subtopics that support and reinforce the main idea: creating safe, 
welcoming places where all students can achieve. Each of these domains is taught and applied through 
in-class activities and whole-school initiatives; they work together to create Safe and Accepting schools 
throughout our district and form part of our Equity and Well-being strategy.  
 
Prevention and early intervention are important for assisting students to achieve their potential and 
for maintaining a positive school environment. A positive school environment is effected through 
programs and activities that focus on building healthy relationships, character development, and civic 
responsibility, which encourage positive participation of the school community in the life of the school. 
Prevention strategies include supporting all students, student councils and/or school councils that wish 
to participate in student led alliances or other alliances and/or activities promoting healthy 
relationships.  
 
Prevention strategies also include providing appropriate special education programs for special needs 
students. Pursuant to PPM 145, Board policies on prevention and awareness raising must include 
provisions for special education programing. The NNDSB strives to create safe, caring and inclusive 
environments for all of its students.  
 
Strategies to Promote a Positive School Climate include: 

• Use of curriculum to develop an understanding of the issue; 

• Human Rights strategy pursuant to PPM 119; 

• Mentorship Programs; 

• Student success strategies; 

• Character Education; 

• Citizenship development; 

• Student leadership; 

• Promoting healthy student relationships; 

• Promoting healthy lifestyles; 

• Utilizing programs that promote social emotional learning and communication skills such as 
Zones of Regulation and Learning2BREATHE and; 

• Partnerships with Public Health to promote the delivery of mandated public health curriculum 
 
The HUB is a community mobilization unit that helps to support and connect individuals and families 
within our communities. In accordance with Policy Program Memorandum 149 (Protocol for Partnerships 
with External Agencies), the HUB maintains a list of partners the Board works with; agencies and/or 
organizations in our communities that have professional expertise with respect to issues of gender 



 

 5 

based violence, sexual assault, homophobia and inappropriate sexual behaviour. Consistent with PPM 
149, the Board will also ensure that parents of students are aware of the supports available for the 
linguistic, ethno-cultural and disability related needs of students and their immediate families. Students 
and parents are encouraged to contact the school principal, who will assist with connecting them to 
available resources. 
 
Bullying Prevention and Intervention: 
 
Pursuant to PPM 144, each school is also required to create and regularly review a Bullying Prevention 
and Intervention Plan  Each plan includes:  
(1) awareness raising strategies  
(2) support strategies, including plans to protect victims and to support students who engage in bullying;  
(3) reporting requirements (please refer to PPMs 144 and 145).   
 
In addition, teaching strategies should include a focus on developing healthy relationships by including 
bullying prevention throughout the curriculum, preventing homophobia, gender based violence, sexual 
harassment, inappropriate sexual behaviour, as well as promoting critical media literacy and safe 
internet use strategies, all of which is to be implemented in a manner consistent with the principles of 
equity and inclusion.  
 
 

 
 
 



 

 6 

Section 1.2 Promoting Positive Student Behaviour: Individualized Strategies 

 
To promote and support appropriate, positive student behaviours that contribute to 
creating and sustaining safe, comforting and accepting environments that encourage and support 
students to reach their full potential, the Board supports the use of individualized positive practices. 
 
Individualized positive practices include: 

• Collaborative and Proactive Solutions approach (CPS); 

• Differentiated instruction and accommodations based on student need; 

• Class placement (when possible); 

• Positive encouragement and reinforcement tailored to student’s interests; 

• Individual, peer and group counseling (with parental permission for students under age 12); 

• Conflict resolution/Dispute resolution; 

• Mentorship programs; 

• Promotion of healthy student relationships; 

• Behaviour Management Plan (BMP); 

• Alternative or modified programming based on student need; 

• School, Board and community support programs; and 

• Student success strategies. 
 



 

 7 

Section 2.0 Progressive Discipline 
 
The Board recognizes that, in some circumstances, positive practices might not be effective or sufficient 
to address inappropriate student behaviour.  In such circumstances, the Board supports the use of 
progressive discipline consequences up to and including expulsion from all schools of the Board. 
 
Progressive discipline is a non-punitive, whole-school approach that uses a continuum of preventative, 
corrective and supportive interventions, supports and consequences to address inappropriate behaviour 
and to build upon strategies that promote positive behaviours. Consequences include learning 
opportunities for reinforcing positive behaviour and assisting students to make good choices. 
 
Progressive discipline is most effective when dialogue between the school and home regarding student 
achievement, behaviour and expectations is open, courteous and focused on student success. It is an 
expectation of the Board that principals and teachers consult with parents prior to imposing any student 
specific preventative measures, positive behaviour management strategies or progressive discipline 
consequences. In circumstances where a student will receive a consequence for his/her behaviour, it is 
the expectation of the Board that the principles of progressive discipline, consistent with the Human 
Rights Code, Ministry of Education direction and PPM 145, will be applied in the least restrictive manner 
to be effective, and so as not to add to the historical disadvantage of racialized students and/or students 
with disabilities. 
 
Each school is required to develop and implement a school-wide progressive discipline policy, consistent 
with the Board Student Discipline Policy and Student Discipline Procedures and the Human Rights Code. 
 
The teacher or principal should select the most appropriate response to address the student’s 
behaviour. Where a student has special education and/or disability related needs, the interventions, 
supports and consequences must be consistent with the expectations for the student, including those in 
the student’s Individual Education Plan, Behaviour Management Plan, and/or Worker Safety Plan. 
 
Disclosure of Students Personal Information: 
 
Throughout the Progressive Discipline process, it is important to keep privacy issues in mind. Therefore, 
any NNDSB employees (including occasional employees) who work directly with students may need to 
know, for any particular student, those behaviour(s) that may present a potential risk of physical harm 
to school staff or students as documented in a Behaviour Management Plan (BMP), found in the 
student’s Ontario Student Record (OSR). Prior to disclosure, the principal must inform staff that they 
must treat any information disclosed about a student or incident as confidential. Principals are only 
permitted to share information documented in the OSR with board employees who do not have access 
to the OSR, if disclosure is necessary, so that employees can carry out their duties, including their duty to 
respond to inappropriate and disrespectful student behaviour. In such cases, principals may share only 
the necessary information pertaining to behaviour that may present risk of physical harm. 
 
NNDSB employees must abide by MFIPPA (Municipal Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy 
Act) with respect to information disclosed about a student or incident involving a student. Information 
disclosed about a student or incident to a NNDSB employee is confidential. 
  



 

 8 

 
Intervention Strategies may include: 

• Oral reminders; 

• Review of expectations; 

• Written work assignment addressing the behaviour, that have a learning component; 

• Reparation determined in consultation with the student; 

• Conflict mediation and resolution; 

• Consultation between two (2) or more of the parties; 

• Referral to a community agency for anger management or substance abuse, 
counseling/intervention; 

• Detentions; 

• Withdrawal of privileges; 

• Withdrawal from class; 

• Restorative practices; 
 
In all cases where ongoing intervention strategies are used, the student’s parents/guardians should be 
consulted (unless the student is 18 years of age or older or 16 or 17 years of age and has withdrawn 
from parental control) at each step of the progressive discipline process. The Board also requires 
principals to review and amend, as appropriate, Individual Education Plans, Behaviour Management 
Plans and Safety Plans at regular intervals and following an incident to ensure that every student with 
disability related needs is receiving appropriate accommodation up to the point of undue hardship. 
 
In all cases where a progressive discipline consequence is being considered to address an inappropriate 
behaviour, the principal must: 
 

• Consider the student and circumstances, including considering the mitigating or other factors, 
(please see the section below on Mitigating and Other Factors to be Considered); 

• Consider the nature and severity of the behaviour; 

• Consider the impact of the inappropriate behaviour on the school climate; 

• Consult with the student’s parent(s)/guardian (unless the student is an adult student); 

• Consider whether the progressive discipline consequence might have a disproportionate impact 
on a student protected by the Human Rights Code, including but not limited to race and 
disability, and/or exacerbate the student’s disadvantaged position in society, and whether 
accommodation to the point of undue hardship is required. 
 

Mitigating Factors: 
 
The mitigating factors to be considered by the principal before deciding whether to use a progressive 
discipline approach to address the inappropriate behaviour are: 
1. Whether the student has the ability to control his or her behaviour; 
2. Whether the student has the ability to understand the foreseeable consequences of his or her 
behaviour; and 
3. Whether the student’s continuing presence in the school does create an unacceptable risk to the 
safety of any other individual at the school. 
  



 

 9 

Other Factors to be Considered: 
 
1. The student’s academic, discipline and personal history; 
2. Whether other progressive discipline has been attempted with the student, and if so, the progressive 
discipline approach(es) that has/have been attempted and any success or failure; 
3. Whether the infraction for which the student might be disciplined was related to any harassment of 
the student because of race, colour, ethnic origin, place of origin, religion, creed, disability, gender or 
gender identity, sexual orientation or harassment; 
4. The impact of the discipline on the student’s prospects for further education; 
5. The student’s age; 
6. Where the student has an IEP or disability related needs, 

I. Whether the behaviour causing the incident was a manifestation of the student’s disability; 
II. Whether appropriate individualized accommodation has been provided to the point of undue 

hardship; and 
III. Whether a suspension is likely to result in aggravating or worsening the student’s behaviour or 

conduct or whether a suspension is likely to result in a greater likelihood of further inappropriate 
conduct; and 

7. Whether or not the student’s continuing presence at the school creates an unacceptable risk to the 
safety of anyone in the school. 
 
If the student’s continuing presence in the school creates an unacceptable risk to the safety of others in 
the school, then a progressive discipline approach may not be appropriate. Exclusion from the school 
pursuant to section 265(1)(m) of the Education Act is not acceptable for discipline purposes or as an 
alternative to discipline, and may only be implemented following consultation with the superintendent 
and in accordance with the Education Act and consistent with the Human Rights Code. (See Safe Schools: 
Exclusion of Students Administrative Guideline) 
 
Record Keeping: 
 
The teacher and principal shall keep a record for each student with whom early and ongoing intervention 
strategies, progressive discipline strategies and suspensions and expulsions have been utilized. The 
record should include: 

 
1. Name of the student 

2. Date and time of the incident or behaviour 

3. Nature of the incident or behaviour 

4. Progressive discipline approach used 

5. Outcome, and/or 

6. Contact with the student’s parent/guardian (unless the student is 18 years of age or older or 16 or 
17 years of age and has withdrawn from parental control). 

 
 
 

https://www.nearnorthschools.ca/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Exclusion-of-Students.pdf
https://www.nearnorthschools.ca/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Exclusion-of-Students.pdf


 

 10 

Section 3.0 Responding to Incidents 
 
The Board is committed to supporting safe learning and teaching environments in which every student 
can reach his or her full potential.  Appropriate action must consistently be taken by schools to address 
behaviours that are likely to have a negative impact on a school climate including serious incidents and 
all inappropriate and disrespectful behaviours.  
 
All staff who work directly with students must respond to any behavior that is likely to have a negative 
impact on school climate if, in the employee’s opinion, it is safe to do so. All staff include: 

• Principals and Vice-Principals; 

• Administrative and custodial staff; 

• Teachers, educational assistants and early childhood educators; 

• Non-teaching staff including social workers, child and youth workers and psychologists*; 

• Staff in before and after child care programs; 

• School bus drivers 
*social workers and psychologists who have a clinical relationship with a student must report incidents 
listed above to the principal as soon as reasonably possible to do so without having a negative impact on 
their clinical relationship with the student. They must also report incidents that could result in physical, 
emotional or psychological harm to the student or others. 
 
Behaviour that negatively impacts the school climate includes all inappropriate and disrespectful 
behaviour (e.g., swearing, homophobic or racial slurs, sexist comments or jokes, graffiti), as well as those 
incidents that must be considered for suspension or expulsion. The requirement to take action applies to 
behaviours that occur anytime at school or at any school related activity. For incidents where suspension 
or expulsion would not be considered, but the board employees feel it is not safe to respond, they will 
be expected to inform the principal verbally as soon as possible. Immediate risk to an individual includes 
the Board employee, the students involved, other students, other staff and members of the community 
who might be impacted as a result of the behaviour being exhibited or because the Board employee who 
works with students cannot leave unattended another student(s) in order to respond. 
 
Responses shall be made in a timely, supportive and sensitive manner and made in an effort to 
stop and correct the behaviour in a manner that is developmentally appropriate and takes into 
consideration any special and/or disability related needs that the student might exhibit or about 
which the employee might be aware. Responses may include one or more of: 

1. asking the student to stop the behaviour; 
2. identifying the behaviour as inappropriate and disrespectful; 
3. explaining the impact of the behaviour on others and the school climate; 
4. modeling appropriate communication; 
5. asking the student for a correction of their behaviour by restating or rephrasing their comments; 
6. asking the student to apologize for their behaviour; 
7. asking the student to promise not to repeat their behaviour; 
8. asking the student to explain why and how a different choice with respect to their behaviour 

would have been more appropriate and respectful; 
9. use of the Collaborative and Proactive Solutions approach (CPS); and 
10. where applicable, identifying the application of the Human Rights Code. 

  



 

 11 

A response by the staff to the incident shall not prevent or preclude the principal from imposing 
appropriate progressive discipline, up to and including a recommendation for expulsion from all 
schools. Unless the behaviour is such that it must be considered for suspension or expulsion, a 
response is sufficient – it is not required that these incidents be reported to the principal. For 
incidents where suspension or expulsion would not be considered, but the board employees feel it is 
not safe to respond, they will be expected to inform the principal verbally as soon as possible. 
 
Where, in the opinion of the Board employee who works with students, the behaviour observed or 
heard might lead to suspension or suspension and a recommendation for expulsion, the employee 
must report the behaviour orally to the principal at the earliest opportunity and again in writing 
before the end of the school day. The employee shall follow the procedures outlined in Section 4.1 
Safe Schools Incident Reporting (SSIR) Form for reporting incidents when reporting in writing. 
  



 

 12 

Section 4 Reporting Incidents: Overview 
 

All staff (as listed above) are required to report any activity from 306(1) and 310(1) to the 

Principal as soon as possible. The principal will investigate and make recommendations 

regarding supports, interventions, or consequences in accordance with progressive discipline 

practices. It’s important for staff to know that, should a principal learn that a member has not 

reported an incident, the matter is recommended to be dealt with as a human resource issue. Staff 

holding teaching certificates are also governed by the Ontario College of Teachers Act and, 

under regulation 437/97, failing to report an incident could be considered professional 

misconduct.  

The manner in which Principals request written documentation from staff varies from school to 

school, however one practice that must remain consistent across the Board is that any staff who 

witnesses any activity listed in 306(1) or 310(1) must complete a “Safe Schools Incident 

Reporting Form - Part 1” (SSIR) so that it can be further investigated by the Principal, as 

outlined in PPM 145.  

 

Activities for which suspension must be considered under subsection 306(1) of the 

Education Act for Junior, Intermediate and Senior Students: 

1.  Uttering a threat to inflict serious bodily harm on another person: 

2. Possessing alcohol, illegal drugs or, unless the student is a medical cannabis user, * 

cannabis; 

3. Being under the influence of alcohol or, unless the student is a medical cannabis user, 

cannabis; 

4. Swearing at a teacher or at another person in a position of authority; 

5. Committing an act of vandalism that causes extensive damage to school property at the      

student’s school or to property located on the premises of the student’s school; 

6. Bullying; 

7. Any other activity for which a student may be suspended under board policy.  

 

For more information regarding Suspendable infraction #7, please consult Safe Schools: Code of 

Conduct for all Persons in Schools Administrative Guideline and NNDSB Governance Manual, 

Section GP-211 Safe Schools.  

 

*As defined in the Education act, a medical cannabis user is a person who is authorized to 

possess cannabis for the person’s own medical purposes in accordance with the applicable 

federal law 

 
Activities for which suspension (and in the case of Junior, Intermediate, and Senior 
students, expulsion) must be considered under subsection 310 (1) of the Education Act: 

1. Possessing a weapon, including possessing a firearm; 

2. Using a weapon to cause or to threaten bodily harm to another person; 

3. Committing physical assault on another person that causes bodily harm requiring treatment 

by a medical practitioner; 

4. Committing sexual assault; 

https://www.nearnorthschools.ca/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/Code-of-Conduct.pdf
https://www.nearnorthschools.ca/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/Code-of-Conduct.pdf
https://www.nearnorthschools.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/2021-09-21-Approved-Governance-Manual.pdf
https://www.nearnorthschools.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/2021-09-21-Approved-Governance-Manual.pdf


 

 13 

5. Trafficking in weapons or illegal drugs; 

6. Committing robbery; 

7. Bullying (if the student has been previously suspended for engaging in bullying and the 

student’s continuing presence in the school creates an unacceptable risk to the safety of 

another person); 

8. Any activity listed in subsection 306(1) that is motivated by bias, prejudice, or hate  

9.  Giving alcohol or cannabis to a minor 

10. Any other activity for which a student may be expelled under a policy of the Board 

 

For more information regarding Suspendable infraction #7, please consult Safe Schools: Code of 

Conduct for all Persons in Schools Administrative Guideline and NNDSB Governance Manual, 

Section GP-211 Safe Schools.  

 

Section 4.1 Safe Schools Incident Reporting (SSIR) Form 
 

When a board employee or transportation provider or third-party operator providing before 

and/or after school programs or such persons who are not employees who come into contact 

with students on a regular basis becomes aware of an incident that must be considered for 

suspension or expulsion by the principal, board employees must, as soon as reasonably 

possible, report this to the principal and confirm their report in writing.  Whether or not the 

behaviour leads to a suspension/expulsion is for the principal to determine, not for the staff 

to weigh. 

 
Ministry policy states that the employee must consider the safety of others and the urgency of 

the situation in reporting the incident, but, in any case, must report it to the principal by the 

end of the school day. The report is to be confirmed in writing in a timely manner, using the 

Safe Schools Incident Reporting Form – Part I (Appendix 1A) 
 

Note that reporting does not replace conversations between the employee and the principal. 

The principal and the employee are encouraged to talk about the incident regardless of the 

action taken. The purpose of reporting incidents is to ensure that the principal is aware of 

the behaviour. 

 
In accordance with PPM No. 145: 

If the principal has decided that action must be taken as a result of a serious student 

incident, he or she will file a copy of the reporting form with documentation indicating the 

action taken in the OSR of the student whose behaviour was inappropriate. The names of 

all other students that appear on the Incident Reporting Form - both students who engaged 

in the activity and students who have been harmed - must be removed from the Incident 

Reporting Form before it is filed. 

 
Where the principal has taken action in the case of more than one student, a copy of the 

Incident Reporting Form with documentation indicating the action taken must be filed in the 

OSR of each student whose behaviour was inappropriate. The names of all other students 

that appear on the Incident Reporting Form - both students who have engaged in the activity 

and students who have been harmed - must be removed from the Incident Reporting Form 

https://www.nearnorthschools.ca/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/Code-of-Conduct.pdf
https://www.nearnorthschools.ca/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/Code-of-Conduct.pdf
https://www.nearnorthschools.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/2021-09-21-Approved-Governance-Manual.pdf
https://www.nearnorthschools.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/2021-09-21-Approved-Governance-Manual.pdf


 

 14 

before it is filed. 

 
In the case of the student who has been harmed, no information about the incident must be 

placed in his or her OSR, unless that student's parents expressly request that it be placed 

in the OSR. 

 
In situations where the student who has been harmed has also engaged in a serious 

student incident, information regarding the incident and the action taken will be placed in 

the student's OSR. The Incident Reporting Form and documentation must be kept in the 

OSR for a minimum of one year. 
 

 

If the principal has identified the incident as violent, and if the student engaged in the 

incident is a student of the school, the reporting form must be retained in that student's 

OSR for: 

• one year, if the student's suspension was quashed or withdrawn and the record of 

suspension expunged. Documentation of any other action taken (other than 

suspension or expulsion) must also be retained for this period; 

• three years, if the student was suspended for the violent incident; 

• five years, if the student was expelled for the violent incident. 

For non-violent incidents, if no further action is taken by the principal, the principal is 

not required to retain the report. 

 

Safe Schools Incident Reporting Form – Part II  
Once the Incident Reporting Form Part 1 is received, the principal will assign a report 

number to the form and acknowledge the receipt of the form in writing by returning to the 

employee or transportation provider or third-party operator, the Safe Schools Incident 

Reporting Form– Part II (Appendix 1B) 

 

On the Incident Reporting Form Part II, the principal will identify whether or not action 

was taken. No information regarding the identity of students will be included on this 

acknowledgement form. 

 
When the Incident Reporting Form Part II indicates that no action has been taken, the 

employee or transportation provider or third party operator providing before and/or after 

school programs or such persons who are not employees who come into contact with students 

on a regular basis shall destroy their copy of the Incident Reporting Form Part II.  The 

principal shall retain their copy of the Form – Part I for the balance of the school year, and 

the following school year, at which time it shall be destroyed unless the matter has become 

the subject of a proceeding, including an application to the Human Rights Tribunal of 

Ontario, in which case the Incident Reporting Form Part II shall be retained until the 

proceeding is finally decided. 

 
Where the Incident Reporting Form Part II indicates that action has been taken, the employee 

or transportation provider or third party operator providing before and/or after school programs 

or such persons who are not employees who come into contact with students on a regular basis 

may destroy the Incident Reporting Form Part II, but if they choose to retain it, it must be 



 

 15 

retained in a secure location for at least twelve months. 
 
 

Section 4.2: Reporting Violent Incidents 

 

All violent incidents that occur on school premises during school-run programs must be 

reported by the principal to the Ministry of Education, whether the violent incident was 

committed by a student of the school or whether it was committed by another person. 

(Appendix 12) 
 

The term violent incident is defined as the occurrence of any one of the following 
or the occurrence of a combination of any of the following: 

 
➢ possessing a weapon, including possessing a firearm 

➢ physical assault causing bodily harm requiring medical attention 

➢ sexual assault 

➢ robbery 

➢ using a weapon to cause or to threaten bodily harm to another person 

➢ extortion 

➢ hate and/or bias-motivated occurrences 
 

Police must be notified for students when a violent incident occurs. Refer to the 
Ontario North East Region Police and School Protocol. The parent/guardian(s) 
of the student should be contacted whenever possible before police speak with 
students in the course of an investigation. 

 

Ontario Student Record (OSR) Documentation 

Where the principal has identified a violent incident, and the incident involves an 

aggressor who is a student of the school, the reporting form must be retained in the 

aggressor's Ontario Student Record (OSR) as follows: 
 

• one year, if the student's suspension was quashed or withdrawn and the record of 

suspension expunged. Documentation of any other action taken (other than 

suspension or expulsion) must also be retained for this period; 

• three years, if the student was suspended for the violent incident; 

• five years, if the student was expelled for the violent incident. 
 

Section 4.3 Notifying Parents/Guardians 
 

Notifying the Parent(s)/Guardian Following a Serious Student Incident 
Following a serious student incident for which the principal shall be considering imposing a 
suspension or making a recommendation for expulsion, the principal shall provide 

information to the parent/guardian of the victim, unless in the opinion of the principal 
providing information to the victim’s parent/guardian would put the victim at risk of harm 
and would not be in the victim’s best interest, or the victim is an adult student. Where the 

victim is an adult student, the principal shall inform the parent/guardian only with the 



 

 16 

victim’s consent. 

 
The Education Act states that the principal shall disclose: 

(a) the nature of the activity that resulted in harm to the student; 

(b) the nature of the harm to the student; and 

(c) the steps taken to protect the student’s safety, including the nature of 

any disciplinary measures taken in response to the activity. 

The principal must say that the student was suspended, if that is the progressive discipline 

that has been applied. It is not necessary for the principal to say for how many days a 

student was suspended. The same would be true for other forms of progressive discipline, 

in that details are not necessary, but the type of discipline must be explained. 

 
The Education Act states that the principal shall not disclose the name of or any other 

identifying or personal information about a student who engaged in the activity that resulted 

in the harm. The principal may communicate to the victim’s parent/guardian any school wide 

initiatives that have been or will be implemented as a result of the incident and/or other 

similar incidents. Where the student(s) disciplined shall no longer be attending the same 

school as the victim, this fact may be confirmed. 

 
In addition, where the victim has been harassed, bullied or suffered violence because of one 

or more immutable characteristics, including on any grounds protected by the Human Rights 

Code, or has been sexually assaulted, the principal shall share contact information about 

professional supports such as community agencies, public health facilities and 

telecommunications forums, such as a help-phone-line or website, that the victim and the 

victim’s parent/guardian may access for information, assistance and support. The principal 

shall, as appropriate, recommend a referral for the student to receive social work support. 
 

A written list of community contacts will be made available to the victim and/or the 

victim’s parent/guardian (Contact the HUB). This list shall also be available on the 

Board’s website.  If the victim requires support for linguistic, ethno-cultural or disability 

related needs, information about community supports that are available shall also be shared 

with the victim and/or the victim’s parent/guardian in a form accessible to the 

parent/guardian. 

 
The information about supports for the student provided to the parent/guardian shall be 

summarized in written form, which shall also include a copy of the contact information for 

the superintendent. A copy of the written summary, including a copy of any Safety Plan, 

shall be provided to the parent/guardian and the superintendent. 

 
The principal shall also inform the parent/guardian that, if the parent/guardian is NOT 

satisfied with the measures being taken to protect and support the victim, the parent/guardian 

may contact the superintendent to request a review of the measures being taken by the school. 

 
 
Not Notifying a Parent/Guardian 
Where, in the opinion of principal, providing information to the victim’s parent/guardian would 
put the victim at risk of harm, such that notification would not be in the victim’s best interests, 



 

 17 

or where the victim is an adult student and does NOT consent to his/her parent/guardian being 
informed, the principal shall not inform the victim’s parent/guardian.  A teacher-in-charge shall 
report to the Administration at the earliest opportunity the reason(s) why notification was not 
provided to the parent/guardian. The principal shall: 

(1) consider, as a result of the victim’s disclosure, whether or not the victim is a child in need 

of protection and, if so, make a report to the Children’s Aid Society; 

(2) document in the Student Information System why the parent/guardian was not notified; 

(3) inform his/her superintendent that the parent/guardian was not informed and why; 

(4) inform the teacher or other professional or para-professional staff person, if that 

individual informed the principal of the potential for harm, that the parent/guardian was not 

informed and why; and 

(5) inform other staff working to support the student, as appropriate. 

 
The principal shall inform the victim of the steps being taken by the school to protect the 

victim’s safety.  These measures might include a Safety Plan and the implementation of 

prevention strategies identified in this procedure.  Where the victim has been harassed, 

bullied or suffered violence as a result of one or more immutable characteristics, including 

any grounds protected by the Human Rights Code, or has been sexually assaulted, the 

principal shall provide the victim with contact information about professional supports, such 

as  community agencies, public health facilities and telecommunications forums, such as a 

help phone-line or website, that the victim may access for information, assistance and 

support.  

Supports might include Kids Help Phone and the Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and 

Transgendered Youth Line. A written list of community contacts shall be provided to the 

victim and the victim shall be informed that the list is available on the Board’s website 

(Contact the HUB). Where the victim requires support for linguistic, ethno-cultural or 

disability related needs, information about community supports that are available shall also 

be shared with the victim in a form most accessible to the victim. 

 
Where the student who has been disciplined shall no longer be attending the same school as 

the victim, this fact may be confirmed. 

 
Notifying Parent/Guardian of a Student who has engaged in a Serious Student Incident 
In accordance with PPM No. 145 and Section 300.3 of the Education Act: Principals are 

required to notify the parents of students who have engaged in serious student incidents. 

Principals shall disclose the following information: 

• the nature of the activity that resulted in harm to the other student; 

• the nature of the harm to the other student; 

• the nature of any disciplinary measures taken in response to the activity; and 

• the supports that will be provided for the student in response to his or her engagement 

in the activity. 
 

When notifying parents of these incidents, the principal must invite parents to have a 

discussion with him or her about the supports that will be provided for their child. 
 
  



 

 18 

Section 5: Suspensions 

 

A suspension means that a student is removed from school temporarily for a minimum of one 

school day and a maximum of twenty school days.  A principal may not suspend a student 

under section 306(1) more than once for the same occurrence. Suspensions should be applied 

in the least restrictive manner possible to be effective and so as not to add to the historical 

disadvantage of racialized students and/or students with disabilities. Students who are 
suspended for more than five school days are considered to be on long-term suspension and as 

such an Alternative Suspension Program (ASP) must be offered to the student. (Please see 

below for the ASP). Students also cannot take part in school related activities or events while 

on suspension. 

 
The principal or vice-principal will also contact the police consistent with the 

Police/School Board Protocol if the infraction the student is suspected of committing 

requires such contact. When in doubt, the principal will consult with his or her 

superintendent. 

 

Suspension of Primary Students: 

 

As part of Ontario’s Action Plan to Address Systemic Racism in Schools, the Ministry has 

created Ontario Regulation 440/20, under Bill 197, which removes the discretion for Principals 

to suspend students in Junior Kindergarten to Grade 3 for any of the seven activities listed in 

section 306(1) of the Education Act.  

The conduct of students in K - 3 who engage in 306(1) activities must still be addressed with 

supports and interventions that reflect the student's IEP (if applicable), age, other mitigating 

factors and utilize a progressive discipline approach. The Ministry provides examples of positive 

behaviour supports and intervention that could be utilized to address inappropriate behaviour 

including: 

• Understanding the root cause of the behaviour 

• Providing counselling and mental health supports (with parental permission) 

• Problem solving with students to identify alternative behaviour choices 

• Communicating and teaching of behavioural expectations 

• Helping students deal with conflict and learn how to manage emotions 

• Using restorative practices to repair harm to people/relationships (with parental permission) 

• Resolving conflict through discussion and understanding the harm that has been caused to 

others because of the student’s behaviour 

• A facilitated family/group conference to discuss the impact the behaviour had on others in the 

school 

• In-kind restitution (determined by the principal) that permits the student to help to restore or 

improve the school environment either by directly addressing the student’s behaviour or by 



 

 19 

having the student improve the school environment more broadly 

• Equipping children with the social-emotional and communication skills needed to manage 

themselves, resolve conflict and develop healthy behaviour.  

 

These supports and interventions can be used in conjunction with those outlined in Section 1.2 

Promoting Positive Student Behaviour of this Guideline.  

 

Activities listed in subsection 310(1) will still be subject to mandatory suspensions for 

Kindergarten to Grade 3 students, pending the results of the Principal’s investigation. 

These activities include: 

1. Possessing a weapon, including a firearm 

2. Using a weapon to cause or to threaten bodily harm to another person 

3. Committing physical assault on another person that causes bodily harm requiring treatment 

by a medical practitioner 

4. Committing sexual assault 

5. Trafficking in weapons or illegal drugs 

6. Committing robbery 

7. Giving alcohol or cannabis to a minor 

8. Bullying if a), a student has previously been suspended for engaging in bullying* and b) if 

the pupil's continuing presence in the school creates an 'unacceptable risk' to the safety of 

another person   *removes need for previous suspension for K - 3 students.  

9. Any activity for which a student can be suspended (see above) that is motivated by bias, 

prejudice or hate 

10. Any other activity identified in school board policy 

 
Suspension of Junior, Intermediate and Senior Students: 
 

As per section 306(1) of the Education Act, a principal shall consider whether to suspend a 

student in Grades 4 – Grade 12 if he or she believes that the student has engaged in any of 

the following activities while at school, at a school-related activity or in other 

circumstances where engaging in the activity will have an impact on the school climate: 

 

Suspendable Infractions 

1. Uttering a threat to inflict serious bodily harm on another person. 

2. Possessing alcohol, illegal drugs or unless the student is a medical cannabis user, * 

cannabis. 

3. Being under the influence of alcohol or, unless the student is a medical cannabis user, 

cannabis. 

4. Swearing at a teacher or at another person in authority. 

5. Committing an act of vandalism that causes extensive damage to school property 



 

 20 

at the student’s school or to property located on the premises of the student’s 

school. 

6. Bullying. 

7. Any other activity for which a principal may suspend a student under a policy of the 

board   

 

For more information regarding Suspendable infraction #7, please consult Safe Schools: Code of 

Conduct for all Persons in Schools Administrative Guideline and NNDSB Governance Manual, 

Section GP-211 Safe Schools.  

 

*As defined in the Education Act, a medical cannabis user is a person who is authorized to 

possess cannabis for the person’s own medical purposes in accordance with applicable federal 

law. 

 

Mitigating and Other Factors to Consider Before Imposing a Suspension: 

Mitigating Factors 
The mitigating factors to be considered by the principal before deciding 

whether to impose a suspension are: 

1. Whether the pupil does not have the ability to control his or her behaviour; 

2. Whether the pupil does not have the ability to understand the foreseeable 

consequences of his or her behaviour; 

3. Whether the pupil’s continuing presence in the school does not create an 

unacceptable risk to the safety of any person. 

 

These are the factors required to be considered when deciding whether to impose a 

suspension or expulsion – Ontario Regulation 472/07  

Note: These mitigating factors and other factors are stated differently than the mitigating 

factors and other factors cited on page 9 under: Factors to Consider Before Deciding to 

Address Inappropriate Behaviours in Part 2- Progressive Discipline. 

 

Other Factors 
Where the student is able to control his/her behaviour and is able to understand the foreseeable 

consequences of his/her behaviour, the principal shall consider whether the following factors 

mitigate the length of a suspension or the decision to apply a suspension as a form of 

discipline for the student: 

1. The student’s history; 

2. Whether a progressive discipline approach has been used with the student; 

3. Whether the activity for which the student may be or is being suspended was related to 

any harassment of the student because of his or her race, ethnic origin, religion, disability, 

gender or gender identity, sexual orientation or other immutable characteristic or harassment 

for any other reason; 

4. How the suspension would affect the student’s ongoing education; 

5. The age of the student; 

6. In the case of a student for whom an individual education plan has been developed, 

i. Whether the behaviour was a manifestation of a disability identified in the 

student’s individual education plan; 

https://www.nearnorthschools.ca/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/Code-of-Conduct.pdf
https://www.nearnorthschools.ca/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/Code-of-Conduct.pdf
https://www.nearnorthschools.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/2021-09-21-Approved-Governance-Manual.pdf
https://www.nearnorthschools.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/2021-09-21-Approved-Governance-Manual.pdf


 

 21 

ii. Whether appropriate individualized accommodation has been provided; and 

iii. Whether the suspension is likely to result in an aggravation or worsening the 

student’s behaviour or conduct 

 

Procedural Steps When Imposing a Suspension 
Where a principal has determined that it is appropriate in the circumstances to 

impose a suspension, the principal is required to affect the following procedural steps: 

 
1. Within 24 hours of the decision, the principal must make all reasonable efforts to 

orally    inform the adult student or the student’s parent/guardian of the suspension 

(unless the student is at least 18 years old or 16 or 17 years old and has withdrawn 

from parental control in which case the principal shall inform the student); 

2. The principal must inform the student’s teacher(s) of the suspension; 

3. The principal in conjunction with the student’s teacher(s) must organize school work 

to be provided for the student to be completed during the duration of the student’s 

suspension; 

4. The principal must promptly provide written notice of the suspension to the student, 

the student’s parent/guardian (unless the student is at least 18 years old or 16 or 17 

years old and has withdrawn from parental control in which case the principal shall 

provide the notice of suspension to the student), superintendent, and Superintendent 

Responsible for Student Discipline; 

5. The written notice of suspension will include: 

i. The reason for suspension; 

ii. The duration of the suspension, including the student’s date of return to school; 

iii. Information about the ASP to which the student is assigned, where the 

student is suspended for six (6) or more school days; 

iv. Information about the right to appeal the suspension, including the provision 

of a copy of the relevant policies and guidelines governing the appeal; and 

v. The contact information for the Superintendent Responsible for Safe Schools to 

whom the notice of appeal must be given. 

(Suspension Letter - Appendix 3) 
6. If it is not possible to provide the letter to the student or to the student’s parent/guardian, 

the letter shall be mailed, couriered, faxed or emailed to the home address within 24 
hours. 

• If notice is sent by mail or courier, it will be deemed to have been received on 

the fifth school day after it was sent. 

• If notice is sent by fax or e-mail, it is deemed to have been received the 

first school day after it was sent. 

7. A student who is suspended for five or fewer days shall be provided with school work. 

The school work shall be available to the student (if the student is at least 18 years old or 

16 or 17 years old and has withdrawn from parental control), or the students designate or 

the student’s parent/guardian on the day the student is suspended if the student is 

suspended for one school day.  Where the student has been suspended for two or more 

school days the principal shall ensure that school work is made available to the student on 

the following school day. 

8. Where the incident that prompted the suspension is a violent incident as defined in PPM 



 

 22 

120 the principal shall complete a Violent Incident Report (Appendix 12). Please see Section 

4.2 Reporting Violent Incidents. 

 

Alternative Suspension Program 
Students who are suspended for more than five school days are considered to be on a long-term 

suspension. The principal shall consult with the appropriate Superintendent of Schools if 

imposing a suspension greater than 5 days. 

 
Students who are suspended for 6 or more school days shall be offered an Alternative 

Suspension Program (ASP). A student cannot be compelled to participate in an ASP. If 

the student chooses to participate in an ASP then a Student Action Plan (SAP) shall be 

developed. The student and/or his/her parent(s)/guardian must notify the principal verbally or 

in writing that the student is committed to attending the ASP. 

 
SAP’s differ depending on the length of the suspension. For suspensions of six to ten school 

days a SAP must contain an academic component. For suspensions of eleven to twenty school 

days a SAP must contain an academic and a non-academic component. 

 
The purpose of the academic component is to ensure that all students on a long-term 

suspension have the opportunity to continue their education. 

1) The student must be provided with the opportunity to continue or complete programs 

of study, including assignments, homework, and any other work evaluated in their 

regular classes. 

2) Every effort must be made to maintain the student’s regular academic course 

work throughout the suspension period. 

3) The academic component must follow the curriculum outlined in the Ontario 

curriculum policy documents, unless the student has an IEP that provides for the 

modifications to the Ontario curriculum or an alternative program in which case the 

Board shall continue the supports consistent with the student’s IEP. 

4) The academic component may include, but is not limited to, the provision of distance 

learning, e-learning, remedial help in literacy and numeracy, individual instruction, 

and/or opportunities within the board. 

 
The non-academic component of the ASP is to assist students on a long-term suspension 

of more than ten school days in the development of positive attitudes and behaviours by 

identifying and addressing the underlying causes of the student’s behaviour to help reduce 

the risk that the student might be given a suspension or expulsion in the future. Students 

shall be provided with the required services and types of support that may include access to 

culturally appropriate support and/or referral to community-based service resources. The 

student’s IEP shall also be consulted if the student has special education needs. 

 
The principal will organize a planning meeting with the student and/or the student’s 

parent/guardian(s), as well as any appropriate teaching and support staff, including where 

appropriate community agency staff and relevant persons or professionals. Students are 

encouraged to participate in these programs. The planning meeting will be scheduled to 

occur within 2 school days of the student or the student’s parent/guardian(s) informing the 



 

 23 

school that the student will participate in the ASP. If the student’s parent(s)/guardian 

cannot be present, the planning meeting should proceed and the principal must attempt to 

follow up with the parent(s)/guardian as soon after the meeting as is possible. The purpose 

of the planning meeting is to: 

➢ Identify the needs of the student; 

➢ Identify the student’s risk factors and protective factors; 

➢ Clearly identify any types of support that the student may need to continue his 

or her learning; and 

➢ Establish the objectives of the SAP. 

 
Students who participate in the Alternative Suspension Program (ASP) will also have a Student 

Action Plan (SAP) developed. The plan identifies the academic component and any additional 

supports to promote positive behavior the student will receive. Each student’s plan will be 

developed to meet his other needs. A copy of the SAP will be placed in the student’s OSR. 

 
The Student Action Plan (SAP) will include: 

1. A description of the incident for which the student was suspended; 

2. The progressive discipline steps taken prior to the suspension; 

3. Any other discipline measures imposed in addition to the suspension; 

4. Any other disciplinary issues regarding the student that have been identified by the 

school; 

5. Any learning needs or other needs that might have contributed to the 

underlying infraction resulting in discipline; 

6. The academic program to be provided to the student during the suspension 

period and details regarding how that academic program will be accessed by 

the student; 

7. Any programs or service(s) that might be provided to address those learning or 

other needs. Where the student has an IEP and/or disability related needs, 

information regarding how the accommodations/modifications of the student’s 

academic program will be provided during the period of suspension; 

8. In the case of a suspension of eleven to twenty days, the non-academic program and 

services provided to the student during the suspension and details regarding how the 

non- academic program and those services will be accessed; and 

9. The measurable goals that the student will be striving to achieve during the period of 

the suspension. 

 
The Re-Entry Meeting 
The principal shall hold a meeting with school and board staff, the student, and, where 

possible, the student’s parent(s)/guardian if the student is a minor who has not 

withdrawn from parental control (being so entitled) before the student returns to 

school and including, where appropriate, community agency staff and relevant 

persons or professionals.  The purpose of the meeting is to facilitate the student’s 

transition back to school by, for example, identifying and providing for any 

additional academic and/or non-academic support that the student may require 

upon returning to school. 

  



 

 24 

Section 5.1 Appeal of Suspension 

 
The following person may appeal, to the Board, a principal’s decision to suspend a student: 

1. The student’s parent or guardian, unless; 

i. the student is at least 18 years old, or 

ii. the student is 16 or 17 years old and has withdrawn from parental control. 

2. The student, if; 

i. the student is at least 18 years old, or 

ii. the student is 16 or 17 years old and has withdrawn from parental control. 

 
This process shall also be used for an appeal of the exclusion of a student from a school by a 

principal pursuant to Subsection 265 (1) (m) of the Education Act. See Administrative 

Guideline: Safe Schools: Exclusion of Students 
 

 

Suspension Appeal Process 
Step 1: Notice of Appeal 

A person who is entitled to appeal a suspension must give written notice of his or her intention 

to appeal to the Superintendent of Safe Schools within 10 school days of the commencement 

of the suspension. The notice must identify: 

1. The reason for appealing the suspension; 

2. The remedy sought; and 

3. The names and relationships of all persons to be present at the  

 appeal.  

 

The Superintendent of Safe Schools will confirm receipt of this notice. 

 
The Superintendent of Safe Schools may extend the deadline for giving written notice of his 

or her intention to appeal if the person requests an extension to accommodate his or her 

disability. 

 
A person who has given notice of intention to appeal may contact the Superintendent of Safe 

Schools to discuss any matter respecting the appeal of the suspension. 

 
Step 2: Meeting with the Principal 

The person who is entitled to appeal may meet with the principal of the school to discuss the 

suspension. If an agreement is not reached through meeting with the principal, then the next 

step in the appeal process shall be followed. 

 
Step 3: Superintendent Review 

The Superintendent of Program and Schools responsible for the school will review the 

suspension. If an agreement is not reached through the Superintendent’s Review, the 

person who is entitled to appeal, and the Superintendent of Program and Schools 

responsible for the school will notify the Superintendent of Safe Schools. The appeal 

will then be heard by the Discipline Committee of the Board.  (Appendix 4 -Notice of 

Suspension Review, Appendix 5 - Suspension Review Decision) 
 



 

 25 

Step 4: Appeal to the Board 

The Superintendent of Safe Schools will arrange for the Discipline Committee of the Board 

to hear the appeal and contact the person who is entitled to appeal. An information package 

shall be provided as outlined in the Notice of Suspension Appeal. (Appendix 6) The 

Discipline Committee of the Board shall hear and determine the appeal within 15 school 

days of receiving the notice of appeal, unless the parties agree on a later deadline.  The 

Discipline Committee will be made up of a minimum of three trustees who will hear 

appeals, in camera, as required by the Education Act s. 309 (12). Parties to the appeal are: 

➢ Principal of the school who suspended the student; 

➢ Superintendent of Program and Schools responsible for the school in 

which the student is registered; 

➢ Student, if 18 years old (or if 16 or 17 years old and has withdrawn from parental 

control); 

➢ Student’s parent(s)/guardian, if the parent(s)/guardian appealed the suspension. 

 
1. The appellant and/ or the person with daily care will proceed first by making oral 

submissions and/or providing written submissions regarding the reason for the appeal 

and the desired outcome; 

2. The Superintendent of Program and Schools and/or the principal will make oral 

submissions on behalf of the administration, including a response to any issues 

raised in the appellant’s submissions.  The superintendent/principal may rely on the 

report prepared for the Discipline Committee; 

3. The appellant may make further submissions addressing any issues raised in 

the administration’s presentation that were not previously addressed by the 

appellant; 

4. The Discipline Committee may ask any party, or the students, where 

appropriate, questions of clarification; 

5. Adult student’s or a student’s parent/guardian(s) may be represented by legal 

counsel or attend with an advocate/agent or the support of a community member; 

6. Legal counsel for the Board may be present at the appeal if the appellant is 

represented by legal counsel or an agent; 

7. A student who is not a party to the appeal has the right to be present at the appeal 

and to make a statement on his or her own behalf. 

 
The Discipline Committee shall take into account: 

➢ Submissions and views of all parties; 

➢ Mitigating and other factors. 

 

The Discipline Committee may, in its decision: 

➢ Uphold the decision of the principal regarding the suspension; 

➢ Confirm the suspension but decrease the number of days stipulated in the suspension; or 

➢ Overturn the decision of the principal regarding the suspension and order it 

expunged from the student’s record. 

 
The decision of the Discipline Committee is final and will be communicated to all parties in 

writing by the Superintendent of Safe Schools. (Appendix 7- Notice of Suspension Appeal 



 

 26 

Decision) 

 
Transfer to Another School 

 

Following an incident at the school, it might be necessary to transfer to another school the student 

who has been disciplined or the victim for safety reasons and/or for compliance with an Order of 

the Court or police restrictions. In all cases where possible, the student who has been disciplined 

should be transferred rather than the victim. 

 
The decision to transfer a student to another school shall only be made by a superintendent in 

consultation with the sending and receiving school principals and shall be made only where 

it is consistent with the Human Rights Code. 

 

When it has been determined that a student will be transferred to another school, the principal 

shall ensure that a Transition Plan is developed identifying any additional supports and 

resources required in the principal's opinion to ensure a successful transition, which might 

include, where appropriate, referrals for social work support, Child/Youth Worker support 

and/or support from community agencies as well as the development of a transitional 

Individual Education Plan. Where the student has been subject to suspension, the Transition 

Plan shall be consistent with and coordinated with the Student Action Plan (SAP) developed 

for suspension purposes. 

 
The principal of the sending school shall invite the student if he or she is at least 18 years old 

(or if he or she is 16 or 17 years old and has withdrawn from parental control) or 

parent/guardian and the student, where appropriate, to a “transfer meeting” with 

representatives from both schools (including teachers and other school staff) at the receiving 

who will have regular direct contact with the student being transferred for the purpose of 

reviewing the Transition Plan. 

 
In accordance with PPM No. 145: 

The transfer meeting must occur prior to the day or on the day the student is transferred. 

When the meeting occurs on the day the student is transferred, it must occur before the 

student attends class. The receiving school must also be in possession of the student's OSR 

prior to the occurrence of the transfer meeting, and the OSR must be available to be consulted 

at the meeting. 

 
Prior to the start of the transfer meeting, the principal must inform all staff in attendance that 

they must treat any information about the student and the incident disclosed at the meeting as 

confidential. 
  



 

 27 

Section 6: Expulsions 
 

Expulsion of Primary Students: 

 

If a Primary student engages in one of the activities listed in s. 310(1) of the Education Act, the 

principal must conduct an investigation to determine if the student should be suspended. For 

more information regarding suspensions, refer to Section 4 of this Guideline. 

 

 

Expulsion of Junior, Intermediate and Senior Students: 

 

As per the Education Act, s. 310(1), a principal shall suspend a student immediately if he or she 

believes that the student has engaged in any of the following activities while at school, at a 

school-related activity or in other circumstances where engaging in the activity will have an 

impact on the school climate. The principal must then investigate the matter in order to 

determine whether to recommend to the school board that the student be expelled.  

 

Activities for which expulsion must be considered under subsection 310(1) of the Education 
Act: 

1. Possessing a weapon, including possessing a firearm; 

2. Using a weapon to cause or to threaten bodily harm to another person; 

3. Committing physical assault on another person that causes bodily harm requiring 

treatment by a medical practitioner; 

4. Committing sexual assault; 

5. Trafficking in weapons or in illegal drugs; 

6. Committing robber 

7. Bullying (if the student has previously been suspended for engaging in bullying and the 

student’s continuing presence in the school creates an unacceptable risk to the safety of 

another person); 

8. Any activity listed in subsection 306 (1) that is motivated by bias, prejudice, or hate; 

9. Giving alcohol or cannabis to a minor; 

10. Any other activity for which a student may be expelled under board policy. 

 

For more information regarding Suspendable infraction #10, please consult Safe Schools: Code of 
Conduct for all Persons in Schools Administrative Guideline and NNDSB Governance Manual, 
Section GP-211 Safe Schools 

 

A principal may suspend a student under this section for up to 20 school days and, in 

considering how long the suspension should be, the principal shall take into account any 

mitigating or other factors prescribed by the regulations.  Please see previous sections for 

mitigating and other factors on page 20. 

 
Suspension Pending Expulsion (Appendix 8) 
Where a student is suspended for an activity referred to in Section 310(1) of the Education 

Act, the principal shall conduct an investigation to determine whether to recommend to the 

Discipline Committee of the Board that the student be expelled.   

https://www.nearnorthschools.ca/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/Code-of-Conduct.pdf
https://www.nearnorthschools.ca/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/Code-of-Conduct.pdf
https://www.nearnorthschools.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/2021-09-21-Approved-Governance-Manual.pdf
https://www.nearnorthschools.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/2021-09-21-Approved-Governance-Manual.pdf


 

 28 

 
Procedural Steps When Imposing a Suspension Pending Expulsion 
When imposing a suspension pending expulsion the principal is required to affect the following 

procedural steps: 

1. Within 24 hours of the decision, the principal must make all reasonable efforts to 

orally inform the student’s parent/guardian of the suspension (unless the student is at 

least 18 years old or 16 or 17 years old and has withdrawn from parental control); 

2. The principal must inform the student’s teacher(s) of the suspension; 

3. The principal in conjunction with the student’s teacher(s) must organize school work 

to be provided for the student to be completed during the duration of the student’s 

suspension; 

4. The principal must promptly provide written notice of the suspension to the student, 

the student’s parent/guardian (unless the student is at least 18 years old or 16 or 17 years 

old and has withdrawn from parental control), the Superintendent of Program and 

Schools, and the Superintendent of Safe Schools; 

5. The written notice of suspension will include: 

i. The reason for suspension; 

ii. The duration of the suspension; 

iii. Information about the ASP to which the student may be assigned if the 

suspension is for six (6) or more days; 

iv. Information about the investigation that the principal will conduct under section 

311.1 of the Education Act to determine whether to recommend that the student 

be expelled; 

v. A statement indicating that, 

a. there is no immediate right to appeal the suspension, 

b. if the principal does not recommend to the board that the student be 

expelled following the investigation under s.311.1 of the Education Act, the 

suspension will become subject to appeal under s.311.2 of the Education 

Act, and 

c. if there is an expulsion hearing because the principal recommends to the 

board that the student be expelled, the suspension may be addressed by 

parties at the hearing. 

6. If it is not possible to provide the letter to the student or to the student’s 

parent/guardian, the letter shall be mailed, couriered, faxed or emailed to the home address 

within 24 hours. 

• If notice is sent by mail or courier, it will be deemed to have been received 

on the fifth school day after it was sent. 

• If notice is sent by fax or e-mail, it is deemed to have been received the 

first school day after it was sent. 
7. Where the incident that prompted the suspension is a violent incident as defined in PPM 120 

the principal shall complete a Violent Incident Report (Appendix 12). Please see Section 
4.2 Reporting Violent Incidents. 

 
If the student commits to attend the ASP, then the ASP procedures set out in the section of this 

Guideline dealing with suspensions shall be followed. 

  



 

 29 

 

Principal’s Investigation 
The principal shall conduct an investigation promptly following the suspension of the student 
to determine whether to recommend to the Discipline Committee that the student be expelled. 

As part of the investigation, the principal will consult with the Superintendent of Safe Schools 
regarding any issues of process and/or timing for conducting the investigation, which must be 
completed at the earliest opportunity as well as the substantive decision whether or not to 
recommend that the student be expelled.  Before referring a student to the Discipline 
Committee of the Board for expulsion, the administration shall consider whether or not the 
recommendation might have a disproportionate impact on a student protected by the Human 
Rights Code, including but not limited to race and disability, and/or exacerbate the student’s 
disadvantaged position in society, and whether or not accommodation is required. Should the 
decision be made to refer the student to the Discipline Committee with a recommendation for 
expulsion, the student must be referred to and dealt with by the Discipline Committee within 
twenty (20) school days from the date of suspension (unless timelines are extended on consent). 

 

 

Any police investigation will be conducted separately from the principal's investigation. 

As part of the principal’s investigation, the principal shall: 

• Make all reasonable efforts to speak with the student and the student’s parent/guardian 

(unless the student is at least 18 years old or 16 or 17 years old and has withdrawn from 

parental control); 

• Include interviews with witnesses who the principal determines can contribute 

relevant information to the investigation; 

• Make every reasonable effort to interview any witnesses suggested by the student, or 

the student’s parent/guardian; and 

• Consider the mitigating and other factors when determining whether to recommend to 

the Discipline Committee that the student be expelled. 

 
Section 6.1 Decision Not to Recommend Expulsion 
 
Following the investigation and consideration of the mitigating and other factors, 

if the principal decides not to recommend to the Discipline Committee that the student be 

expelled, the principal must: 

1. Consider whether progressive discipline is appropriate in the circumstances; 

2. Uphold the suspension and its duration; 

3. Uphold the suspension and shorten its duration and amend the record accordingly; or 

4. Withdraw the suspension and expunge the record. 

 
If the principal has decided not to recommend an expulsion of the student, the principal 

will provide written notice of this decision to the student and the student’s 

parent/guardian (unless the student is at least 18 years old or 16 or 17 years old and has 

withdrawn from parental control). The notice shall include: 

1. A statement of the principal’s decision not to recommend expulsion to the 

Discipline Committee; 

2. A statement indicating whether the suspension has been upheld, upheld and 

shortened in duration, or withdrawn; 



 

 30 

3. If the suspension has been upheld or upheld and shortened, information about the 

    right to appeal the suspension to the Discipline Committee, including: 
4. A copy of the Board policies and guidelines regarding suspension appeals; 

5. Contact information for the Superintendent Responsible for Safe Schools to whom the 

notice of appeal must be given; 

6. A statement that written notice of an intention to appeal must be given within five (5) 

school days following receipt by the party of notice of the decision not to recommend 

expulsion. The Superintendent Responsible for Safe Schools may extend the deadline for 

giving written notice of his or her intention to appeal if the person requests an extension 

to accommodate his or her disability; 

7. If the length of the suspension has been shortened, notice that the appeal applies to the 

shortened length of the suspension.  

 

Section 6.2 Decision to Recommend Expulsion 
 
  Recommendation to the Board for an Expulsion Hearing 
If a principal, in consultation with the Superintendent of Safe Schools determines that a 
recommendation for expulsion is warranted, the principal must refer the recommendation for 
expulsion to the Discipline Committee to be heard within twenty (20) school days from the 

date the principal suspended the student, unless the parties to the expulsion hearing agree upon 
a later date. 

 
For the purposes of the expulsion proceeding, the principal shall: 
1. Prepare a report to be submitted to the Discipline Committee of the Board that will be 
provided to the student and the student’s parent or guardian (unless the student is at 

least 18 years old or 16 or 17 years old and has withdrawn from parental control) as 
part of the information package.  The report shall include: 

a. A summary of the findings the principal made in the investigation; 

b. An analysis of which, if any, mitigating or other factors or Human Rights Code 

related grounds might be applicable; 

c. A recommendation of whether the expulsion should be from the school or from 

the Board; and 

d. A recommendation regarding the type of school that would benefit the student if 

the student is subject to a school expulsion, or the type of program that might 

benefit the student if the student is subject to a Board expulsion. 

2. At the same time provide written notice of the expulsion hearing to the student and the 

student’s parent/guardian (unless the student is at least 18 years old or 16 or 17 years old 

and has withdrawn from parental control). The notice shall include: 

a. A statement that the student is being referred to the Discipline 

Committee to determine whether the student will be expelled for the 

activity that resulted in suspension; 

b. A copy of the Board’s guidelines and rules governing the expulsion hearing 

before the Discipline Committee; 

c. A copy of the Board Code of Conduct and school Code of Conduct; 

d. A copy of the suspension letter; 

e. A statement that the student and/or his or her parent/guardian has the right to 



 

 31 

respond to the principal’s report in writing; 

f. Information about the procedures and possible outcomes of the expulsion 

hearing, including that: 

1. If the Discipline Committee does not expel the student they will 

either confirm, confirm and shorten, or withdraw the 

suspension; 

2. Parties have the right to make submissions as to whether, if the student  

    is not expelled, the suspension imposed should be confirmed,  

    reduced or withdrawn; 

3. Any decision of the Discipline Committee with respect to the  

    suspension imposed is final and cannot be appealed; 

4.  If the student is expelled from his or her school, the student will be  

    assigned to another school; 

5. If the student is expelled from the Board, he or she will be 

assigned to a program for expelled students; 

6. If the student is expelled there is a right of appeal to the 

Child and Family Services Review Board. 

g. The name and contact information for the Superintendent of Safe Schools 

with whom the person may contact to discuss any matter with respect 

to the expulsion hearing.  

 
Response to the Principal’s Report 
Any person who is entitled to receive the principal’s report and the written notice referred 

to in the previous paragraph may respond in writing to the principal and to the Board. 

 
The Superintendent of Safe Schools: 
• May arrange a meeting with the student (if the student is at least 18 years old or 16 or 17 

years old and has withdrawn from parental control) or the student’s parent/guardian and 
student and the principal, as appropriate. 

• If a meeting is arranged, will review the Discipline Committee process for expulsion 
hearings, as well as respond to any questions or concerns the student or the student’s 

parent/guardian may have regarding the process or incident; and, if a meeting is arranged, 
during the meeting the Superintendent of Safe Schools may assist to narrow the issues 
and identify agreed upon facts. 

• Will prepare a package of documents for the Discipline Committee, which will include at 

least the following components: 
✓ a copy of the Principal’s Report; and 

✓ a copy of the original suspension letter and 

the notice of expulsion sent to the adult 

student or the student’s parent/guardian. 

• Will inform the adult student or the student’s parent/guardian of the date and location 

of the expulsion hearing, will provide a copy of the Expulsion Hearing Rules, and a 

copy of the documentation to go to the Discipline Committee. 

• Will ensure that the item is placed on the Discipline Committee agenda. 

 
Expulsion Hearing Before the Discipline Committee 



 

 32 

The Discipline Committee will conduct expulsion hearings as required by the Education Act, s. 

311.3. The hearing will take place on or before the 20th school day of the student’s 

suspension. The Discipline Committee will be made up of a minimum of three trustees who 

will hear appeals, in camera, as required by s. 311.3(9) of the Education Act. 

 
Parties to the hearing are: 
1. Principal/Vice Principal(s) of the school in which the student is registered 

2. Superintendent of Program and Schools responsible for the school in which the 

student is registered 
3. The student if: 

i. the student is at least 18 years old; or 

ii. the student is 16 or 17 years old and has withdrawn from parental control; and/or 

4. Student’s parent/guardian(s) (unless the student is at least 18 years old or 16 or 17 

years old and has withdrawn from parental control); and 

5. Legal representatives for any of the parties. 

 
A student who is not a party to the expulsion hearing has the right to be present at the hearing 

and to make a statement on his or her own behalf. 

 
Submissions and Views of the Parties 
At the hearing, the Discipline Committee shall: 

1. Consider the submissions, whether orally, in writing or both; 

2. Solicit the views of all the parties as to whether the student, if he or she is expelled, 

should be expelled from his or her school only, or from all schools of the board; and 

3. Solicit the views of all the parties as to whether, if the student is not expelled, the 

board should confirm the suspension originally imposed under s. 310 of the Education 

Act, confirm the suspension but reduce its duration or withdraw the suspension. 
 

 

Factors the Discipline Committee Must Consider in its Decision 
In making the decisions under the above heading “Decision,” the Discipline Committee 
shall take into account: 

1. All submissions and views of the parties, including their views as to whether the student, 

if expelled, should be expelled from his or her school only or from all schools of the board; 

2. Any mitigating and other factors prescribed by the regulations; 

3. Any written responses to the principal’s report provided to the board before the completion 

of the hearing. 

 
Restriction on Expulsion 

The Discipline Committee shall not expel a student if more than 20 school days have 

expired since the student was suspended, unless the parties to the expulsion hearing agree 

on a later deadline. 

 
Decision 
After completing the hearing, the Discipline Committee shall decide: 

1. Whether to expel the student; and 

2. If the student is to be expelled, whether the student is expelled from his or her school 



 

 33 

only or from all schools of the board. 

 
If Student is Not Expelled  
If the board does not expel a student, the board shall, with respect to the suspension originally 

imposed under s. 310 the Education Act: 

1. Confirm the suspension and the duration of the suspension; 

2. Confirm the suspension, but shorten its duration, even if the suspension that is under 

appeal has already been served, and order that the record of the suspension be amended 

accordingly; or 

3. Quash the suspension and order that the record of the suspension be expunged, even 
if the suspension that is under appeal has already been served. 

 
In determining which action to take with respect to the suspension of the student after it has 

been determined not to expel the student the board shall take into account: 

(b) any submissions made by the parties as to whether the suspension and its duration 

should be confirmed, the suspension should be confirmed but its duration reduced or the 

suspension should be withdrawn; 

(c) any mitigating or other factors prescribed by the regulations. 

 
The board shall give written notice to all persons who were entitled to be a party to 

the expulsion hearing: 

1. A statement indicating that the student is not expelled; 

2. A statement indicating whether board has confirmed the suspension and its 

duration; confirmed the suspension but reduced its duration or withdrawn the 

suspension. 

 
The decision not to expel a student and the decision with respect to the suspension 

is final. 

 
If Student is Expelled 
If the board expels a student, the board shall assign the student to: 

1. in the case of a student expelled from his or her school only, another school of the board; 

and 

2. in the case of a student expelled from all schools of the board, program for expelled students. 

 
Where the board decides to impose a school expulsion, the Superintendents of Program and 

Schools from where the student has been expelled and to where the student may be placed 

along with the Superintendent of Safe Schools will determine the placement of the student. 
 

Where the board decides to impose an expulsion from all schools of the board the 

Superintendent of Safe Schools along with the Superintendent of Program and Schools from 

which the student is being expelled must assign the student to a program for expelled students. 

 
The board shall give written notice of the expulsion promptly to: 

1. All the parties to the expulsion hearing; and 

2. The student, if the student was not a party to the expulsion hearing. 

 



 

 34 

The contents of the notice must include the following: 

1. The reason for the expulsion; 

2. A statement indicating whether the student is expelled from his or her school only or 

from all schools of the board; 

3. Information about the school or program for expelled students to which the student is 

assigned; 

4. Information about the right to appeal the expulsion, including the steps that must be 

taken to appeal. (Appendix 11) 

 
Expulsion Appeal 
The student’s parent/guardian or the student, (if the student is at least 18 years old or 16 or 17 

years old and has withdrawn from parental control) and such other person as is designated by 
the Child and Family Services Review Board, may appeal a Board decision to expel the student 

to the Child and Family Services Review Board. 

 
The Child and Family Services Review Board is designated to hear and determine appeals 

of Board decisions to expel students. 

 
The decision of the Child and Family Services Review Board is final. 

 
Section 6.3 Programs for Expelled Students 
 

Components of Programs for Expelled Students 
Boards are responsible for determining the content and balance of the program for each 

student for both the academic and non-academic components of the program. The content 

and balance of the program for a student will depend on the needs of the student and the 

nature and severity of the behaviour that led to the expulsion. 

 
Academic Component 

The purpose of the academic component is to ensure that expelled students who are assigned to 

a board program have the opportunity to continue their education. The academic component 

shall follow the curriculum outlined in the Ontario curriculum policy documents, unless the 

student has an IEP that provides for modifications to the Ontario curriculum or an alternative 

program. The academic component may include, but is not limited to, the provision of: 

(i) distance learning; 

(ii) e-learning; 

(iii) remedial help in literacy and numeracy; 

(iv) individual instruction; 

(v) and/or opportunities within the board. 
 
Elementary school students shall be supported in continuing to acquire the necessary 

knowledge and skills outlined in the Ontario curriculum policy documents for elementary 

schools. Secondary school students shall be supported in continuing to earn credits towards 

their Ontario Secondary School Diploma through such options as credit completion and 

credit recovery. 

 



 

 35 

Non-academic Component 
The purpose of the non-academic component is to assist expelled students in the development 

of long-term positive attitudes and behaviours by identifying and addressing the underlying 

causes of the behaviour that led to the expulsion. Students may require a range of services and 

types of support that may include access to culturally appropriate support. 

The board will: 

(i) make appropriate support available and/or; 

(ii) facilitate a student’s referral to community-based service providers; 

(iii) and/or provide support through other methods, such as remote access to resources 

(e.g., video conferencing); 

(iv) and, to meet the alternative programming requirements of a student with 

special education needs, refer to the student’s IEP. 
 

Protocols between boards and community-based service providers are in place to facilitate 

referral processes and the provision of services and support for students and their parents and 

families.  

 

The principal that is overseeing the SAP of the expelled student will be responsible for ensuring 

student safety (measures to ensure a safe, inclusive, and accepting learning and teaching 

environment) and imposing discipline (determine the consequences of unacceptable behaviour) 

while a student is assigned to a program for expelled students and to abide by the Board Code of 

Conduct. 

 
Developing and Implementing the Student Action Plan (SAP) 

A SAP shall be developed for every expelled student who makes a commitment to attend the 

board program for expelled students. The SAP will be developed on the basis of the 

information gathered at a planning meeting. The SAP will build on the SAP that was 

developed for the student while he or she was on a long-term suspension pending expulsion. 

 
The SAP will be developed by the principal in cooperation with appropriate staff, the student, 

and his or her parent(s) (if applicable). It is important that parents participate in the 

development and implementation of the SAP on an ongoing basis. Boards will make 

reasonable efforts to enable parents to participate (if applicable) by, for example, reaching out 

to community members who can provide translation services for those whose first language is 

not English or French. 

It is the responsibility of the Board to coordinate the types of support required to assist the 

student in continuing his or her learning. For students with special education needs, Boards 

shall provide appropriate support consistent with the student’s IEP. 

The Planning Meeting 

Once the student and/or his or her parent(s) (if applicable) have indicated that the student is 

committed to attending the program, the principal shall hold a planning meeting. The planning 

meeting will be a collaborative process and must include school and board staff and the 

student. Where possible, efforts will be made to have the student’s parent(s) (if applicable) or 

other significant family member(s) (if applicable), as well as the student’s teacher(s) present at 



 

 36 

the meeting. If the parents cannot be present, the planning meeting will proceed nevertheless, 

and the principal must attempt to follow up with the parent(s) of the student as soon after the 

meeting as possible. In addition, where appropriate, community agency staff and any other 

relevant persons or professionals should also be included in the planning meeting. 

The purpose of the planning meeting is to: 

• identify the needs of the student and determine whether any assessment is required; 

• identify the student’s risk factors and protective factors; 

• describe the types of support and services required to assist the student in achieving the 

goals of the academic and non-academic components (e.g., career development 

counselling, use of mentors from appropriate communities). 

The following information shall be considered during the planning meeting and should be 

used to develop the SAP: 

• the student’s history; 

• the student’s learning experiences from any long-term suspension program that he or she 

may have attended; 

• the student’s strengths; 

• the nature and severity of the behaviour that led to the expulsion, including any 

mitigating or other factors as provided for in O Reg. 472/07; 

• information from anyone who has provided a specialized service (e.g., a speech therapist); 

and 

• information from other sources who have helped or are expected to help the student, 

including culturally appropriate support persons. 

All relevant information on the student, including existing documentation (e.g., current 

assessments, IEP etc.), shall be considered while complying with all legal and statutory 

requirements and privacy laws. 

Development and Review of the Student Action Plan 

The SAP must contain both an academic and non-academic component. For both the academic 

and non-academic components, the SAP must outline: 

• goals, objectives, and learning expectations; 

• measures of success; 

• strategies and types of support. 

The SAP shall be reviewed on a regular basis to determine the student’s progress in meeting the 

stated objectives in both the academic and the non-academic components of the plan. When a 

student enters a program for expelled students, all parties, including the student, must be made 

aware of the process for determining when the student has satisfied the objectives required for 

successful completion of the program and is therefore eligible to be readmitted to a school of 

the board. The student and/or his or her parent(s), (if applicable) should be involved in the 

review of the SAP. 

Contact information for the Superintendent of Safe Schools, who is responsible for overseeing 

the student’s readmission shall also be included in the SAP. 



 

 37 

Development of a Plan for Re-entry to School 

A student who has been expelled from all schools of a board and/or his or her parent(s), (if 

applicable), may apply in writing to the Superintendent of Safe Schools requesting that the 

student be readmitted to a school of that board. For a student who has been expelled from only 

one school of a board, and where the student and/or his or her parent(s), (if applicable), wish 

that the student return to his or her original school, the student and/or his or her parent(s), (if 

applicable), may apply in writing to a person designated by the board requesting that the 

student be reassigned to the school. 

When the student has successfully met the objectives of the program for expelled students, as 

outlined in the SAP, the student must be readmitted to school. The Superintendent of Safe 

Schools shall determine whether an expelled student has successfully completed a program for 

expelled students or has satisfied the objectives required for successful completion of a 

program for expelled students. 

When a student is considered ready to be readmitted to school, a re-entry plan shall be 

developed as part of the SAP to assist with the student’s transition and integration back into 

the school. 

As part of the development of the re-entry plan, the board shall hold a meeting that includes 

board staff, staff of the school to which the student is seeking readmission, and the student. 

Where possible, efforts will be made to include the student’s parent(s), (if applicable) or other 

significant family member(s), (if applicable), as well as the student’s teacher(s), in the 

meeting. Principals should make reasonable efforts to include parents in this meeting. If the 

parents cannot be present, the planning meeting shall proceed nevertheless, and the principal 

must attempt to follow up with the parent(s) of the student as soon after the meeting as 

possible. In addition, where appropriate, community agency staff and any other relevant 

persons or professionals will also be included in the meeting. 

The re-entry plan shall contain the following elements: 

• description of the re-entry process for successful transition back to school 

• identification of the types of support in both the academic and non-academic 

components that are needed to sustain student learning. 

 

Re-Entry to a School from which a Student was Expelled 

Where a student seeks to be re-assigned to the school from which he or she was expelled                  
(whether in the case of a Board expulsion or a school expulsion): 
  
1. The Board will consider whether re-attendance will have a negative impact on the 

school climate, including on any victims, where applicable; 

2. The student will be required to demonstrate that they have learned from the incident 

and have sought counseling, where appropriate. 

 

Following consideration of the principles of equity and inclusion, the Board, in its sole 

discretion, may determine that a different school than the one from which the student was 

expelled is a more appropriate placement for the student. 
  



 

 38 

Section 7: Delegation of Authority 
 

Section 300.1 (1) of the Education Act states that a principal of a school may delegate in 

writing any of his or her powers, duties or functions under Part XIII to: 
 a) a teacher employed in the school; 

 b) vice-principal of the school.  

 

Please see Appendices; 

• 2A Delegation of Authority Teacher-in-Charge 

• 2B Delegation of Authority Vice Principal in Charge 

 
Section 300.1 (2) qualifies the above in that a teacher who is not a vice-principal may only 

act under a delegation under this section if the principal and vice-principal of the school 

are absent from the school.  PPM 145 also addresses the issue of delegation of authority 

with respect to vice-principals and teachers in charge. 

 
Those who are delegated authority for discipline matters must respect and implement their 

duties and decisions as required by the Education Act, Board policies and procedures, 

Ministry of Education Policy Program Memoranda and the Human Rights Code of Ontario. 

 
Vice-Principals 
Delegation may include all authority of the principal under Part XIII of the Education Act 
except the final decision regarding a recommendation to the board to expel a student and the 
authority to suspend a student for six or more school days. 

 
Teachers in Charge 

• The principal’s authority under Part XIII of the Education Act may only be delegated in 

writing to a teacher in the absence of the principal and vice-principal and must 

respect the terms of all applicable collective agreements. 

• Teachers may be delegated the authority to initially deal with situations involving 

activities that occur that must be considered for suspension or expulsion. The most 

important consideration in these circumstances is the safety of those involved. 

Any initial investigation must be undertaken according to board direction. The 

teacher must report all details of the initial investigation to the principal as soon as 

possible. 

• The teacher must report to the principal or vice-principal any activities that must be 

considered for suspension or expulsion that are received from staff or others during 

the principal’s absence. A teacher may not be delegated authority regarding 

suspension decisions or recommendations regarding expulsion of students. 

• A teacher may be delegated limited authority to contact the parents of a student who 

has been harmed as the result of a serious student incident and the parents of the 

student who has engaged in the activity. The information provided to the parents by 

a teacher must be limited to the nature of the harm to the student and the nature of 

the activity that resulted in the harm. 

• The teacher must not be delegated the authority to discuss the nature of any 

discipline measures taken in response to the activity. 



 

 39 

• If the teacher is not sure whether he or she should call the parents, the teacher 

should contact the principal or supervisory officer for direction. The principal or 

vice-principal will follow up with the parents as soon as possible. 
 

 
 



 

 

 
 

Safe Schools Incident Reporting Form  
 

Report No: 
 
 

CONFIDENTIAL 
SAFE SCHOOLS INCIDENT REPORTING FORM – PART I 

Name of School  

1.Name of Student(s) 
   Involved (if Known) 

 

 
2. Location of Incident 
    (check one) 

□ At a location in the school or on school property (please specify) 
                                                                                                                                                                                    

□ At a school-related activity (please specify) 
                                                                                                                                                                                    

□ On a school bus (please specify route number) 
                                                                                                                                                                                           

□ Other (please specify)  
                                                                                                                                                                                    
 

3. Time of Incident  
Date:  Time:     

a) Type of Incident (check all 
applicable) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Activities for which suspension must be considered under section 306(1) of the Education Act 

□ Uttering a threat to inflict serious bodily harm on another person. 

□ Possessing alcohol, illegal drugs or, unless the student is a medical cannabis user, *cannabis 

□ Being under the influence of alcohol or, unless the student is a medical cannabis user, cannabis 

□ Swearing at a teacher or at another person in a position of authority 

□ Committing an act of vandalism that causes extensive damage to school property at the student’s 
school or to property located on the premises of the student’s school 

□ Bullying 

□ Any other activity for which a student may be suspended under board policy 
 
Activities for which expulsion must be considered under section 310(1) of the Education Act 

□ Possessing a weapon, including possessing a firearm  

□ Using a weapon to cause or to threaten bodily harm to another person 

□ Committing physical assault on another person that causes bodily harm requiring treatment by a 
medical practitioner 

□ Committing sexual assault 

□ Trafficking in weapons or in illegal drugs 

□ Committing          robbery 

□ Bullying (if the student has been previously suspended for engaging in bullying and the student’s 

continuing presence in the school creates an unacceptable risk to the safety of another person) 

□ Any activity listed in subsection 306(1) that is motivated by bias, prejudice, or hate 

□ Giving alcohol or cannabis to a minor 

□ Any other activity for which a student may be expelled under board policy  
 

5. Report Submitted By: Name: _Signature: Date:    

Role in School:                                                       Community:                                                       
Contact Information: Location:                                                  Telephone:                                  
 6.FOR PRINCIPAL’S USE ONLY Check If incident was a violent incident, as defined in Policy/Program Memorandum No. 120.  

□ Violent Incident 
Information collected under the authority of Part XIII of the Education Act and in accordance with the Municipal Freedom of 
Information and Protection of Privacy Act, and shall be used for the purpose of student discipline.  Questions about information 
collected on this form shall be directed to the school principal.   
*As defined in the Education Act, a medical cannabis is a person who is authorized to possess cannabis for the person’s own 
medical purposes in accordance with applicable federal law.  
 

 

Appendix 1A 



 

 
41 

Appendix 1B 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

                                  Confidential 

Safe Schools Incident Reporting Form –Part II 
 

                                                                       Acknowledgement of receipt of report  

 
 

Report No:  _____________ 
 

 
 

Report Submitted By: Name: Date:   
 
 
 

❑ Investigation completed 
 

❑ Principal to communicate results to the teacher at a mutually convenient time* 
 

❑ Principal to communicate results to other board employee at a mutually convenient time, 
as appropriate* 

 
 
□ Action Taken 

   
__ Progressive Discipline 
__ Suspension 
 

□ Action Not Taken   
 

❑ Investigation in progress 
 

❑ Once investigation is completed, principal to communicate results to the teacher at a 
mutually convenient time* 

 
❑ Once investigation is completed, principal to communicate results to other board employee 

at a mutually convenient time, as appropriate* 
 
 
 
 
 

Name of Principal:      
 
 

Signature: Date:     
 
 
 
 

Note: Only Part II is to be given to the person who submitted the report. 

* In accordance with s.300.2 of the Education Act, after investigating a matter reported by an employee, the 
principal shall communicate the results of the investigation to the teacher or other board employee who is 
not a teacher, as appropriate. In accordance with the Municipal Freedom of Information and Protection and 
Privacy Act and the Education Act, when reporting the results of the investigation, the principal shall not 
disclose more personal information than is reasonably necessary for the purpose of communicating the 
results of the investigation. 

 
 

 
 



 

 
42 

 
 
 
 
 

Appendix 2A 
 
 
 

 

 
 

Delegation of Authority Teacher-in-Charge 
 

To [insert name of teacher-in-charge] 

Date[insert date] 

From [insert name of administrator] 

Re: Delegation of Authority 

You will be delegated authority as teacher-in-charge consistent with this memo from [date] to [date]. 
 

During this time frame, the principal and vice-principal shall be away from the school. The principal can be reached by cell 

phone at [insert where applicable] and the vice-principal may be reached by cell phone at [insert where applicable]. The 

superintendent may be reached at [insert]. 

 
The emergency superintendent may be reached at [insert] or in the alternative, the principal of [insert name of school], 

[insert individual’s name] may be reached at [insert] to provide you with any assistance necessary. 
 

Please also review the Board’s brochure “Duties, Responsibilities & Expectations for Teachers-In-Charge.” As part 

of the duties of teacher-in-charge you are being delegated responsibility for the following: 

(1) receiving reports about suspension and expulsion infractions from Board employees and transportation providers or third 
party operators providing before and/or after school programs or such persons who are not employees who come 
into contact with students on a regular basis and communicating this information to an administrator at the earliest 

opportunity; 

(2) conducting an investigation to determine the nature of an incident, and in particular whether or not the incident is one for 
which a suspension or expulsion might be imposed; 

(3) reporting incidents for which a suspension or expulsion might be imposed to an administrator at the earliest opportunity; 

(4) providing information to a parent/guardian of a student about an incident causing the student harm, provided that the 

student is not 18 years old or 16 or 17 years old and has withdrawn from parental control and you are not of the 

opinion that reporting the information might put the student at risk of harm and not be in the student’s best interest; and 

(5) notifying the parents of students who have engaged in serious student incidents. You shall disclose the following 

information: 

a) the nature of the activity that resulted in harm to the other student 

b) the nature of the harm to the other student 

c) the nature of any disciplinary measures taken in response to the activity 

d) the supports that will be provided for the student in response to his or her engagement in the activity- you must invite 

parents to have a discussion with him or her about the supports that will be provided for their child 

(6) implementing progressive discipline measures following the investigation of an incident that does not require 
consideration of a suspension or expulsion as a consequence; and 

(7) contacting the police in an emergency or in the event of an incident requiring police involvement in accordance 

with the Police and School Response Protocol. 
 

You must exercise your authority in accordance with the Human Rights Code of Ontario, the Education Act, Board policies and 

procedures, Ministry of Education Policy/Program Memoranda and collective agreements. 

Your authority with respect to these matters shall cease upon the return to the school of an administrator. 



 

 

           Appendix 2B 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Delegation of Authority Vice Principal-in-Charge 
 
 

To [insert name of vice principal-in-charge] 

Date [insert date] 

From [insert name of administrator] 

Re: [Delegation of Authority] 

 

You will be delegated authority as vice principal-in-charge consistent with this memo from [date] to [date]. 

During this time frame, the principal shall be away from the school.  The principal can be reached by cell phone 

at [insert where applicable].  The superintendent may be reached at [insert]. 

 
The emergency superintendent may be reached at [insert] or in the alternative, the principal of [insert name of 

school], [insert individual’s name] may be reached at [insert] to provide you with any assistance necessary. 

 
Please also review the Board’s brochure “Duties, Responsibilities & Expectations for Vice Principals-In- 

Charge.” 

 
As part of the duties of vice principal-in-charge you are being delegated responsibility for the following: 

(1) receive reports about suspension and expulsion infractions from Board employees and transportation 

providers; 

(2) contact police in accordance with the Police and School Response Protocol; 

(3) conduct investigations and inquiries; 

(4) consider and implement progressive discipline measures; 

(5) impose suspensions of between one (1) and five (5) days, but not to impose a suspension of more than five 

(5) days or make the final decision with respect to recommending to the Board that a student be expelled; 

(6) develop and implement Student Action Plans; 

(7) provide information to a parent/guardian of a student about an incident causing the student harm, provided 

that the student is not 18 years old, or 16 or 17 years old and has withdrawn from parental control and you are 

not of the opinion that reporting the information might put the student at risk of harm and not be in the student’s 

best interest; 

(8) notify the parents of students who have engaged in serious student incidents. You shall disclose the 

following information: 

•  the nature of the activity that resulted in harm to the other student 

•  the nature of the harm to the other student 

•  the nature of any disciplinary measures taken in response to the activity 

•  the supports that will be provided for the student in response to his or her engagement in the activity.  

You must invite parents to have a discussion with him or her about the supports that will be provided 

for their child. 



 

 

(9)   develop a Safety Plan; 

(10) develop a Transition Plan; and 

(11) organize and be responsible for a school transfer meeting. 
 

Despite authority to conduct investigations and inquiries, as noted above, where, in your opinion, the allegations 
might attract discipline requiring a suspension of six (6) or more days, you shall consult with and/or receive 

direction from the principal or superintendent throughout the investigation process. 

 
You must exercise your authority in accordance with the Human Rights Code of Ontario, the Education Act, 

Board policies and procedures, Ministry of Education Policy/Program Memoranda and collective agreements. 

 
Your authority with respect to these matters shall cease upon the return to the school of the principal. 



 

 

 

           Appendix 3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[Date] 

Suspension Letter 

[on school letterhead] 

Re: Suspension of [Student's Name], [DOB] from [Name of School]

[Address – Adult Student – see definition – page 2 OR parent/guardian] 
 

Dear [Adult Student’s Name/Parent’s/Guardian’s Name]: 

 
[You/Student's Name] [have/has] been suspended from [Name of School] and from engaging in all school related 

activities from [Effective Date of Suspension] to [Last Day of Suspension] inclusive, i.e. [number] school day(s). This 

suspension applies to all school buildings, grounds, school buses, school functions, activities and trips. [You/Student's 

Name] may return to school on [Date] at [Time]. [You/Student's Name] must report to the office to re-enter the school. 

 

This suspension is imposed in accordance with the Education Act, the Board's Student Conduct Management 

Policy and [Name of School] Code of Conduct. 

The reason for the suspension is [use infraction applicable]. Namely, my findings indicate that 

[you/student's name] [describe incident with particulars]. 

School work [has been delivered to you / is available at the office. Please make arrangements to have it picked up.]* 

[*If the suspension is 6 school days or longer] In addition [you/student’s name] [have/has] been assigned an Alternative 

Suspension Program, a program for suspended students. This Alternative Suspension Program will provide an 

opportunity for continued academic work and support for self-management to assist with the re-entry to school. Please 

find enclosed information about the Alternative Suspension Programs. 

Please confirm [your/student’s] participation in an Alternative Suspension Program at your earliest opportunity by 

contacting the School. As soon as notice of [your/student’s] participation is received a planning meeting will be 

scheduled. 

Should you wish to appeal this suspension, you must provide written notice of your intention to appeal to the 

Superintendent Responsible for Safe Schools, [Contact Information], within 10 school days of 

the commencement of the suspension, i.e. before [Insert Date]. The Superintendent Responsible for Safe Schools 

may extend the deadline for giving written notice of his or her intention to appeal if the person requests an extension 

to accommodate his or her disability. 

The notice of intention to appeal must identify: 
1. The reason for appealing the suspension; 

2. The remedy sought; and 

3. The names and relationships of all persons to be present at the appeal. 

You may then contact the Superintendent Responsible for Safe Schools to discuss the appeal. Please be aware that an 

appeal does not stay the suspension. 

 A copy of the Board’s Safe Schools: Student Conduct Management Administrative Guideline can be found at 

 www.nearnorthschools.ca. A paper copy of the same will be provided upon request.    

Sincerely, cc Teacher(s) of student, 

Superintendent of Safe Schools 
  [Principal] Superintendent of Schools 

Attendance Counselor 

http://www.nearnorthschools.ca/


 

 

Appendix  4 
 

 
 
 

Head Office 

P.O. Box 3110 

963 Airport Road 

North Bay, ON 

P1B 8H1 

Fax: 705.472.9927 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Notice of    Suspension  Review 
[on the letterhead of the Board] 

 
 

 
[ Date ] 
[ Adult Student’s – see definition – page 2/Parent/Guardian’s Name] 
[ Address ] 

 
 

Re: Suspension of [Student's Name], [DOB] from [Name of School] 
 

 

I am in receipt of your notice of intention to appeal [your/Student’s Name] 

suspension from [Name of School], dated [insert date].  [You/Student’s Name] 

[were/was] suspended for [insert number] school days for 
insert infraction applicable]. 
I will be conducting a review of the suspension. At the conclusion of my review, 

I will, in consultation with Principal [Name], either confirm, modify or expunge 

the suspension. 
As part of the review process, I would like to speak to you. 

My office will be contacting you. Please also do not hesitate to contact me at 472-8170 

ext. 5004. 

 
Sincerely, 

 
 

Superintendent of Safe Schools 

Cc Superintendent of Schools 
Principal 

Ontario Student Records 



 

 

 

       
Appendix 5 

 

 
Head Office 

P.O. Box 311 

963 Airport Road 

North Bay, ON 

P1B 8H1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Suspension Review Decision 
[on the letterhead of the Board] 

 
 

[Date] 

[Adult Student - see definition - page 2 / Parent/Guardian] 

[Address] 
 
 
 

Dear [Adult Student’s Name/ Parent’s/Guardian’s Name]: 
 
 

Re: Suspension Review of Suspension of [Student’s Name], [DOB] from [Name of School] 
 
 

I have completed my review of [your/student’s name] suspension from [Name of School]. As a 

result of my review I have decided to [expunge/modify/uphold] the suspension. 

 
If you are not in agreement with my decision, the appeal will proceed before the Discipline Committee of the 

Board. 

 
I will contact you to discuss the results of my review and your appeal. 

Sincerely, 

 
 

Superintendent of Safe Schools 

Cc Superintendent of Schools 

Principal 

Ontario Student Records 



 

 

        Appendix 6 
 
 
 
 
 

 
[Date] 

 

Notice of Suspension Appeal 
[on Board letterhead] 

[Adult Student – see definition–page 2-/ Parent’s/Guardian’s Name] 
[Address] 

 
 

Dear [Adult Student's Name/ Parent’s/Guardian’s Name]: 
 
 

Re: Appeal of Suspension of [Student's Name], [DOB] from [Name of School] 
 

 

You have appealed the decision of Principal [Name] to suspend [you/student’s name] from 

[Name of School]. 
 

The Appeal will be heard by the Discipline Committee of the Board of Trustees at [insert time 
and date] at [insert location]. 

 
You will find enclosed a copy of the Information Package that will be relied on by the 
administration for the Board and will be provided to the Discipline Committee. The 
Information Package includes a copy of the suspension letter, your letter requesting the 
appeal, correspondence with respect to the suspension review and the Principal’s 
Report of the Incident. 

 
Also enclosed please find a copy of the Board’s Suspension Appeal Guidelines. Please advise 
me at your earliest opportunity if you intend to bring legal representation to the appeal. 

 
Please be advised that if you fail to attend on time, the Discipline Committee will wait for 

30 minutes and may then proceed to decide the matter in your absence. 
 

Should you have any questions about the appeal process, please contact me at 472-8170 
ext. 5004. 

 
Sincerely, 

 

 
 
Superintendent of Safe Schools  
 
Cc Superintendent of Schools 
Principal 
Ontario School Record 



 

 

             
 

Appendix 7A 

 
 
 

 
 

Notice of Suspension Appeal Decision 
[on the letterhead of the Board] 

 
 
 

 
[Date] 

[Adult Student-see definition-page 2/Parent/Guardian] 

[Address] 

 
 
 

Dear [Adult Student's Name/ Parent’s/Guardian's Name]: 
 
 

Re: Decision of Discipline Committee Suspension Appeal of 

[Student Name], [DOB] [Name of School] 
 

 

Attached, please find a copy of the Decision of the Discipline Committee regarding your 

suspension appeal, dated [insert date]. 

The decision of the Discipline Committee is final and is not subject to further appeal. Should 

you have any questions, please contact me at [insert contact information]. 

 
Sincerely, 

 

Superintendent of Safe Schools 

Cc Superintendent of Schools 

Principal 

Ontario Student Record 



 

 

           Appendix 7B 
 
 
 
 

 

 
Suspension Appeal Decision of the Discipline Committee 

[on the letterhead of the Board] 
 

 

SUSPENSION APPEAL DECISION 
 

IN THE MATTER OF Section 309 of the Education Act, as amended 
-and- 

IN THE MATTER OF an appeal by [Name of Appellant], of the suspension of [Student Name], a 
student of [School Name] 

 
Decision 

 

UPON being satisfied that the Discipline Committee has jurisdiction to conduct the appeal 

pursuant to section 309 of the Education Act; 
AND UPON being satisfied that the proper parties to the appeal are [Name of Appellant 
and relationship to student] and [Principal Name] as Principal of [School Name]; 
AND UPON being satisfied that the parties received reasonable notice of the appeal; 
AND UPON having provided an opportunity to the appellant to make 
submissions, having heard the submissions of the Principal, having read the materials 
submitted by the parties, and having retired to consider the matter; 

 
THE DISCIPLINE COMMITTEE does hereby [confirm the suspension / confirm the suspension 
but shorten its duration to (number) school days and amend the record accordingly /quash the 
suspension and expunge the record /confirm the suspension but expunge the record on (insert 
date or event). 

 
THE DECISION OF THE DISCIPLINE COMMITTEE is final. 

 
DATED this [day] of [Month], [Year] and signed on behalf of the Discipline Committee and 
Board of Trustees by the Chair of the Discipline Committee. 

 

 
[Board Name] 

By Chair 



cc: Superintendent of Schools 
Superintendent of Safe Schools 

Ontario Student Record 

 

 

           Appendix 8 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

[Date] 

Suspension Pending Possible Recommendation for Expulsion 
[on the letterhead of the School] 

[Adult Student –see definition – page 2/Parent/Guardian] 

[Address] 
 

Dear [Adult Student’s Name/Parent’s/Guardian’s Name]: 
 
 

Re: Suspension of [Student's Name], [DOB] from [Name of School] 
 

 
[You/Student’s Name] [have/has] been suspended from [Name of School] and from engaging in all school related 

activities from [Effective Date of Suspension] to [Last Date of Suspension] inclusive, i.e. twenty (20) school days. This 

suspension applies to all school buildings, grounds, school buses, school functions, activities and trips. 
 

 
Please be advised that this suspension is made in accordance with the Education Act, the Board's Safe School Policy 

and [Name of School] Code of Conduct. 
 

The reason for the suspension is [use the infraction applicable]. Namely, my findings indicate that [you/Student's 

Name] [describe incident with particulars]. 
 

Please be advised that I am continuing my investigation of this matter in order to determine whether to recommend to 

the Discipline Committee of the Board of Trustees that [you/Student’s Name] be expelled. An expulsion may be from 

[Name of School] or from all schools of the Board. You will be informed of the results of my investigation in writing. 
 

The Board is committed to the education and future of its students. [You/Student’s name] [have/has] been assigned to an 

Alternative Suspension Program, a program for suspended students. An Alternative Suspension Program provides 

students with the opportunity to continue academic work and receive support for self-management. Please find enclosed 

information about Alternative Suspension Programs. Please contact the School at your earliest opportunity to confirm 

[your/student’s participation] in an Alternative Suspension Program. As soon as notice of [your/student’s] participation is 

received a planning meeting will be scheduled. 
 

You do not have the right to appeal the suspension at this time. Should it be determined at the conclusion of the 

investigation that a recommendation for expulsion will not be made, you will be entitled to appeal the suspension to the 

Discipline Committee of the Board of Trustees. Should it be determined that a recommendation for expulsion is 

warranted, then you may address the suspension before the Discipline Committee at the expulsion hearing. 
 

Sincerely, [Principal] 



cc: Superintendent of Schools 

Superintendent of Safe Schools 

Ontario Student Record 

 

 

            Appendix 9 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

[Date] 

Decision Letter Not to Recommend Expulsion 
[on the letterhead of the School] 

[Adult Student– see definition – page 2 /Parent/Guardian] 

[Address] 
 

 
 

Dear [Adult Student’s Name / Parent’s/Guardian’s Name]: 
 
 

Re: [Student's Name], [DOB] [Name of School] - Expulsion Not Recommended 
 

 

I am writing to you to report the result of my investigation following [your/ student’s name] suspension. 

I have decided not to recommend to the Discipline Committee that [you/student's name] be expelled. 
As part of my investigation, I have reviewed [your/student’s name] suspension, and I have determined 
that the suspension should be [confirmed / confirmed but shortened to [INSERT NUMBER] school days 
and the record amended accordingly / withdrawn and the record expunged]. 

 
[*Unless the suspension is withdrawn:] Should you wish to appeal the suspension, you must provide 

written notice of your intention to appeal the suspension to the Superintendent Responsible for Student 

Discipline, [contact information], within 5 school days of the receipt of this notice, i.e. before [insert date - 

by courier or mail is 10 school days from date of this letter; by e-mail or fax is 6 school days from date of this 

letter]. The Superintendent Responsible for Safe Schools may extend the deadline for giving written notice 

of his or her intention to appeal if the person requests an extension to accommodate his or her disability. 
 

If you provide notice of your intention to appeal, you may contact the Superintendent Responsible for Safe 
Schools to discuss the appeal. If the suspension has been reduced in length, the appeal is from the reduced 

suspension. Please be aware that an appeal does not stay the suspension. 
 

A copy of the Board’s Safe Schools: Student Conduct Management Administrative Guideline can be found at 

www.nearnorthschools.ca. A paper copy of the same will be provided to you upon request. 

Sincerely, 

[Principal]

http://www.nearnorthschools.ca/


 

 

            Appendix 10 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Notice of Recommendation for Expulsion 
[on the letterhead of the School] 

[Adult Student - see definition - page 2/Parent/Guardian] 

[Address] 
 

Dear [Adult Student’s Name/Parent’s/Guardian’s Name]: 
 

Re: [Student's Name], [DOB], [Name of School] Investigation 
 

I am writing to you following my investigation to determine whether to recommend an expulsion. As a result of my 

investigation, I have decided to recommend to the Discipline Committee of the Board of Trustees that [you/student’s name] 

be expelled. 
 

A copy of my Report to the Discipline Committee Recommending Expulsion is enclosed. You may respond to this Report in 

writing to the Discipline Committee or to me. A copy of your written submissions should also be provided to the 

Superintendent Responsible for Safe Schools [insert contact information]. 

 
The hearing by the Discipline Committee to decide whether [you/student’s name] should be expelled will be held on [date] at 

[location] [to be determined by Superintendent Responsible for Safe Schools]. You will be provided with the following;      
  Safe Schools:       Student Conduct Management Administrative Guideline; 

  Board Code of Conduct and School Code of Conduct; 

 Suspension letter. 
You will be provided with an opportunity to make a presentation to the Discipline Committee about whether [you/student’s name] 

should be expelled, and whether, if [you/student’s name] [are/is] expelled, [you/s/he] should be expelled from [School Name] or 

from all schools of the Board and, if no expulsion is imposed, your position with respect to the suspension. 
The Discipline Committee will determine whether [you/student’s name] should be expelled, and whether [your/student’s name] 

expulsion should be from [School Name] or from all of the schools of the Board. 

If [you/student’s name] [are/is] expelled from [School Name], the Discipline Committee will assign [you/student’s name] to a 
program provided at another school of the Board. If [you/student’s name] [are/is] expelled from all schools of the Board, the 
Discipline Committee will assign [you/student’s name] to a program for expelled students. 

Information about both the program that will be provided at another school and the program for expelled students will be provided. 
Both the program that will be provided at another school and the program for expelled students will provide [you/student’s name] with 

an opportunity to pursue academic work and receive additional supports. 

Should the Discipline Committee decide not to expel [you/student’s name], the Discipline Committee will review the suspension. 
The Discipline Committee may confirm the suspension, confirm but shorten the suspension and amend the record accordingly, or 
withdraw the suspension and expunge the record. The decision of the Discipline Committee with respect to the suspension is final 
and is not subject to appeal. 
You may bring legal counsel to represent you before the Discipline Committee, which might be funded by Legal Aid, depending 

upon your circumstances. If you intend to bring legal counsel, please provide the Superintendent Responsible for Safe 
Schools with notice at your earliest opportunity. 

If [you/student’s name] is/are expelled, there is a right to appeal the decision to expel to the Child and Family Services Review 

Board. 
Please note that the Discipline Committee will wait for thirty (30) minutes for your arrival on [Month], [Day], [Year] and, should 
you fail to attend in a timely manner, the Discipline Committee may proceed in your absence. The Superintendent Responsible for 

Safe Schools, [Name and Contact Information], will contact you to review the hearing process and answer any questions that you 
might have. 
Sincerely, 

 
[Principal] Encl. 

 
cc: Superintendent of Schools 

Superintendent of Safe Schools 

Ontario Student Record 



 

 

 
 

Appendix 11A 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

[Date] 

Expulsion Decision 
[on the letterhead of the Board] 

[Adult Student (see definition – page 2) /Parent/Guardian] [Address] 
Dear [Adult Student's Name/ Parent’s/Guardian's Name]: 

 

Re: Decision of Discipline Committee Expulsion Hearing – [Student 

Name], [DOB] [Name of School] 

 

Attached, please find the Decision of the Discipline Committee, dated [insert date]. Should you wish to 

appeal this decision, you are required to give written notice of appeal to the Child and Family Services 

Review Board (Telephone 416-327-4673 or 1-888-728-8823) within 30 days after the date on which you are 

considered, in accordance with the rules set out in subsection 300(3) of the Education Act, to have received this 

notice. 

 
(Subsection 300(3) of the Education Act provides: 

 
(3) Where notice is given to a person under this Part, it shall be considered to have been received by the 

person in accordance with the following rules: 
1. If the notice is sent by mail or another method in which an original document is sent, the notice shall 

be considered to have been received by the person to whom it was sent on the fifth school day after the 

day on which it was sent. 

2. If the notice is sent by fax or another method of electronic transmission, the notice shall be considered 

to have been received by the person to whom it was sent on the first school day after the day on which it 

was sent. 

 
If the student has been expelled: Please also find attached information regarding the educational 
program offered by the Board at [insert name of 
alternative school / program for students expelled from all schools of the Board]. 

 

Should you have any questions, please contact the undersigned at 472-8170 ext. 5004. 

 
Sincerely, 

 
 

Superintendent of Safe Schools  

 

Cc Superintendent of Schools 

Principal 

Ontario Student Record 



 

 
55 

 
 
 

Appendix 11B 
 

 
 

 
 

Recommendation for Expulsion Decision of the Discipline Committee 
[on the letterhead of the 

Board] 
 

[School Board Name] 
 

IN THE MATTER OF Section 311.3 of the Education Act, as amended 

-and- 

IN THE MATTER OF a recommendation by [Name of Principal], [School Name] for the expulsion of 

[Student Name], a student of [School Name] 

Decision 
 

UPON being satisfied that the Discipline Committee has jurisdiction to conduct the hearing 

pursuant to section 311.3 of the Education Act; 

AND UPON being satisfied that the proper parties to the hearing are [Name of Appellant 

and relationship to student] and [Principal Name], Principal of [School Name]; 

AND UPON being satisfied that the parties received reasonable notice of the hearing; 

AND UPON having provided an opportunity to the Appellant to make submissions, having 

heard the submissions of the Principal, having read any materials submitted by the parties, having 

considered the facts and any mitigating and/or other factors referred to by the parties, and having retired 

to consider the matter; 

THE DISCIPLINE COMMITTEE does hereby impose an expulsion from [School Name] and assigns 

the student to an educational program at [School Name] for the following reason: [INSERT REASON 

FOR EXPULSION] * 
 

*OR 

 
THE DISCIPLINE COMMITTEE does hereby impose an expulsion from all schools of the Board; 

assigns the student to the program for expelled students; and requires that the student successfully 

complete and meet the objectives of the program for expelled students before being re-admitted to a 

regular day school program in Ontario for the following reason: [INSERT REASON FOR 

EXPULSION]. 

 
*OR 

 
THE DISCIPLINE COMMITTEE does not hereby impose an expulsion; and does hereby [confirm 

the suspension imposed by [Principal Name] / confirm the suspension imposed by [Principal Name] 

but shorten its duration to [number] school days and amend the record accordingly / quash 

the suspension and expunge the record]. 

DATED this [day] of [Month], [Year] and signed on behalf of the Discipline Committee and Board of 

Trustees by the Chair of the Discipline Committee. 

 
[Board Name] 

 
By Chairperson 

 
  



 

 
56 

          Appendix 12 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

VIOLENT INCIDENT FORM 
 
 
 

Name of student:   
 

 
 

A. Description of Violent Incident   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

B.Police Contact   
 

 

1. Date of contact 2. Date of police investigation at 
school: 

3. Name of Investigating  Officer(s): 

 

 
 

C. School/Board Response   
 

1.  Suspension 2.   Expulsion 3.  Other 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Date of inclusion in OSR:   
 

 

Principal’s/Designate’s signature:   

 



 

 

57 

Glossary of Terms 
 

The following definitions apply for the purposes of student discipline in this guideline. 

 
Administrator – includes a superintendent, principal or vice-principal with 

responsibility for the school in question. 

 
Adult Student – is a student who is 18 years or older or 16 or 17 and has removed 

him/herself from parental control. 

 
Board Employees Who Work with Students – include administrators, teachers, 

educational assistants, early childhood educators, child and youth workers, social 

workers, psychologists, speech language pathologists and other professional and para-

professional staff who have regular and direct duties with the Board’s students. 

 
Board Expulsion – is an expulsion from all schools of the Board. 

 
Bullying – means aggressive and typically repeated behaviour by a student where, 

a) the behaviour is intended by the student to have the effect of, or the student ought to know 

that the behaviour would be likely to have the effect of, 

(i) causing harm, fear or distress to another individual, including physical, psychological, 

social or academic harm, harm to the individual’s reputation or harm to the individual’s 

property, or 

(ii) creating a negative environment at a school for another individual, and 

 
(b) the behaviour occurs in a context where there is a real or perceived power imbalance 

between the student and the individual based on factors such as size, strength, age, 

intelligence, peer group power, economic status, social status, religion, ethnic origin, 

sexual orientation, family circumstances, gender, gender identity, gender expression, race, 

disability or the receipt of special education (“intimidation”). 

 
For the purposes of the definition of “Bullying” above, bullying behaviour includes the use 

of any physical, verbal, electronic, written or other means. 

 
Cyber-bullying - For the purposes of the definition of “Bullying” above, bullying also 

includes bullying by electronic means (commonly known as cyber-bullying), which 

includes: 

(a) creating a web page or a blog in which the creator assumes the identity of another person; 

(b) impersonating another person as the author of content or messages posted on the internet; 

and 

(c) communicating material electronically to more than one individual or posting material 

on a website that may be accessed by one or more individuals. 

 
Daily Care – a person with daily care is an adult person (18 years or older) who is not the 

custodial parent/guardian of a student who is less than 18 years old, but is a person who 

cares for the student on a daily basis and is known by the school to provide daily care, for 



 

 

58 

example a grandparent, aunt, uncle, older brother or sister. 

 

Discipline Committee – a committee of three (3) or more Trustees designated to determine 

suspension, exclusion and expulsion appeals and recommendations for expulsion. 

Disproportionate Impact – is created when discipline impacts a student to a greater degree 

in comparison to his or her peers as a result of factors related to grounds protected by the 

Human Rights Code. 

 
Emergency Administrator – is a superintendent or principal identified by the principal of the 

school, to which a teacher-in-charge/principal designate, as the emergency contact should the 

administrator(s) of the school not be available in emergency circumstances. 

 
Harassment – is words, conduct or action that is directed at an individual and serves no 

legitimate purpose and which may include remarks, jokes, threats, name-calling, the 

display of material(s), touching or other behaviour that an individual knows or ought to 

know insults, intimidates, offends, demeans, annoys, alarms or causes that individual 

emotional distress and may constitute discrimination when related to grounds protected by 

the Human Rights Code. 

 

Intermediate Student – refers to any student in Grade 7, 8, 9 or 10 

 

Junior Student – refers to any student in Grade 4, 5 or 6 

 

Manifestation of a Student’s Disability – is behaviour that results from a student’s 

disability and that a student does not intend. 
 

PPM – Ministry of Education Policy/Program Memorandum. 
 
Parent/Guardian – where there is a reference to involving or informing a parent/guardian it 
means the 

custodial parent or guardian of a minor child who is not an adult student. 

 

Primary Student – refers to any student in Junior Kindergarten, Senior Kindergarten, Grade 1, 2 

or 3. 

 

Immutable Characteristics – are characteristics that an individual cannot change or that an 

individual cannot alter about themselves, such as height. 

 

Impact on School Climate – an incident or activity that has a negative impact on the school 

community. 

 
Primacy of the Code – in a circumstance in which there is a conflict between provincial law, 

such as the Education Act, Regulations, Policy Program Memoranda, School Board Policies 

and Procedures, and the Human Rights Code of Ontario, the Human Rights Code is deemed 

to be more important and the inferior law must be applied in a manner consistent with the 

Human Rights Code (unless there is an explicit exception contained within the other law for 



 

 

59 

such a circumstance). The principle of primacy of the Human Rights Code also requires 

school board policies and procedures to be interpreted and applied in a manner consistent 

with the Human Rights Code. 

 
Racialized student – is a student who may experience social inequities on the basis of race, 

colour, and/or ethnicity. 

 
Senior Student – refers to any student in Grade 11 or 12 

 
School Climate – is the sum total of all of the personal relationships within a school. A 

positive climate exists when all members of the school community feel safe, 

comfortable and accepted. 
 
School Community - the school community is composed of staff, students and parents of 

the school and feeder schools / family of schools, as well as the community of people and 

businesses that are served by or located in the greater neighborhood of the school. 
 

 

School Expulsion – is an expulsion a) from the school of the Board that the student was 

attending at the time of the incident, or b) from all schools of the Board. 
  

Superintendent – shall be consistent with and have the meaning attributed to Supervisory 

Officer in the Education Act and Regulations. 

 
Superintendent Responsible for Safe Schools – means the supervisory officer delegated 

authority regarding procedural issues related to suspension appeals and expulsions. 

 
Teacher-in-Charge – is a teacher who has been delegated authority by the principal to 

undertake specified duties with respect to student discipline in the absence of administration. 

(Appendix 2A) 

 
Undue Hardship – is the standard for the provision of accommodation, or point to which 

accommodation must be provided, for a specific student by the Board. 

 

Weapon – is any object or thing used to threaten or inflict harm on another person and 

includes, but is not limited to, knives, guns, replica guns and animals. 
 



1 

 
 
 

 
ADMINISTRATIVE GUIDELINE 

 
Title:  Health and Safety:  Emergency Response Plan 

  
Effective Date: March 13, 2004 Responsibility:  Superintendent of Business 
Revised Date: August 21, 2008 

 November 16, 2021 
 
An appropriate Emergency Response Plan (ERP) is essential for all organizations. Given the nature of 
school operations, it is foreseeable that emergency situations will occur from time to time and the 
Board’s ERP may be the only thing separating disaster from inconvenience for your organization….. 

 
Ontario School Boards’ Insurance Exchange 

 
A. INTRODUCTION 
 
The Near North District School Board developed this document to assist in preparing for an emergency 
and maximize the efficiency with which schools’ Emergency Response Teams and local emergency 
services can respond.  The nature of a crisis incident or emergency demands that preparations, 
communication and planning is a priority.  This guide will act as a procedural manual and will have to 
be adapted to meet the needs of any given situation as it may unfold.  OSBIE recommendations are 
that this emergency response plan be updated semi-annually at both the elementary and secondary 
panel.   
 
A variety of emergencies, which can endanger the health and safety of the students and staff can occur 
in schools at any time of the year.  These can include the following types of situations: 
 

• Human-caused disasters – hostage taking, assaults, murder, suicide, shooting, bomb 
threats, arson, etc. 

• Accidental disasters – car and bus accidents, chemical spills, equipment failures, fire, 
etc. 

• Natural disasters – ice/snow storms, flooding, etc. 
 
This list is limited and by no means exclusive, but the response to any emergency is critical and 
demands leadership and planning.  Three phases are necessary to deal with emergency management: 
  



2 

• Preparation and planning 
• Managing a emergency 
• Post-emergency care 

 
An Emergency Response Plan (ERP) has to consider each of these phases and the role of the 
Principal/Supervisor and their professional leadership.  The Principal/Supervisor must at all times have 
the flexibility to meet emergency situations, and must be free to use his or her best judgment as the 
situation may dictate.  
 
The suggested procedures of the ERP must be communicated and vetted with the staff, students, 
parents/guardians, community partners and the School Advisory Council.  This will allow input from 
all stakeholders and an incorporation of all aspects of the plan that would ensure an automatic response 
in case of any emergency. 
 
A completed copy of Section B, Site Specific Plan, must be submitted to the Health and Safety 
Officer by September 30th of each year. 
 
 
B. PREPARATION AND PLANNING 
 
Emergency Response Kit: 
 
A standard emergency response kit will be kept in the Main Office.  This kit will be available to the 
ERT and emergency personnel in order to efficiently respond to any emergency situation.  These 
include: 
 

• A complete list of staff and students with photographs (if available), addresses, telephone 
numbers, next of kin, bus rosters 

• Class schedules and timetables 
• Floor plan for the school including environmental and mechanical systems 
• Instructions for search teams 
• Indicators to mark doors of areas searched (3M Post It Notes – Yellow) 
• Emergency safety vests for emergency response team 

 
The following emergency materials will be kept in a separate container with the standard emergency 
response kit.  It will contain the following items: 

• Flashlights with extra batteries 
• Disposable camera  
• A bull horn/megaphone (spare batteries) 
• A First Aid Kit 
• Emergency blanket 
• A list of staff with First Aid Qualifications & cell phones 
• Pencils, pens, markers, papers and a notebook 
• A copy of the ERP with necessary documents (Board Policies, Contact Lists, Communications 

Plan, etc.) 



3 

• Staff name tags (with neck string) 
• Duct tape  
• Caution tape 
• Separate placards with directional words such as COMMAND CENTER, PARENTS, 

COUNSELLORS, MEDIA, VOLUNTEERS, EVACUATION CENTER, KEEP OUT 
 

Note:  Attendance records/daily class lists should be available in case of evacuation.  The emergency 
response kit, and costs to replenish the kit, will be the responsibility of the Principal/Supervisor and 
must be updated semi-annually at the elementary and secondary panel. Some records may require 
monthly updating. 
 
Cell phones and/or walkie-talkies are useful in the event of an emergency. 
 
Preparation: 
 
A number of steps can be taken in preparing the staff to deal with a crisis to minimize the risk to staff 
and students and maximize the response by emergency personnel.  The first is to consider the nature of 
the emergency and develop a plan that will act as a guide to deal with any extreme circumstances such 
as a bomb threat. 
 
The fire drill and evacuation plan should be practiced three times during each semester.  It should be 
reviewed semi-annually, and parts of it can be utilized in dealing with other emergencies.   
 
However, the ERP will deal with other types of emergency incidents.  It is important to note that these 
events involve too many variables to set out step-by-step instructions for each incident and should be 
viewed as a guide.  These plans need to be shared with all stakeholders and must be practiced in order 
that the staff and students understand their role in maintaining order for the safety of all parties.   
 
 
C. MANAGING AN EMERGENCY 
 
Leadership is essential in managing any type of emergency.  The Principal or Supervisor will take 
control of the scene.  The confidence of the staff, students, parents and community is foremost and 
leadership and a communication protocol are essential to maintain order.  Various responsibilities have 
been delegated and must be shared with all staff and stakeholders.  See Section B.5 
 
Communication is essential during an emergency and is the responsibility of the Principal or 
Supervisor.  A communication plan or protocol is necessary must be developed. This will alleviate a 
number of problems and will inspire confidence in the school/office and its leadership.  
 
The Principal or Supervisor must use common sense and rely on the ERT to manage any emergency.  
Flexibility, cooperation, common sense, and trust will assist in making decisions. The ERP is a guide 
and must incorporate all pertinent legislation; MET, Board Policies and the local police service/School 
Board Protocols.   
 



4 

D. POST-EMERGENCY CARE 
 
The care and well-being of all persons involved in or exposed to an emergency incident can be a long-
term process.  The Principal or Supervisor and ERT are responsible for drawing on any resources 
available to assist in dealing with the aftermath of any crisis.  
 
 
E. VISITORS IN THE SCHOOL 
 
All visitors who are travelling past the office area must sign in and obtain a visitor’s badge.  See 
Section B.4. 
 
 
  



5 

A.  EMERGENCY RESPONSE PLANS 
 
A.1 Bomb Threat  ..................................................................................................................... 7 
A.2 Dealing with Suspicious Mail or Parcels  ...................................................................... 11 
A.3 Violent Incident Emergency Response Plan ................................................................. 13 

3.1 Persons with Weapons 
3.2 Assault 
3.3 Terrorist Activities 
3.4 Hostage Taking 

A.4  Emergency Evacuation Plan  .......................................................................................... 21 
4.1 In-Building Evacuation 
4.2 Out-of-Building Evacuation 
4.3 Evacuation of Physically Challenged Students 

A.5  Hold and Secure ............................................................................................................... 23 
A.6 Lock Down Plan  .............................................................................................................. 24 
A.7 Injuries .............................................................................................................................. 25 
A.8 Suicide/Loss of Life .......................................................................................................... 27 
A.9 Environmental Hazards .................................................................................................. 29 
A.10 Fire Safety Plan ................................................................................................................ 30 
 
Introduction 
Section 1 Building Resources Audit 
Section 2 Human Resources Audit 
Section 3 Emergency Procedures and Related Duties 
   3.1 Students 
   3. 2 Head Custodian 
   3.3 Principal 
   3.4 Teacher/Occasional Teacher 
   3.5 Extra-Curricular occupants (after hours) 
Section 4 Fire Hazards 
Section 5 Extinguishment, Control and Confinement  
Section 6 Alternative Measures of Occupant Fire safety 
Section 7 Fire Drills 
Section 8 Maintenance Requirements of Building Fire and Life Safety Systems 
Section 9 Fire Protection Measures 
Section 10  Floor Plan Drawings 
Section 11  Suspected Gas Leak 
 
A.11 Interruption of Utilities ................................................................................................... 70 

 
A.12  Severe Weather ................................................................................................................ 71 



6 

11.1 Weather Awareness 
11.2 Severe Thunderstorms 
11.3 Tornadoes 
11.4 Winter Storms 
11.5 After the Storm or Tornado 
11.6 Floods 
11.7 Earthquakes 

 
A.13  Missing Children .............................................................................................................. 74 

12.1 Runners 
12.2 Abduction 

A.14  Encounter with Dangerous Animals .............................................................................. 75 
 
 
B.  SITE SPECIFIC INFORMATION 
 
B.1 Checklist to Manage Emergency Response ......................................................................... 78 
B.2 Evacuation Sites ..................................................................................................................... 79 
B.3 Emergency Contact Numbers ............................................................................................... 80 
B.4 Visitors to the School (sample form) .................................................................................... 82 
B.5 Roles and Responsibilities of Command Centre ................................................................. 83 
B.6 Certified First Aid Staff ........................................................................................................ 84 
B.7 Audit of Building Resources ................................................................................................. 85 
B.8 Communication Protocol ...................................................................................................... 86 
B.9 Media Statements ................................................................................................................... 87 
 
 
 

  



7 

 
A.1 BOMB THREAT 
 
“Bomb Threat”:  A potential or real situation where person(s) unknown threatens or actually places a 
device in or around Board facilities. 
 
Human safety is the primary concern at the time of a bomb threat.  A bomb threat can be written, 
recorded or communicated orally.  Every bomb threat must be taken seriously. 
 
A person making a bomb threat has two main objectives: 
 

1. to disrupt an office or school by delivering a threat; and/or 
2. to provide a warning, providing time to respond, therefore minimizing injury to the target 

 
Most bomb threats are delivered by telephone by anonymous callers. 

1.1  When a threat is received: 

The person receiving the call should remain calm and courteous. 
 

If possible, the call recipient should attract a colleague’s attention indicating the nature of the 
call.  The recipient of the telephone call should obtain as much precise information as possible 
recording the exact words used whenever possible.  Use the Bomb Threat Report Form during 
the call.  Forms are located at or near telephones that can receive incoming calls.  

Call 911. The bomb threat plans include having a prearranged signal which alerts an assistant 
to notify the police on another line while the caller is held on the line as long as possible.  The 
advice of the police must be followed. 

The Principal or Supervisor must be informed of the call immediately. 
 

Immediate evacuation is not recommended unless very specific information is received when 
the bomb threat comes to the school.  There is the potential to increase the danger to students 
by having them evacuate the building by way of exits where the bomb might be located. 

 
During regular school/office hours, night school, or summer school, the Principal/Supervisor 
will then inform the appropriate Superintendent and Health and Safety Officer. 

 
The Principal/Supervisor should be in the Command Centre to receive search results and to be 
available to provide information to responding agencies. 

 
Unless ordered to evacuate, movement of large groups within the building should be strictly 
controlled. 

 
The use of radios or cell phones should be restricted within 90 metres (300 ft.). 

 
1.2 Search Procedure - In Class 



8 

 
The Principal or Supervisor will initiate a search.  Each employee is best qualified to carry out 
a search of his/her own work area by reason of his/her familiarity with what should be in it.  
The Principal or Supervisor may wish to use a pre-established signal to alert staff to participate 
in the search.  Police and other responding agencies may assist in the search.  Students must 
not be involved in the search. 

 
The following guidelines are to be adhered to in conducting the search: 

 
1.2.1 Do not alarm students/staff.  Maintain calm authority. 

 
1.2.2 The decision to evacuate at this time, during the course of the search will be made by 

the Principal or Supervisor, in consultation with the local police.  Students should not be 
permitted to attend their locker if ordered to evacuate; 

 
1.2.3 If possible, use the buddy system: send two to three people per team to search an area; 

(Section B.5) 
 

1.2.4 Warn searchers that should an unidentified package or object be found, they are NOT 
TO TOUCH, MOVE OR HANDLE THE OBJECT OR ANYTHING ATTACHED TO 
IT.   A safe method of identifying the object will be utilized; 

 
1.2.5 Search areas should not be larger than that which would take more than 15-20 minutes 

to search; (Yellow 3-M Post-its will be place on the outside of doors in areas of that 
have been searched.) 

 
1.2.6 The focus of the search is to "look-and-see" in general areas, and does not include 

cupboards, drawers, closets etc.  Search personnel are to look for an unusual object in a 
usual place, and are not expected to search through items which may endanger their 
own safety.  Items to look for may include, but are not limited to, the following: 

a. Unrecognizable packages; 
b. Ceiling panels which are clearly out of alignment; 
c. Packages from which there are methodical or strange noises; 
d. Packages which smell of gasoline, chemicals, or other noxious odors; 

 
1.2.7 In a school setting, when the announcement to search classrooms is broadcast, the 

teacher should have students place all their personal belongings on their desk and then 
scan the room for any of the items described above.  Personal belongings can then be 
taken with the students upon receiving the order to evacuate. 

 
1.2.8 Special attention should be given to hallways, lobbies, washrooms, stairways, unlocked 

student lockers, chemistry laboratories, cafeterias, tech areas and areas used by staff. 
Common areas must be searched as well as workstations of absentee employees. 

 
1.2.9 Staff/student lockers should not be opened. If a locker search is necessary, it may be 

undertaken after consultation with local police officials; 



9 

 
1.2.10 The outside of the building and parking lot must be included in the search plans by the 

custodial staff and administration after the in-school search.  Most bombs are on the 
outer perimeter of a building (entrances, loading docks, dumpsters). 

 
1.3  If a Suspicious Object/Package Is Not Found 

 
1.3.1 In consultation with police, consider the need for a further, comprehensive search of the 

premises. 
 
1.3.2 Upon being satisfied that no further search is required, communicate to all staff that no 

further action is required. If the premises were evacuated, re-enter the building 
following consultation with the police. 

 
1.3.3 Inform the appropriate Superintendent. 

 
1.4  If a Suspicious Object/Package Is Found 

 
1.4.1 If a suspicious object or package is found, the finder must not attempt to move or 

handle it. Instead, the person designated to stay in the Command Centre must be 
contacted and the following information given: 

 
• location of the object; 
• description of the object;   
• reason it is suspicious; 
• any other useful information 

 
1.4.2 If occupied, the room in which the device is found is to be evacuated calmly and 

quietly.  Avoid panic.  Never tell anyone that there is a bomb in the building. 
 

1.4.3 All gas, oxygen fuel lines shall be cut off at the main switch or valve, if possible. 
 
1.4.4 All doors and windows shall be left open.  Hydro and lights shall be left on. 

 
1.4.5 The Principal or Supervisor must then establish perimeter control of the area and ensure 

that no one approaches, or attempts to move the object, and will endeavor to establish 
ownership of the object. 

 
1.4.6 The custodial staff and administration will ensure that access routes have been searched 

prior to any evacuation and that persons are detailed to direct students along these 
access/exit routes.  Direct supervision must be provided during evacuation and in the 
safe area. (Refer to In-school or Out of School Evacuation Procedure) 

 
1.4.7 There may be a need for special instructions regarding hazardous areas or evacuation 

routes to be avoided because of the existence of a real or suspected danger. 
 



10 

1.4.8 Rooms should be evacuated systematically, starting with adjacent rooms and radiating 
to the farthest, until the whole building has been evacuated. 

 
1.4.9  Evacuate by using the fire alarm if other methods have not been effective. 

1.4.10  Ensure that the evacuation provides a separation of at least 100 metres in all directions 
from the unidentified object. 

 
1.4.11 Ensure that special provisions have been for the transportation of physically challenged 

persons.  
 
1.4.12 Proceed to your designated evacuation site and begin accounting for all persons. 
 
1.4.13 At this point, the building should be relinquished to police for removal and/or defusing 

of the device.  Provide police with the location of the object, and information on the 
most direct route to the object.  Staff, where required, will aid police in securing exits. 

 
1.5  Return to School 

 
1.5.1 Staff and/or students, where applicable, will return to the building on the direction of 

the Principal or Supervisor, after consultation with the local police. 
 
1.5.2 Appropriate reports will be submitted to school authorities and a communication plan 

developed by the Principal or Supervisor in consultation with the Superintendent, for 
example a parental letter or press release, as appropriate.  

 
1.5.3 Media Relations Officers from the Police will be on the scene to provide assistance and 

deal with media inquiries.  Consultation between Police and School Officials is strongly 
recommended prior to issuing any release to the media. 

 
1.5.4 Should the decision be made to cancel classes for that day, the Principal or Supervisor 

can refer to the emergency closing policies and procedures to deal with transportation 
issues and contact the Transportation Consortium. 



11 

A.2  DEALING WITH SUSPICIOUS MAIL OR PARCELS 
 
2.1 What may constitute a suspicious letter or parcel? 
 

A combination of the following may constitute a suspicious mail item: 
 

• Suspicious items may be addressed to specific individuals and could bear restricted 
endorsements such as “Personal”, “Private”, “To be opened only by”, etc. 

• Addressee’s name/title may be inaccurate 
• No return address, or the return address may be fictitious, from a foreign country and/or 

even indecipherable 
• Suspicious items may display distorted handwriting or the name and address may be 

prepared with some home-made labels or cut-and-paste lettering 
• Suspicious items may have protruding wires, aluminum foil, oil, or grease stains on the 

wrapping and can emit a particular odour 
• Cancellation or postmark may indicate a different location than the return address or that 

the item was mailed from a foreign country 
• Excessive amounts of postage using low denominations 
• Excessive binding, taping and tying material 
• Unprofessionally wrapped with several combinations of tape to secure the package and 

may have special endorsements;  “Fragile – Handle with Care”, “Rush – Do Not Delay”, or 
“Special Delivery” 

• Letters may feel rigid or appear uneven or lopsided 
• Parcels may have an irregular shape with soft spots or bulges 
• Parcels may have a buzzing or ticking noise or a sloshing sound 
• Parcels or letters may have a powdery substance observed on the surface of the item 

 
2.2 Remember to look for these indicators: 
 

• Powdery substance visible on exterior 
• No return address 
• Restrictive markings 
• Mailed from a foreign country 
• Excessive postage 
• Misspelled words 
• Addressed to title only 
• Rigid or bulky 
• Badly typed or written 
• Strange odour 
• Protruding wires 
• Excessive wrapping 
• Oily stains on wrapping 
• Lopsided 

 
2.3 What to do when in possession of a suspicious letter or parcel: 



12 

 
• Immediately advise your Principal or Supervisor 
• The Principal or Supervisor will call 911 
• Do not handle, shake or smell the suspicious article 
• Isolate the article and evacuate the immediate vicinity 
• Anyone who has handled the article should immediately wash their hands with soap and 

water 
• Transmitting radios and any electronic equipment should be turned off 
• Record information regarding the characteristics of the package and where it is located 
• Direct employees and students to leave the immediate area 
• The Principal or Supervisor will make a decision on evacuation in consultation with 

emergency personnel 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  



13 

A.3 VIOLENT INCIDENT EMERGENCY RESPONSE PLAN 

Introduction 
 
The following will contain factors to consider before and during a major violent incident.  Planning for 
such an event is difficult due to the explosive nature of the event and the many variables involved.  
Leadership and common sense will be essential in minimizing the risks and maximizing the response 
by emergency personnel.   

Refer to Administrative Guideline:  Reporting Violent Incidents.   

Prior planning 
 
The Emergency Response Kit should be ready and available (Main Office). It should contain all 
necessary records and supplies and should be updated on an annual basis.  It may be necessary to 
update records on a monthly basis.  In school settings, it should also contain the attendance record for 
that day.  The kit should be brought to a designated area assigned as the staging area.  Alternate sites 
should be pre established subject to the nature and location of the threat. 
 
A coded message or announcement by the Principal or Supervisor should be established defining the 
nature and location of the threat. This information should be communicated to all staff as soon as 
possible.  Remember that you may have supply teachers/staff present (they should have been given an 
information sheet). 
 
A prearranged reception area for evacuees must be established.  Once at the location, attendance 
should be taken.  Control of students shall be established by their classroom teacher.  All witnesses 
should be gathered and made available to police as soon as possible.  Assign one person and an 
alternate to coordinate the gathering of witnesses. 

When incident is occurring... 
 
Identify the nature of the incident and the threat level.  Contact 911 and prepare to establish a staging 
area.  Bring the Emergency Response Kit that you have prepared.  Emergency personnel will arrive 
and set up a command post, media liaison center, inner and outer perimeter.  The staging area will be 
outside the outer perimeter.  Communicate the coded emergency message as soon as practicable and 
appropriate. 
 
Evacuation or Lock Down (See Section A.4-A.5) will be a judgment call on the part of the Principal 
or Supervisor in various locations of the building.  Factors to be considered include: 
 

a) The location of the threat; 
b) The nature of the threat; 
c) The mobility of the threat; 
d) A clear means of evacuation that will not cross the path of the threat; 
e) The ability to secure the room/barricade that is being occupied; 
f) Alternate means of evacuation; 



14 

g) The number of students involved; 
h) Are there victims requiring immediate attention; 
i) Is the use of violence random or targeted to any one or several individuals 

 
These are only some considerations.  The common sense, judgment and leadership of staff members 
will determine the appropriate actions to be taken. 
 
Upon Evacuating... 
 
All staff and students who evacuate the premises should immediately attend the predetermined 
evacuation site.  Maintaining control of the students is vital.  Attendance must be taken and records 
compared to the daily attendance and class schedules.  It is vital to account for as many people as 
possible.  A Vice-Principal/Supervisor and an alternate should be assigned the task of gathering any 
witnesses or persons who can provide information to emergency personnel. 
 
Direct families arriving on-site to pre-designated locations where they can receive information.  Have a 
sign-out sheet to monitor which students have been picked up by their parents/guardians.  Do not 
dismiss students to unknown care.  As soon as possible, take a head count to determine which students, 
staff and teachers are accounted for and which ones are not.  To the extent possible, shield students 
from disturbing scenes.  However, do not disturb crime scene evidence.  Have a disposable camera 
available for recording evidence. 
  
Never speculate. Be sure to understand the circumstances surrounding the situation before saying 
anything about it, and to the extent practical, before taking action. Follow all rules about repeating or 
giving out information.   
 
Other duties at the reception center should be assigned to staff members not involved in the direct 
supervision of students. These duties could be pre-assigned with two alternates for each task. They are: 

 
Logistics officer - working with police logistics personnel in obtaining necessities for students;  
Parent liaison - assigned to handling parent inquiries at the reception center; 
Records manager - receiving and processing attendance records; 
Reception area manager - directing the activities in the reception area, overall control of the 
students, ensuring that students are divided into homeroom groups and attendance is taken, other 
duties as necessary. 

The Major Incident Commander from the police will coordinate activities on the scene. The Media 
Liaison Officer from the police will direct and coordinate the handling of the media.  Police will make 
media releases during the crisis.  Releases made upon the conclusion of the crisis will be made after 
consultation with school/Board authorities.  Likewise, school/Board authorities should refrain from 
making any comment to the media without consultation with the police during or subsequent to an 
incident. 



15 

Locking Down 

The decision to remain in a classroom or location that can be secured and barricaded is an option if the 
threat is close proximity and no means of safe exit are available.  Find an area in the room that affords 
good protection and places any solid item that may afford protection between you, students/staff and 
the threat.  Police responding to the incident will become aware of your situation and subsequently find 
you.  They should have a master key in order to gain access to the room.  Do not open the door unless 
you are certain that it does not present a risk to you or others. 

After an incident 
 
The care and well being of everyone involved is a priority.  Attending to victims and victims needs 
will be a team effort, and will include all available resources from the school community, police and 
the community at large.  (CRT should be contacted)  Remember that there will be an investigation into 
the incident.  Anything that may be evidence should not be, moved or disturbed in any way.  Police 
will take control of the premises. 
 
At this time, communication is a priority.  Media management is still a police responsibility. 
Communication with parents is a school responsibility.  Cooperation and consultation on these issues 
is required in order to ensure that a clear and consistent message is given.  Speculation and rumors 
become enemies.  There is time to consult and organize a response that is accurate. 

Conclusion 
 
It is difficult, if not impossible, to plan for a sudden and volatile incident where so many variables are 
present.  However, preparation can maximize the response to any situation and decrease the level of 
confusion that could lead to a greater number of victims.  Consult with police in preparing your plan 
and access the resources that can provide services such as threat assessments, emergency planning, 
staff training and orientation and regular reviews to policies and procedures. 
 

  



16 

3.1 PERSONS WITH WEAPONS 
 
Concerns about persons with weapons on the premises can range from events that can be dealt with 
under the code of behaviour to full-scale emergencies.  The following procedures are recommended, 
depending on the severity of the incident. 
 
All reports of persons with weapons need immediate attention.  Actions may vary depending on the 
type of weapon, who has it, and whether anyone has actually been threatened with the weapon. 
 
If one enters an area where a person is committing a violent incident, DO NOT confront and challenge 
the perpetrator. 

3.1.1 Where weapons such as firearms or knives are reported in the school, the following steps are 
recommended: 

 
• Locate the person who was reported to have a weapon. 

• If possible, verify if a weapon is present, without threat to personal safety. 

• Report to police and to the appropriate Superintendent. 

• Where a weapon is present on the premises and where threats have been made or shots 
fired, the following steps are recommended: 

 
• Evacuate and isolate the danger area.  Ensure that evacuation does not put students or staff 

into areas, which may come under peril or risk.  Put into action your plan for dismissal and 
crowd control. 

• Notify police, provide information. 

• Notify appropriate Superintendent 



17 

3.2 ASSAULT 
 
3.2.1 Assault on Staff: 

For the purpose of this plan, an “assault” is defined as a non-accidental physical injury. 

It is expected that staff members and students will employ all reasonable measures to avoid 
circumstances which can result in incidents of assault. 

A person commits an assault when: 

• without the consent of another person, he/she applies force intentionally to that other person 
directly or indirectly; 

• he/she attempts or threatens by an act or a gesture to apply force to another person if he/she 
has, or caused the other person to believe on reasonable grounds that he/she has present 
ability to affect his/her purpose. 

Recommended Procedures 

When an employee has been the subject of an assault, the following steps should be taken: 

• The accused will be removed from the presence of the employee as quickly and safely as 
possible; 

• The employee shall be advised of his/her right to contact the police; 

• In the event of a physical assault, medical attention of a physician should be sought as soon 
as possible; 

• The employee shall be advised to contact his/her union; 

• At the earliest opportunity, the employee must inform his/her Principal or immediate 
Supervisor who in turn must inform the appropriate Superintendent; 

• At the discretion of the Superintendent of Business, legal advice may be sought from the 
board lawyer on behalf of the Board and employee; 

• The Superintendent of Business shall inform the employee of the support of the Board 
through the Employee Assistance Plan, the availability of legal advice and the access to 
leave for recovery; 

• In all cases, the Principal/Supervisor shall submit a detailed report of the series of events to 
the appropriate Superintendent, including when police are called.  Employee’s Report of 
Accident Form must be submitted to Human Resources, who shall in turn forward a copy to 
the Health and Safety Officer. 



18 

 
3.2.2   Assault on Student: 
 

Principals are to follow the procedures of the Safe Schools Act. 
 

• The alleged offender and the student will be separated as quickly and safely as possible. 

• The Principal or Supervisor shall ensure the student receives proper medical attention for 
any injuries sustained during the alleged assault and advise the parent(s)/guardian(s) of the 
incident. 

• An Ontario School Boards’ Insurance Exchange (OSBIE) Incident Report Form shall be 
completed and the Health and Safety Officer notified. 

 
3.2.3 Assault by Staff: 
 

• The Principal or Supervisor shall advise the accused of the fact that an investigation into 
allegations will be carried out and that he/she should contact his/her union if applicable. 

• In consultation with the appropriate supervisory officer, consideration shall be given to the 
immediate removing of the accused from the situation where the incident occurred 

• The Principal’s report to the Superintendent may recommend one of the following options: 

i) transfer and reassignment of employee to another work situation 

ii) transfer to a position where there is no contact with the assaulted employee 

iii)  suspension with pay 

iv)  suspension without pay 

• Beyond this point, an investigation will be conducted by the Director or Designate  

• Ontario School Boards’ Insurance Exchange and the Health and Safety Officer should be 
informed of the incident.  

 
3.2.4 Assault by Student: 
 

When the accused is a student, action shall be taken in accordance with the local school 
Discipline Policy and Code of Behaviour, and the Safe Schools Act. 

Where the accused is from outside the school whether on official business, visiting under the 
visitor’s policy or under any other circumstances, the police must be called.  



19 

3.3 TERRORIST ACTIVITIES 
 
Terrorism is the unlawful use of force or violence committed by a group or individual, against persons 
or property, to intimidate or coerce a government, the civilian population, or any segment thereof. 
 
Terrorists have the fanatical belief that what actions they take are right, true, glorified and justified 
while: 

• Making a political statement 
• Drawing attention to a cause 
• Undermining a sense of security 
• Undermining confidence in a government 
• Disrupting the economy or infrastructure 

 
Terrorists mean to intimidate with fear so they can get their own way.  The terror and fear is meant to 
last a lifetime. 
 
What to look for: 
 

• Anything suspicious, unusual, not normal 
• People acting strange, nervous 
• Suspicious activities 
• Strange vehicles 

 
What to do: 
 

• Remain calm, do not panic 
• Call 911 and follow directions 
• Follow lock-down procedures unless notified otherwise 
• Ignore bells.  If possible, turn off bells. 
• In a potentially violent situation, staff members should not endanger their own person but focus 

primarily on the safety of the students and alert the appropriate Superintendent of the potential 
danger. 

• Do not confront any individual or group 
• Students/staff should be kept in the safest areas indoors (on the floor). 
• Do not allow movement until police give approval 

 
  



20 

3.4 HOSTAGE TAKING 
 
The first staff member to identify the situation should: 
 

• Turn off bells, if possible. 
 

• Secure and isolate the immediate area where possible by removing all uninvolved students and 
staff and by preventing unauthorized entry to the area. 

 
• Notify the Principal/Supervisor by the quickest possible means. 

 
• The Principal/Supervisor shall phone 911 and follow their direction.  The appropriate 

Superintendent should also be contacted, along with the Health and Safety Officer. 
 

• Follow lock-down procedures, unless notified otherwise. 
 

• If possible, establish the number of hostages and captors involved and the type and quantity of 
weapons involved, if any. 

 
• Make specific notes of any threats or demands made by the captors. 

 
• Take whatever action is necessary to contain the situation in order to avoid injury or death to 

the hostages until help arrives. 
 

• Establish the medical condition of the hostages. 
 

• All communications with the media will be made in accordance to the Administrative 
Guideline:  Communicating with the Media. 

 
• The following information should be obtained: 

 
• Precise location of the area controlled by hostage takers 
• Floor plan of the area 
• Identification and description of the hostages and of the captors, if known 
• Details about any vehicle used by the captors 
• Location and extension numbers of any telephones in the hostage area 

 
 
  



21 

 
A.4 EMERGENCY EVACUATION PLAN 
 
If there is a need to evacuate the building for a prolonged period of time, the following procedures will 
be employed: 
 
4.1 IN-BUILDING EVACUATION  
 
In the case of an in-building emergency evacuation, the staff will be informed by the Principal or 
Supervisor of the locations and each class/employee is to proceed to the designated evacuation site. 
 
4.1.1 The Principal or Supervisor with the assistance of the Emergency Response Team and other 

agencies will direct the evacuation. 
 

4.1.2 Staff will be instructed to evacuate students and/or staff to any of the following in-
building sites. 

 
• Auditorium 
• Gym 
• Cafeteria 
• Or other designated area 

 
4.1.3 Teachers will bring their classes in an orderly fashion to the required location and keep their 

classes together.  The teacher will bring a class and/or attendance list and take attendance once 
they arrive at the proper location. 

 
4.1.4 Students who are at-large in the school will be instructed to proceed to a required location and 

an assigned staff member will take their attendance. 
 
4.1.5 Staff members will be instructed by the Principal or Supervisor when they may return to class 

or leave the building. 
 

 
4.2 OUT-OF-BUILDING EVACUATION 
 
In the case of an out-of-building emergency evacuation, the staff will be informed by the Principal or 
Supervisor of the locations to proceed to.  Follow the same procedures outlined in Section 9.4. 
 
4.2.1 The Principal or Supervisor with the assistance of the Emergency Response Team and other 

agencies will direct the evacuation. 
 
4.2.2 The teachers will be instructed to evacuate students to a designated out of school site as per  

Section B.2. 
 



22 

4.2.3 Teachers will bring their class in an orderly fashion to the required location and keep their class 
together.  The teacher will bring a class list and take attendance once they arrive at the proper 
location. 

 
4.2.4 Students that are at-large in the school will be instructed to proceed to a required location and 

an assigned staff member will take their attendance. 
 
4.2.5 Staff members will be instructed by the Principal or Supervisor when they may return to school 

or release their students. 
 
4.3 EVACUATION PLAN FOR PHYSICALLY CHALLENGED STUDENTS 
 

To assist with the evacuation plan for physically challenged students, guidelines are set out as 
follows: 
 

4.3.1 Identify all such students within the school and maintain a list with names, nature of disability, 
special medical information and updated timetables (amended each semester); 

4.3.2 Assign staff to be responsible for the evacuation for each identified student; assigned staff 
should not have other emergency duties; 

4.3.3 Such students should remain in designated areas (ie. on stair landings, beyond fire doors) until 
assigned staff are able to effect the evacuation; alternative waiting areas should be identified; 

4.3.4 Outside of the school such students should be taken to a centrally identified area; 

4.3.5 All school staff should be made aware of the evacuation plan, in semestered programs it should 
be reviewed each semester so that all staff remain aware of it; 

4.3.6. Parents/guardians of such students are to be advised in writing of this plan.  They can provide 
information on how the student can best be assisted or moved and if there are any special 
considerations or items that need to come with them. 

4.3.7 Always remove disabled from their wheelchairs before lifting them, e.g. at a stairwell. This is a 
standard practice to ensure the safety of disabled people and volunteers. Wheelchairs can be 
reclaimed later, if possible. 

4.3.8 Certain lifts may need to be modified for emergency use, depending on the disabilities of 
persons involved; 

4.3.9 Students with disabilities may require an evacuation chair.  Check with parent/guardian and if 
using such a device, ensure the student is secured properly. 

 



23 

A.5 HOLD AND SECURE 
 
5.1 HOLD AND SECURE INTERNAL: EVENT OCCURRING INSIDE THE SCHOOL 
FOR EITHER SAFETY OR MEDICAL 
 
Purpose: To reduce all traffic in common areas of the school so as to preserve the dignity of the person 
involved in the safety or medical event.  
 
“Hold and Secure Inside” should be used when it is desirable to empty hallways, foyers and entrances 
due to an ongoing situation inside the school (e.g., if a staff or student has suffered any injury and 
paramedics are required to enter the school). In this situation, the school continues to function 
normally; classroom doors are shut and teaching/learning continues. Students who may be outside on 
recess or learning outside do not need to come in unless specifically directed by the principal to do so. 
Classroom activities can continue as normal. 
 
 
5.2 HOLD AND SECURE EXTERNAL: EVENT OR POTENTIAL THREAT EXISTS 
OUTSIDE OF THE SCHOOL 
 
Purpose: To protect staff and students from an exterior situation that may be happening in close 
proximity, but does not involve school personnel. 
 
“Hold and Secure Outside” should be used when it is desirable to secure the school due to an ongoing 
situation outside and not related to the school (e.g., if a bank robbery occurs near a school but not on 
school property). In this situation, the school continues to function normally with the exterior doors 
being locked until such a time as the situation near the school is resolved. Students playing outside or 
learning outside should proceed back to their classrooms. Classrooms activities can continue as 
normal. 

 
  



24 

A.6 LOCK-DOWN PLAN  
 
Lock-down drill to be held once a year.  Once the announcement is made to lock down the building, 
the following procedures will be implemented. 
 
DISREGARD FIRE ALARMS AND BELLS DURING LOCK-DOWN UNLESS OTHERWISE 
INFORMED. 
 
5.1 Staff will secure their classrooms/departments. 
 

5.1.1 If any students/staff are in the hallway near your classroom/department, bring them into 
your secured room. 

5.1.2 Lock the door(s).  If the door does not lock, find a way to secure it using a door wedge, 
chair, desks piled up against it, etc. 

5.1.3 Close all windows and blinds and move away from them. 
5.1.4   Maintain order, remain calm, and explain the rational for the lock-down with your 

students/staff. 
5.1.5 Do not let any students/staff leave your classroom/department until instructed to by an 

announcement from the Principal or Supervisor. 
5.1.6 Cell phones should be used to provide emergency assistance only. 

 
5.2 All staff and students should vacate the hallways and proceed to a secure area. 

 
5.2.1 The staff and students will be instructed to proceed to a secure area. 
5.2.2 Staff in common areas such as the staff room should secure all doors. 
5.2.3 Staff will be contacted by the Principal or Supervisor to ensure all rooms are secured. 

 
 
NOTE: It is imperative that attendance is taken and all classes are kept together for their safety.  
If possible, inform their families of their location in a crisis. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



25 

A.7 INJURIES 
 
 

6.1 Provide first aid. 
 

Post a list of staff members who have first aid certificates, locations of first aid kits and 
emergency phone numbers.  Ensure that adequate first aid supplies are available in the school.  
Main first aid kit should be in an area accessible by all staff. 

 
6.2 Keep the injured person under observation to ensure that injuries are not more severe than they 

might at first appear. 

a)  In minor cases, first aid treatment at the school/office will suffice. 

b)  In slightly more severe cases, first aid should be followed up by a recommendation to 
parents for a medical examination. 

c)  In severe cases, an ambulance must be called.  Check health record and health card 
number.  Please accompany students to hospital. 

6.3 Parents need to be informed of injuries as soon as possible keeping in mind that medical 
attention takes priority over communications.     

 
6.4 In the event of an accident involving the head, notify parents immediately: 

 
Any person who suffers a head injury should be referred to hospital for emergency medical 
assessment and care.  (If an ambulance is called and parents are not accompanying ambulance, 
please accompany the ambulance driver, or have a staff member follow ambulance to the 
hospital to provide information on the injury.) A head injury may appear minor at first but 
symptoms may come on slowly over a 24 – 48 hour period.  The hospital will send instructions, 
on a card, home with child’s parent or friend for a 24-hour observation period. 

 
Observe person for a 24-hour period.  If any of the following occur following a head injury, 
take the individual immediately to an Emergency Department. 

 
1. Increased drowsiness. 
2. Difficulty in rousing person (should be awakened every 2 hours during the first night). 
3. Vomiting/nausea. 
4. Continued or increasing headache. 
5. Continued stiff neck. 
6. Bleeding or clear fluid dripping from ears or nose. 
7. Weakness of arms or legs. 
8. Convulsions. 
9. Disruption of vision, eg. blurring. 

 



26 

6.5 The appropriate Supervisor or Superintendent, and the Health and Safety Officer should be 
notified. 

6.6 If necessary, the CRT should be notified. 

6.7 If structural school damage or plant failure has caused injuries, evacuation may be required.  
Follow evacuation procedures. 

6.8 Try to determine severity of injuries.  Use trusted and capable staff (first aiders) to help comfort 
victims and render simple first aid.  Do not move anyone unnecessarily.  Try to categorize 
injuries so that you can assist ambulance attendants to take out most immediate cases first. 

6.9 Be aware of Poison Control telephone number: 1.800.268.9017 

6.10 In the event of multiple injuries, evacuation procedures may be required. 

6.11 In the event of bus accidents, please refer to Administrative Guideline:  Transportation:  School 
Bus Accidents Procedures. 

6.12 Follow Administrative Guideline:  Communicating with the Media. 

6.13 For further information regarding completion of accident forms and investigation procedures 
for Ontario School Boards Insurance Exchange (OSBIE), Workplace Safety and Insurance 
Board (WSIB) and the Ministry of Labour (MOL), please refer to Administrative Guideline:  
Reporting and Investigation of Accidents or contact the Health and Safety Officer. 



27 

A.8 SUICIDE/LOSS OF LIFE 

For more detailed information, refer to the Suicide Risk Management Administrative Guideline 

 
 
 

https://www.nearnorthschools.ca/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Safe-Schools-Suicide-Risk-Management.pdf


28 

 
  



29 

A.9 ENVIRONMENTAL HAZARDS 

8.1 Fire 

Fire procedures need to follow the evacuation policy for the school. 

8.2 Environmental Hazards 
 

Where environmental hazards occur, such as chemical spill etc., consideration needs to be 
given to location of staff and students to avoid their exposure to fumes, etc. 

In such cases: 

8.2.1. Contact the Health and Safety Officer.  She will in turn notify appropriate Ministry 
branches.  If her absence, environmental spills can be reported to:  1.800.268.6060. 

8.2.2 If necessary, inform local police department and local fire department or call 911. 

8.2.3 Contact appropriate Superintendent. 

8.2.4 Seek advice on whether school evacuation would enhance or imperil security. 

8.2.5 Contact Transportation Consortia if necessary at 472.8840 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



30 

A.10 FIRE SAFETY PLAN 
 

 
THIS OFFICIAL DOCUMENT IS TO BE KEPT READILY AVAILABLE ON SITE 

IN THE PRINCIPAL’S OFFICE AND CUSTODIAN’S OFFICE AT ALL TIMES 
FOR USE BY FIRE OFFICIALS IN THE EVENT OF AN EMERGENCY 

 
INDEX 

 
Main Heading 
 
Introduction  
 
Section 1 Building Resources Audit 
 
Section 2 Human Resources Audit 
 
Section 3 Emergency Procedures and related duties 
 3.1 Students 
 3. 2 Head Custodian 
 3.3 Principal 
 3.4 Teacher/Occasional Teacher 
 3.5 Extra-Curricular occupants (after hours) 
 
Section 4 Fire Hazards 
 
Section 5 Extinguishment, Control and Confinement  
 
Section 6 Alternative Measures of Occupant Fire safety 
 
Section 7 Fire Drills 
 
Section 8 Maintenance Requirements of Building Fire and Life Safety Systems 
 
Section 9 Fire Protection Measures 
 
Section 10  Floor Plan Drawings 
 
Section 11  Suspected Gas Leak 
  



31 

Introduction 
 
The Ontario Fire Code, Section 2.8 requires the implementation of a FIRE SAFETY PLAN for your 
building/occupancy. The plan is to be kept in the building in an approved location.  
 
The implementation of the Fire Safety Plan helps to ensure effective utilization of life safety features in 
a building to protect people from fire. The required Fire Safety Plan should be designed to suit the 
resources of each individual building or complex of buildings. It is the responsibility of the owner to 
ensure that the information contained within the Fire Safety Plan is accurate and complete. The Fire 
Code defines “OWNER” as “any person, firm or corporation controlling the property under 
consideration”. Consequently, owners may be managers, maintenance staff and tenant groups. 
 
The Fire Protection and Prevention Act Part VII, Section 28, states that in the case of an offence for 
contravention of the fire code, a corporation is liable to a fine of not more than $100,000 and an 
individual is liable to a fine of not more than $50,000 or imprisonment for a term of not more than one 
year or both. 
 
This official document is to be kept readily available at all times for use by staff and fire officials in the 
event of an emergency. 
 
The fire safety plan approved location is:__________________________ 
 
SUBMISSION PROCEDURES 
 
At least two (2) typed copies of the Plan (8 1/2 X 11 format) must be submitted to the Chief Fire 
Official. Upon approval, one copy will be returned to the author and one copy will be retained by the 
Fire Department. 
 
The Chief Fire Official is to be notified regarding any subsequent changes in the approved Fire Safety 
Plan. 
 
The Fire Safety Plan shall be reviewed as often as is necessary, but at intervals not greater than 
12 months, to ensure that it takes into account changes in the use and other characteristics of the 
building. If there are no changes to the plan, please forward a statement to the Fire Department 
indicating so. 
 
  



32 

SECTION 1 Building Resources Audit 
 

Building Information 
School name.:       School Construction Type: (combustible or non-

combustible       
 Address:       

City: North Bay Postal Code:       
Number of Stories:       Building Area:         meters square 
School Facilities 
Do you have a parking garage?  
Yes          No  
 
 
 

Do you have an elevator?  
Yes          No  
Automatic Recall Yes   No  
Manual Recall     Yes   No  

Is there a firefighter 
elevator?  
Yes          No  

Do you have smoke control devices? Yes  No  
 
Magnetic hold open devices on doors? Yes No  
 

Is there interior roof access?  
Yes          No  
Where?       

Do all stairwells exit to the exterior?  
Yes          No   If no explain?       
 

Do you have hazardous materials stored on site? 
 Yes          No      If yes, list the materials and there quantities:       
   
 

Building Access 
 Lock Box   CHUBB Location:       
 Entry Code        Other Type  

Onsite Building Information 
  Fire Safety Plan Location:        
  WHMIS Information  Location:        
  Other       Location:        

  
Occupant Load 
Students/Occupants Total Number:        Daytime approx. Number:         
 Evenings approx. Number:        

 
 



33 

ALARMS & EVACUATION SYSTEMS 
Alarm Systems 

  Main Fire Alarm Control Panel  Location:      
  Annunciator Panel Location Location(s):      

Type of Alarm (Check the appropriate box below.) 
  Single Stage Fire Alarm System 

Make:                                                      Model:       
 
 

  Security/Intrusion    Partial System   Sprinkler System used as Fire Alarm 

Fire Protection Devices (Check any that are present in your building) 
  Smoke Alarms (Battery or hardwired units)   Emergency Lighting (Battery powered) 
  Smoke Detectors (Alarm System)  Carbon Monoxide Detectors 
  Heat Detectors   Fire Extinguishers 
  Evacuation Communications System (PA)   Voice Communication System 
  Commercial Kitchen Hood Suppression System   Exit Signs (internally illuminated) 

Evacuation  Information 
  Meeting Place (Location occupants assemble immediately after leaving building during evacuation.) 

Location:       
  Areas of Refuge: (Shelter if necessary)       

Re-Entry Procedures: (Wait for approval from Fire Official)      
 
FIRE PROTECTION 

Water Supply 
Is there a fire hydrant within 90 meters of your buildings front door?  Yes          No  
If you answered no, is there another year round source of water on your property (swimming pool, reservoir,  
pond, etc…)?  Yes         No   
If you answered no to both questions, immediately contact Fire Prevention at 474-0400 

Sprinkler System 
Do you have a sprinkler system in your building? Yes          No   (If no, go to next entry.) 
If yes, does it cover your whole building? Yes          No  
If no, what areas are sprinklered?       

If you have a sprinkler system in your building, the following devices must be indicated on the diagram of your building: 
Fire Department Connection (Siamese) Connection, Sprinkler Control Room, Fire Pump(s), Main Control Valve, Isolation 
Control Valve(s), and Post Indicator Valve(s). 
Is your sprinkler connected to the Fire Alarm? Yes          No  
If no, is there a water gong or other alerting device to indicate water flow? Yes          No  
If no, immediately contact Fire Prevention at 474-5662 
  Standpipe System                                                                        
Do you have a standpipe system in your building?  (Fire hose cabinets) Yes          No  (If no, go to next entry.) 
If yes, does it cover your whole building? Yes          No  
If no, what areas are covered?       
Do your fire hose cabinets have fire extinguishers? Yes          No  
How are the hose cabinet doors opened if they are locked or fastened?       
If you have a standpipe system in your building, the following devices must be indicated on the diagram of your building: 
Fire Department Connection (Siamese) Connection, Hose Cabinets, and Main Shut Off Valve. 

Fixed Extinguishing Systems 
Area Protected Type Specify Details 

 Kitchen/Commercial (NFPA 96)             

 Spray Booth              

 Other                    

Extinguishing System connected to Fire Alarm    Yes   :  No  



34 

UTILITY PROVISIONS 
Electrical, Utility & Fuel Supplies 

 Water Main Shut off   Main Electrical Shut off 
 Natural Gas Shut off  Fuel Oil/Diesel Shut off 
 Emergency Generator Location:       

All the above items must be indicated on your building diagram. 

Refuse 
 Sprinkler Coverage 

 Garbage Room Location:        Yes 
 Garbage Chute Location:        Yes 
 Garbage Compactor Location:        Yes 
 Garbage Exterior Storage Location:        

All the above items must be indicated on your building diagram. 

 
 

  



35 

SECTION 2: Human Resources Audit 
 

Ownership 
Building Owner:      Phone: Res: (   )      Cell: (   )      

Address:      Bus :(   )      Ext:      

City:      Postal Code:      Fax :(   )      Pager :(   )      
Email:       

Keyholders (enter keyholder information in the order of priority for contacting) 
1. Same as 1  or 2    listed above. (If the same check the appropriate box.) 
Name:           Phone: Res: (   )      Cell :(   )      
Position:        Bus :(   )      Ext:      
Address:       Fax :(   )      Pager :(   )      

2. Same as 1  or 2   listed above. (If the same check the appropriate box.) 
Name:           Phone: Res: (   )      Cell :(   )      
Position:        Bus :(   )      Ext:      
Address:                    Fax :(   )      Pager :(   )      

3. Same as 1  or 2   listed above. (If the same check the appropriate box.) 
Name:           Phone: Res: (   )      Cell :(   )      
Position:        Bus: (   )      Ext:      
Address:       Fax: (   )      Pager :(   )      

4. Same as 1  or 2   listed above. (If the same check the appropriate box.) 
Name:          Phone: Res: (   )      Cell :(   )      
Position:       Bus: (   )      Ext:      
Address:      Fax: (   )      Pager :(   )      

  5. Same as 1  or 2   listed above. (If the same check the appropriate box.) 
Name:           Phone: Res: (   )      Cell :(   )      
Position:        Bus: (   )      Ext:      
Address:       Fax: (   )      Pager :(   )      

 

FIRE ALARM 
   

      Phone No.       

SPRINKLER MONITORING 
 

      Phone No.       

 
 
Important reminder – if there is any change to personnel you must make the change on this page 
immediately and ensure the change is reflected in your document that is located in your Fire 
Safety Plan box at the entrance of the building.  Also, please forward the change to the Fire 
Inspector assigned to your case. 
 
  



36 

SECTION 3: Emergency Procedures and Related Duties 
 
3.1: Students 
 
THE ACTIONS TO BE TAKEN BY STUDENTS IN EMERGENCY SITUATIONS 
SHALL BE POSTED IN EACH ROOM AND AT ALL FIRE ALARM SYSTEM PULL 
STATIONS AND EXITS.  THE INSTRUCTIONS SHALL READ AS FOLLOWS: 
 

IN CASE OF FIRE 
 

    UPON DISCOVERY OF FIRE 
 

• LEAVE FIRE AREA IMMEDIATELY 
 

• CLOSE DOORS 
 

• SOUND FIRE ALARM 
 

• LEAVE BUILDING VIA NEAREST EXIT 
 

• CALL 911 
 
 
 
    UPON HEARING FIRE ALARM 
 

• LEAVE BUILDING VIA NEAREST EXIT 
 

• CLOSE DOOR BEHIND YOU 
 
 

C A U T I O N 
 

IF SMOKE IS HEAVY IN THE CORRIDOR IT MAY BE 
SAFER TO STAY IN YOUR AREA.  CLOSE DOOR AND 

ATTEMPT TO SEAL OFF ANY CRACKS. 
 

IF YOU ENCOUNTER SMOKE IN THE STAIRWAY, USE 
ALTERNATE EXIT. 

 
 

Decals with this information can be purchased from the ‘Fire Marshal’s 
Public Fire Safety Council’s Distribution Centre.’  toll free: 866-379-6668 
  



37 

 
3.2 Head Custodian or designate 

 
+ ENSURE THAT THE FIRE ALARM HAS BEEN ACTIVATED 

 
+ NOTIFY THE PRINCIPAL OF THE EMERGENCY CONDITIONS 

 
+ Dial: 9-1-1 

 
+ UPON ARRIVAL OF FIRE FIGHTERS, INFORM THE FIRE OFFICER REGARDING 
CONDITIONS IN THE BUILDING. 

 
+ PROVIDE ACCESS AND VITAL INFORMATION TO THE FIREFIGHTERS (E.G. 
MASTER KEYS FOR CLASSROOMS, SERVICE ROOMS, ETC.) 

 
+ ENSURE THAT THE FIRE ALARM SYSTEM IS NOT SILENCED UNTIL THE FIRE 
DEPARTMENT HAS RESPONDED AND THE CAUSE OF THE ALARM HAS BEEN 
 INVESTIGATED. 

 
+ SILENCE AND RESET THE FIRE ALARM SYSTEM AT THE FIRE ALARM CONTROL 
 PANEL WHEN DIRECTED TO DO SO BY THE FIRE DEPARTMENT.  THE FIRE 
 DEPARTMENT WILL NOT SILENCE OR RESET THE FIRE ALARM SYSTEM.  
THE  FIRE ALARM CONTROL PANEL HAS ALARM SILENCING AND ALARM RESET 
 BUTTONS.  THE FIRE ALARM CONTROL PANEL IS LOCATED IN:       
  



38 

3.3 Principal 
 
TRAINING OF PRINCIPALS SHALL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE BOARD OF 
EDUCATION AND HE/SHE WILL DISCUSS ALL ASPECTS OF THE FIRE SAFETY PLAN AS 
IT APPLIES TO THE FIRE CODE.  THE PRINCIPAL SHALL BE INSTRUCTED ON HOW TO 
TRAIN HIS/HER STAFF ON SITE, AS IT WOULD APPLY TO A PARTICULAR BUILDING. 
           
 
IN THE EVENT OF A FIRE: 

 
+ ENSURE THAT THE FIRE ALARM HAS BEEN ACTIVATED 

 
+ NOTIFY THE FIRE DEPARTMENT OF THE EMERGENCY CONDITIONS 
 
+ DIAL:  9-1-1 

 
+ ARRANGE FOR THE HEAD CUSTODIAN OR HIS DESIGNATE TO CONTACT THE FIRE 
DEPARTMENT IN YOUR ABSENCE  

 
+SUPERVISE THE EVACUATION OF THE STUDENTS 

 
+ SEE THAT THE ALARM SYSTEM IS NOT SILENCED UNTIL THE FIRE DEPARTMENT   
HAS RESPONDED AND THE CAUSE OF THE ALARM HAS BEEN INVESTIGATED. 
 
IN GENERAL 
KEEP DOORS TO STAIRWAYS CLOSED AT ALL TIMES.  USE OF WEDGES TO HOLD 
CORRIDOR AND STAIRWELL DOORS OPEN IS PROHIBITED. 
 
KEEP STAIRWAYS, LANDINGS, HALLWAYS, PASSAGEWAYS AND EXITS, INSIDE    AND 
OUTSIDE; CLEAR OF ANY OBSTRUCTIONS AT ALL TIMES. 
 
DO NOT PERMIT COMBUSTIBLE WASTE MATERIALS TO ACCUMULATE IN QUANTITIES 
OR LOCATIONS WHICH WILL CONSTITUTE A FIRE HAZARD. 
 
PROMPTLY REMOVE ALL COMBUSTIBLE WASTE FROM ALL AREAS WHERE WASTE IS 
PLACED FOR DISPOSAL. 
 
KEEP ACCESS ROADWAYS, FIRE ROUTES AND FIRE PUMPER CONNECTIONS CLEAR 
AND ACCESSIBLE FOR FIRE DEPARTMENT USE. 
  



39 

HAVE A WORKING KNOWLEDGE OF THE FIRE ALARM SYSTEM AND HOW TO RESET 
THE FIRE ALARM PANEL. 
IN THE EVENT OF ANY SHUTDOWN OF FIRE PROTECTION EQUIPMENT NOTIFY THE 
FIRE DEPARTMENT AND YOUR MANAGER AND PATROL THE HALLWAYS ONCE EVERY 
HOUR. 
 
DESIGNATE A SUBSTITUTE IN YOUR ABSENCE 
 
PARTICIPATE IN FIRE DRILLS:  STUDENTS AND STAFF PARTICIPATION IS MANDATORY 
 
ESTABLISH EMERGENCY PROCEDURES TO BE FOLLOWED AT THE TIME OF AN  
              EMERGENCY 
 
APPOINT AND ORGANIZE DESIGNATED SUPERVISORY STAFF TO CARRY OUT FIRE 
SAFETY DUTIES 
 
INSTRUCT TEACHING STAFF SO THAT THEY ARE AWARE OF THEIR RESPONSIBILITIES 
FOR FIRE SAFETY 
 
PROVIDE ALTERNATIVE MEASURES FOR SAFETY OF OCCUPANTS DURING SHUTDOWN 
OF FIRE PROTECTION EQUIPMENT 
 
ASSURE THAT CHECKS, INSPECTIONS AND TESTS, AS REQUIRED BY THE FIRE CODE, 
ARE COMPLETED ON SCHEDULE AND THAT RECORDS ARE RETAINED. 
 
NOTIFY THE CHIEF FIRE OFFICIAL REGARDING CHANGES IN THE FIRE SAFETY           
PLAN. 
 
BE IN COMPLETE CHARGE OF THE APPROVED FIRE SAFETY PLAN AND THE SPECIFIC 
RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE PERSONNEL. 
 
DESIGNATE AND TRAIN SUFFICIENT ASSISTANTS TO ACT IN THIS POSITION. 
 
EDUCATE AND TRAIN ALL TEACHING PERSONNEL IN THE USE OF THE EXISTING FIRE 
SAFETY EQUIPMENT, AND IN THE ACTIONS TO BE TAKEN UNDER THE APPROVED FIRE 
SAFETY PLAN. 
 
SURVEY THE BUILDING TO DETERMINE THE NUMBER OF EXITS AVAILABLE FROM 
EACH FLOOR OR AREA. 
 
PREPARE AND POST ON EACH FLOOR OR AREA, A SCHEMATIC AND EMERGENCY 
PROCEDURE FOR USE BY THE OCCUPANTS OF EACH EXIT, PRIMARY AND 
SECONDARY, IN CASE OF EVACUATION. 
  



40 

ENSURE THAT THE SCHEMATIC DIAGRAMS SHOW TYPE, LOCATION AND OPERATION 
OF ALL BUILDING FIRE EMERGENCY SYSTEMS, (E.G. LOCATION OF FIRE ALARM 
CONTROL PANEL AND FIRE HOSE CABINETS). 
 
ENSURE A COPY OF THE FIRE SAFETY PLAN IS KEPT IN THE MAIN OFFICE AND 
CUSTODIAL ROOM. 
 
ENSURE A PROCEDURE IS IN PLACE TO EVACUATE ENDANAGERED OCCUPANTS SUCH 
AS INDIVIDUALS WITH SPECIAL NEEDS AND INCLUDE ALTERNATE MEANS OF EGRESS 
FOR ALL PERSONS INVOLVED.  INCLUDE IN THE FIRE SAFETY PLAN SPECIFIC DETAILS 
ON HOW THESE INDIVIDUALS WILL BE CARED FOR/EVACUATED IN THE EVENT OF AN 
EMERGENCY. 
 
IF THE SCHOOL CONTAINS AN ORGANIZED DAYCARE INCLUDE THIS IN THE 
SCHEMATICS.  (THEY ARE REQUIRED TO SUBMIT A SEPARATE FIRE SAFETY PLAN). 
  



41 

3.4 Teacher/Occasional Teacher 
 
IN THE EVENT OF A FIRE: 
 
+ ENSURE THAT THE FIRE ALARM HAS BEEN ACTIVATED 
 
+ SUPERVISE THE EVACUATION OF THE STUDENTS IN YOUR RESPONSIBILITY 
 
+ PERFORM HEAD COUNTS TO ENSURE ALL STUDENTS ARE ACCOUNTED FOR 
 
+ REPORT TO PRINCIPAL ANY DISCREPANCIES. 
 

 
5.5 Extra-Curricular Occupants (after hours) 
 
IN THE EVENT OF A FIRE: 
 
+ENSURE THAT THE FIRE ALARM HAS BEEN ACTIVATED 
 
+SUPERVISE THE EVACUATION OF PEOPLE IN YOUR RESPONSIBILITY 
 
+PERFORM HEAD COUNTS TO ENSURE ALL PEOPLE ARE ACCOUNTED FOR 
 
+REPORT TO FIRE DEPARTMENT ANY DISCREPANCIES 
 
  



42 

SECTION 4: Fire Hazards 
 

Fire Hazards 
 

 

IN ORDER TO AVOID FIRE HAZARDS IN THE BUILDING 
 
• DO NOT PUT BURNING MATERIALS INTO GARBAGE CANS 
 
• AVOID UNSAFE COOKING PRACTISES. (I.E. DEEP FAT FRYING), TOO MUCH 

HEAT, UNATTENDED STOVES, LOOSELY HANGING SLEEVES 
 
• DO NOT USE UNSAFE ELECTRICAL APPLIANCES, FRAYED EXTENSION 

CORDS, OVER-LOADED OUTLETS OR LAMP WIRE FOR PERMANENT 
WIRING. 

 
• PROPERLY STORE FLAMMABLE MATERIALS IN APPROVED CONTAINERS 

AND LOCKED, METAL CABINETS. 
 
 
IN GENERAL, STUDENTS AND STAFF ARE ADVISED TO 
 
• KEEP FIRE ROUTES CLEAR 
 
• KNOW WHERE THE ALARM PULL STATIONS AND EXITS ARE LOCATED. 
 
• IN THE CASE OF AN EMERGENCY CALL:  9-1-1 
 
• KNOW THE CORRECT BUILDING ADDRESS: 
 
Address:        

 
 
  



43 

SECTION 5: Fire Extinguishment – Control – Confinement 
 

Fire Extinguishment - Control - Confinement 
 

In the event a small fire cannot be extinguished with the use of a portable fire extinguisher or the 
smoke presents a hazard for the operator, the door to the area must be closed to confine and contain the 
fire. Leave the fire area. Ensure that the Fire Alarm System has been activated and that North Bay Fire 
and Emergency Services have been notified prior to an attempt to extinguish the fire. Only those 
persons who are trained and familiar with extinguisher operation may attempt to fight the fire. 
 
Suggested Operation of Portable Fire Extinguishers 

 
Remember the PASS 
P - Pull the safety pin 
A - Aim the nozzle 
S - Squeeze the trigger handle 

S - Sweep from side to side aiming at base of fire (watch for fire restarting) 
 
 
Never re-hang extinguishers after use. Ensure they are properly recharged by a person that is 
qualified to service portable fire extinguishers and that a replacement extinguisher is provided. 
 
Mount extinguishers in a visible area without obstructions around them. 
 
NOTE:  Prior to using a K-type extinguisher, activate the kitchen extinguishing system. 
 
 
  



44 

SECTION 6: Alternative Measures for Occupant Fire Safety 
 

Alternative Measures for Occupant Fire Safety 
 

In the event of any shut-down of fire protection equipment systems or part thereof, in 
excess of 24 hours, the fire department shall be notified in writing. Occupants will be 
notified and instructions will be posted at each floor level and at each exit and elevator with 
respect to alternative provisions or actions to be taken in case of emergency. These provisions 
and actions must be acceptable to the Chief Fire Official. 

All attempts to minimize the impact of malfunctioning equipment will be initiated. Where 
portions of a sprinkler or fire alarm system are placed out of service, service to remaining portions 
must be maintained, and where necessary, the use of watchpersons, bull-horns, walkie-
talkies, cell phones etc. will be employed to notify concerned parties of emergencies. 
Assistance and direction for specific situations will be sought from North Bay Fire & Emergency 
Services. 

Procedures to be followed in the event of shutdown of any part of a fire protection 
system are as follows: 

1. Notify North Bay Fire & Emergency Services, dial (705) 474-5662 (DO NOT USE 911). Give 
your name, address and a description of the problem and when you expect it to be corrected. North 
Bay Fire and Emergency Services are to be notified in writing of shutdowns longer than 24 hours. 

2. Post notices at all exits and the main entrance, stating the problem and when it is expected to be 
corrected. 

3. Have staff or other reliable person(s) patrol the affected area(s) at least once every hour. 

4. Notify North Bay Fire & Emergency Services, your alarm monitoring company and the building 
occupants when repairs have been completed and systems are operational 

 
 
Note: All shutdowns will be confined to as limited an area and duration as possible. 
 

Cooking operations shall be suspended until the commercial cooking fixed extinguishing 
system is restored. 

 
 
 
 
 
 



45 

Are there operations in the building which could pose a fire hazard such as spray booths, dip tanks, 
welding and cutting, dust collection systems, use or storage of flammable/combustible liquids/gases?  
If so, you must plan and implement emergency procedures for each, individual operation and 
state that plan(s) in writing in the space provided below: 
 
Required Additional Emergency Procedures: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



46 

 
Are there persons on site with disabilities (or is there potential for persons to be on site with 
disabilities) which may hinder their evacuation? 
 
If so, you must plan for their evacuation and state that plan in writing in the space provided 
below.  Disabilities may include but not limited to loss of (or limited) sight, mobility issues, cognitive 
issues.  If any person requires assistance in evacuating Supervisory Staff may have to seek assistance 
from any responsible, able-bodied person to move the person outside and a responsible person must 
remain with that person at the designated meeting area.  Whenever possible, persons requiring 
assistance must be moved to an exit with their assertive devices, i.e. wheelchairs, crutches, scooters, as 
they will require these devices once outside the building.  The device may have to be left in the 
building if it is too heavy or too large to be safely, quickly and easily transported, or if it is likely to 
block the emergency exit. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  



47 

SECTION 7: Fire Drills 

Fire Drills 
THE PURPOSE OF A FIRE DRILL IS TO ENSURE THAT THE STUDENTS AND STAFF 

ARE FAMILIAR WITH EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURES, RESULTING IN 

ORDERLY EVACUATION WITH EFFICIENT USE OF EXIT FACILITIES.  FIRE DRILL 

PROCEDURES MUST ADDRESS STUDENT AND STAFF ACCOUNTABILITY IN AN 

EVACUATION.  THIS ELEMENT OF THE PLAN SHOULD IDENTIFY PERSON(S) IN 

CHARGE, INSURE ACCURATE CLASS ATTENDANCE ROSTERS ARE AVAILABLE 

AND IDENTIFY A SPECIFIC LOCATION FOR EVACUEES TO ASSEMBLE. 

 

CONSIDER HAVING TEACHERS AND STUDENTS USE THEIR ALTERNATIVE EXIT 

FOR ONE OF THE THREE REQUIRED DRILLS IN ORDER TO SIMULATE A REAL 

EMERGENCY. 

 

FIRE DRILLS MUST BE CONDUCTED ON EACH FLOOR OR AREA.  A VOICE 

COMMUNICATION SYSTEM SHOULD BE USED WHERE AVAILABLE. 

 

FOLLOWING EACH DRILL, ALL PERSONS OF DELEGATED RESPONSIBILITY 

SHOULD ATTEND A BRIEFING, TO REPORT ON THEIR ACTIONS AND THE 

REACTIONS OF THE STUDENTS.  FIRE DRILLS MUST BE CONDUCTED FOR A 

BUILDING OF THIS TYPE, IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE FREQUENCIES STATED IN 

THE FIRE CODE WHICH IS THREE TIMES PER SEMESTER (three in the autumn 

and three in the spring). 

 

A FIRE DRILL RECORD MUST BE KEPT AND RETAINED AT THE SCHOOL FOR 12 
MONTHS. 

 

  



48 

Fire drills will be held at least once every       month(s) to ensure efficient execution of the 
Emergency Procedures.  Refer to the Ontario Fire Code (Subsection 2.8.3) for the required number of 
fire drills.  Fire drill records are required to be retained for a period of one year. 
 
FIRE DRILL RECORD 
  
Date of drill:       

      
Principal:        

  
Teacher:         

Teacher:         

Teacher:         

Teacher:         

Teacher:         

Teacher:         

Teacher:         

Teacher:         

Teacher:         

Teacher:         

  
Custodian:         

Custodian:         

Custodian:          

Custodian:         

  

Other:         

Other:         

Other:         

 
 
  



49 

 
Deficiencies noted during Fire Drill 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
General Fire Drill comments and corrective actions to be implemented 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



50 

SECTION 8: Maintenance Requirements of Building Fire and Life Safety Systems 

 
Maintenance Requirements of Building Fire &  

Life Safety Systems 
 
 
Check/test/inspect requirements of the Ontario Fire Code: 
 
• To assist you in fulfilling your obligations, included is a list of the portions of the Fire Code that 

requires checks, inspections and/or tests to be conducted of the facilities.  It is suggested that you 
read over this list and perform or have performed the necessary checks, inspections and/or tests for 
the items which may apply to your property. 

 
• Fire Prevention Officers may check to ensure that the necessary checks, inspections and/or tests are 

being done, when conducting their inspections. 
 
• This list has been prepared for your convenience only.  For accurate reference, the Fire Code 

should be consulted. 
 
 
Definitions for key words are as follows: 
 
Check means visual observation to ensure the device or system is in place and is not obviously 

damaged or obstructed 
 
Inspect means physical examination to determine that the device or system will apparently 

perform in accordance with its intended function 
 
Test means the operation of a device or system to ensure that it will perform in accordance with 

its intended operation or function 
 
 
 
It is stated in the Fire Code that records of all tests and corrective measures are required to be 
retained for a period of two years after they are made. 
  



51 

General Fire Protection Systems/Equipment 
 

General             Responsibility of  
(Person’s Name or Company in this Field): 

Doors in fire separations shall be checked as frequently as necessary 
to ensure that they remain closed.  
 

 

Exit signs shall be clearly visible and maintained in clean and 
legible condition.  
 

 

Internally illuminated exit signs shall be kept clearly illuminated at 
all times, when the building is occupied.  
 

 

 
Weekly 
When subject to accumulation of combustible deposits, hoods, filters 
and ducts shall be checked weekly and be cleaned when such 
deposits create an undue fire hazard. 

 
 

 
Monthly 
Doors in fire separations shall be inspected monthly for  
proper operation. 

 

 
Yearly 
Fire dampers and fire-stop flaps shall be inspected annually, or 
based on a schedule via contractor acceptable to the Chief Fire 
Official.  
 

 
 

Every chimney, flue and flue pipe shall be inspected annually and 
cleaned as often as necessary to keep them free from accumulations 
of combustible deposits.  
 

 
 

Disconnect switches for mechanical air-conditioning and ventilating 
systems shall be inspected annually to establish that the system can 
be shut down.  
 

 
 

Spark arresters shall be cleaned annually or more frequently where 
accumulations of debris will adversely affect operations.  Burnt-out 
arresters shall be repaired or replaced.  

 
 
 

 
  



52 

Portable Fire Extinguishers 
 

General    Responsibility of  
(Person’s Name or Company in this Field): 

Each portable extinguisher shall have a tag securely attached to it 
showing the maintenance or recharge date, the servicing agency and the 
signature of the person who performed the service.  
 

 
 
 

A permanent record containing the maintenance date, the examiner’s 
name and a description of any work or hydrostatic testing carried out 
shall be prepared and maintained for each portable extinguisher.  
 

 
 
 

All extinguishers shall be recharged after use or as indicated by an 
inspection or when performing maintenance.  When recharging is 
performed, the recommendations of the manufacturer shall be followed. 

 
 

 
Monthly 
Portable extinguishers shall be inspected monthly. 
 
Yearly 
Extinguishers shall be subject to maintenance not more than 
one year apart or when specifically indicated by an inspection.  
 

 
 
 

Maintenance procedures shall include a thorough examination of the 
three basic elements of an extinguisher: 
a) mechanical parts 
b) extinguishing agent 
c) expelling means 
 

 
 
 

Every twelve months, pump tank water, and pump tank calcium 
chloride base antifreeze types of extinguishers shall be 
recharged with new chemicals or water, as applicable 
 

 
 

 
5 Years 
Every five years, pressurized water and carbon dioxide fire 
extinguishers shall be hydrostatically tested. 
 
 

 
 
 

6 Years 
Every six years, stored pressure extinguishers that require a 12 
year hydrostatic test shall be emptied and subjected to the 
applicable maintenance procedures. 

 
 
 
 

 
  



53 

Fire Alarm 
 

General     Responsibility of  
(Person’s Name or Company in this Field): 

Fire alarm and voice communication system components shall 
be kept unobstructed. 

 

Fire alarm shall be kept unobstructed.  
 

 

Fire alarm system power supply disconnect switches shall be 
locked on in an approved manner. 

 

 
Daily 
The following daily checks shall be conducted if a fault is  
established, appropriate corrective action shall be taken.  
a) Check the principle and remote trouble lights for  
 trouble indication; 
b) Inspection of the AC power-on light shall be done  
 to ensure its normal operation. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Monthly 

 

 
 
  

Every month the following tests shall be conducted under 
battery back up power and if a fault is established, appropriate 
corrective action shall be taken:  
 

a) one manual fire alarm initiating device shall be operated, on a 
rotating basis, and shall initiate an alarm condition 

    b) function of all signal devices shall be ensured 
c) the annunciator panel shall be checked to ensure correct    

annunciation 
d) intended function of the audible and visual trouble signals 

shall be ensured 
e) fire alarm batteries shall be checked to ensure that: 

i) terminals are clean and lubricated where necessary; 
ii) terminal clamps are clean and tight; 
iii) electrolyte level and specific gravity, where 

applicable, meet manufacturer’s specifications 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



54 

Monthly (cont.)               Responsibility of  
(Person’s Name or Company in this Field): 

Voice paging capability to one zone shall be tested monthly on 
a rotational basis. 
 

 

One emergency telephone shall be tested monthly on a 
rotational basis for operation and correct indication at control 
unit. 
 

 

Loudspeakers shall be tested monthly as an all-call signal to 
ensure they function as intended. 
 

 

At least one firefighter’s emergency telephone shall be tested 
monthly on a rotational basis to ensure communication with the 
control unit.  All telephones shall be tested each year. 

 

 
Yearly 
Yearly tests conducted by a certified alarm contractor as  
required by The Ontario Fire Code, Section 1.1.5.3.  Tests  
shall be in conformance with CAN/ULC S536, “Inspection  
and Testing of Fire Alarm Systems”. 
 

 
 
 

Voice communications between floor areas and the central 
alarm control facility shall be tested annually, as required for 
fire alarm initiating and signally devices. 
 

 

 
  



55 

Standpipe Systems 
 
Monthly     Responsibility of  

(Person’s Name or Company in this Field): 
Hose cabinets shall be inspected monthly to ensure that the 
hose and equipment are in the proper position and appear to be 
operable. 
 

 

 
Yearly 
Plugs or caps on Fire Department connections shall be 
removed annually and the threads inspected for wear, rust or 
obstruction.  Re-secure plugs or caps, wrench tight. 
 

 

If plugs or caps are missing, examine the Fire Department  
connections for obstructions, back flush if necessary, and  
replace plugs or caps. 
 

 

Hose valves shall be inspected annually to ensure that  
they are tight and that there is no water leakage into  
the hose. 
 

 

  



56 

Sprinkler Systems (Wet) 
 
General        Responsibility of  

(Person’s Name or Company in this Field): 
Auxiliary drains shall be inspected as required to  
prevent freezing. 

 

 
Weekly 
Except for electrically supervised valves, all valves controlling 
water supplies to sprinklers and alarm connections shall be 
checked weekly to ensure that they are sealed or locked in the 
open position.  
 

 
 
 

Water supply pressure and system air or water pressure shall be 
checked weekly by using gauges to ensure that the system is 
maintained at the required operating pressure. 

 
 

 
Monthly 
On all sprinkler systems, an alarm test, using the alarm test 
connection located at the sprinkler valve, shall be performed 
monthly. 

 
 

 
Two Months 
All transmitters and water flow devices shall be tested at two 
month intervals. 

 
 

 
Six Months 
Gate-valve supervisory switches and other sprinkler system  
supervisory devices shall be tested at six month intervals. 

 
 

 
 
  



57 

Yearly    Responsibility of  
(Person’s Name or Company in this Field): 

 
Exposed sprinkler piping hangers shall be checked yearly to 
ensure that they are kept in good repair.  
 

 

Sprinkler heads shall be checked at least once per year to 
ensure that they are kept in good repair.  
 

 

Sprinkler heads shall be checked at least once per year to 
ensure that they are free from damage, corrosion, grease, dust, 
paint, or whitewash.  They shall be replaced where necessary 
as a result of such conditions.  
 

 

On wet sprinkler systems, water-flow alarm test using the most 
hydraulically remote test connection, shall be performed 
annually.  
 

 

Sprinkler system water pressure shall be tested annually or 
after any sprinkler system control valve has been operated, 
with the main drain valve fully open, to ensure that there are no 
obstructions or deterioration of the main water supply. 
 

 

Plugs or caps on Fire Department connections shall be removed 
annually and the threads inspected of wear, rust or obstruction.  
Re-secure plugs or caps, wrench tight.  If plugs or caps are 
missing, examine the Fire Department connection for 
obstructions, back flush if necessary and replace plugs or caps. 

 

 
  



58 

Sprinkler Systems (Dry) 
  

General     Responsibility of  
(Person’s Name or Company in this Field): 

Auxiliary drains shall be inspected as required to prevent 
freezing.  
 

 

Dry-pipe valve rooms or enclosures in unheated buildings shall 
be checked as often as necessary when the outside temperature 
falls below 0o Celsius to ensure that the system does not freeze. 

 
 
 

 
Weekly 
Except for electrically supervised valves, all valves controlling 
water supplies to sprinklers and alarm connections shall be 
checked weekly to ensure that they are sealed or locked in the 
open position.  
 

 
 
 

Water supply pressure and system air or water pressure shall be 
checked weekly by using gauges to ensure that the system is 
maintained at the required operating pressure.  
 

 
 

System pressure gauges shall be checked weekly.  The system 
shall be maintained at the required operating pressure.  
 

 
 

 
Monthly 
On all sprinkler systems, an alarm test, using the alarm  
test connection located at the sprinkler valve, shall be  
performed monthly.  
 

 
      

 
2 Months 
All transmitters and water flow devices shall be tested  
at two month intervals.  
 

 
      

 
  



59 

3 Months    Responsibility of  
(Person’s Name or Company in this Field): 

The priming water supply for dry pipe systems shall be 
inspected every three months to ensure that the proper level 
above the dry pipe valve is maintained. 

 
 

 
6 Months 
Gate-valve supervisory switches and other sprinkler system 
supervisory devices shall be tested at six month intervals. 

 
 

 
Yearly 
Exposed sprinkler piping hangers shall be checked yearly to 
ensure that they are kept in good repair.  
 

 
 

Sprinkler heads shall be checked at least once per year to 
ensure that they are free from damage, corrosion, grease dust, 
paint, or whitewash.  They shall be replaced where necessary 
as a result of such conditions.  
 

 
 
 

Sprinkler system water pressure shall be tested annually or 
after any sprinkler system control valve has been operated, 
with the main drain valve fully open, to ensure that there are no 
obstructions or deterioration of the main water supply. 
 

 
 
 

Plugs or caps on Fire Department connections shall be removed 
annually and the threads inspected for wear, rust or obstruction.  
Re-secure plugs or caps wrench tight.  If plugs or caps are 
missing, examine the Fire Department connection for 
obstructions, back flush if necessary and replace plugs or caps.  
 

 
 
 
 

Dry pipe valves shall be tripped annually by means of the 
system test pipe, to ensure that they operate satisfactorily and 
that the sprinkler alarms are in operating condition.  A full flow 
trip test, with the control valve fully open, shall be conducted at 
least every three years. 

 
 
 

 
15 Years 
Every fifteen years, dry pipe systems shall be inspected for 
obstructions in the sprinkler piping and if necessary, the entire 
system shall be flushed of foreign material. 

 
 

 
  



60 

Water Supplies for Firefighting (Fire Pumps) 
 
Daily     Responsibility of  

(Person’s Name or Company in this Field): 
The temperature of pump rooms shall be checked daily during 
freezing weather. 

 
 

 
Weekly 
Valves controlling water supplies exclusively for fire 
protection systems shall be inspected weekly to ensure that 
they are fully open and sealed or locked in that position. 
 

 
 

Fire pumps shall be started once per week at rated speed.  The 
fire pump discharge pressure, suction pressure, lubricating oil 
level, operative condition of relief valves, priming water level 
and general operating conditions shall be inspected. 
 

 
 

Internal combustion engine fire pumps shall be operated once 
per week for a sufficient time to bring the engine up to normal 
operating temperature.  The storage batteries, lubrication 
systems and fuel supplies shall be inspected. 

 
 

 
Yearly 
Fire pumps shall be tested annually at full rated capacity to 
ensure that they are capable of delivering the rated flow. 
 

 
 

 
  



61 

Private Fire Hydrants 
 
General    Responsibility of  

(Person’s Name or Company in this Field): 
Hydrants shall be readily available and unobstructed for  
use at all times.  
 

 
 

 
Yearly 
Hydrants shall be inspected annually after each use.  
 

 

Ensure hydrants are equipped with port caps secured wrench 
tight.  The port caps shall be removed annually and inspected 
for wear, rust or obstructions.  
 

 
 

The hydrant barrel shall be inspected annually to ensure that 
no water has accumulated.  
 

 
 

The drain valve shall be inspected for operation if water is 
found in the hydrant barrel when main valve is closed.  
 

 
 

Hydrant waterflow shall be inspected annually and a record 
shall be kept.  
 

 
 

 
  



62 

Water Supplies for Firefighting (Water Tanks) 
 
Daily     Responsibility of  

(Person’s Name or Company in this Field):  
Water tank heat equipment, tank enclosure and/or water 
temperature shall be checked daily during freezing weather. 
 

 
 

 
Weekly 
Water levels and air pressure in pressure tanks shall be 
checked weekly and the relief valves on the air and the water 
lines shall be inspected weekly. 

 
 

 
Monthly 
Water level in gravity tanks shall be inspected monthly. 
 

 

 
Yearly 
An annual inspection shall be made of water tanks for fire 
protection, tank supporting structures and water supply systems 
including piping, control valves, check valves, heating systems, 
mercury gauges and expansion joints to ensure that they are in 
operating condition. 
 

 
 

Cathodic protection equipment in water tanks shall be  
inspected annually. 

 
 

 
2 Years 
Water tanks shall be checked every two years for corrosion.  

 
5 Years 
Water tanks shall be inspected every five years and scraped  
and repainted as required. 
 

 
 

 
  



63 

Commercial Cooking Equipment 
 
General    Responsibility of  

(Person’s Name or Company in this Field): 
Commercial cooking equipment exhaust and fire  
protection systems shall be installed and maintained in  
conformance with NFPA 96, “Ventilation Control and Fire  
Protection of Commercial Cooking Operations”.  
 

 
 
 

Ensure wet chemical or alkali based dry chemical portable  
fire extinguishers are provided to protect commercial  
cooking equipment and are readily available for use in  
an emergency.  
 

 
 
 

 
Weekly 
Hoods, grease removal devices, fans, ducts, and other 
equipment shall be checked weekly and cleaned at frequent 
intervals, prior to surfaces becoming heavily contaminated with 
grease or oily sludge.  
 

 
 
 

 
6 Months 
Inspection and servicing of the fire extinguishing system shall 
be made at least every six months by properly trained and 
qualified persons in conformance with Ontario Fire Code, 
Section 6.8.1.1. 

 
 
 

 
  



64 

Emergency Lighting System 
 
Daily   Responsibility of  

(Person’s Name or Company in this Field): 
Check pilot lights for indication of proper operation.  
 

 

 
Monthly 
Batteries shall be inspected monthly and maintained as per 
manufacturer’s specifications.  
 

 
 

Ensure that battery surface is clean and dry.  
 

 

Ensure that terminal connections are clean, free of corrosion 
and lubricated.  
 

 
 

Ensure that the terminal clamps are clean and tight as per 
manufacturer’s specifications.  
 

 
 

Emergency lighting equipment shall be tested monthly to 
ensure that the emergency lighting will function upon failure of 
the primary power supply.  
 

 
 

 
Yearly 
Emergency lighting equipment shall be tested annually to  
ensure that the units will provide emergency lighting for a  
duration equal to the design criteria under simulated power  
failure conditions.  
 

 
 
 

After completion, the charging conditions for voltage and  
current and the recovery period will be tested annually to  
ensure that he charging system is in accordance with the  
manufacturer’s specifications.  
 

 
 
 

 
  



65 

 
Emergency Power System  

 
General     Responsibility of  

(Person’s Name or Company in this Field): 
Emergency power systems shall be inspected, tested and 
maintained in conformance with CSA C282, “Emergency 
Electrical Power Supply for Buildings”. 
 

 
 

To ensure continued reliable operation, the emergency power 
supply equipment shall be operated and maintained in 
accordance with manufacturer’s instructions. 
 

 
 

At least two copies of the instruction manual shall be 
maintained. 

 

 
Monthly 
The emergency electrical power shall be completely tested 
monthly as follows: 
 
a) Simulate a failure of the normal power supply. 
b) Arrange so that: 

 an engine generator set operates under at least 30% of the 
rated load for 60 minutes and; 
ii) all automatic transfer switches are operated under load. 

c) Include an inspection for correct function of all auxiliary 
equipment such as radiator shutter control, coolant pumps, 
fuel transfer pumps, oil coolers and engine room 
ventilation controls. 

d) Record all instrument readings associated with the prime mover 
and generator and verification that they are normal. 

e) Log and report as further prescribed in the manual of instruction 
for operation and maintenance. 

f) Check fuel supply for sufficient quantity. 
 

 
 

 
Annually 
Test the generator, control panel, and transfer switch in 
conformance with CSA C282, “Emergency Electrical Power 
Supply for Buildings”. 

 
 

  



66 

SECTION 9: Fire Protection Measures 
 

DESCRIPTIONS: 
 
1. IN THE EVENT OF FIRE 
The purpose of a fire alarm system is to alert all the occupants of the building that an 
emergency of fire exists, so that such occupants may put into practice the measures required 
by the fire safety plan. 
 
All fire alarm systems shall be maintained in full operation condition at all times. 
 
A single stage system sounds a general alarm throughout the facility that may require total 
evacuation of the building.  Operation of the fire alarm is activated by a manual pull station, 
heat detector or a sprinkler head. 
 
2. EXITS 
An exit is that part of a means of egress that leads from the floor area it serves to a public 
thoroughfare or to an approved open space.  Walls, floors, doors or other means provide a 
protected path necessary for occupants to proceed with reasonable safety to a place of refuge.  
Vertical shafts accessed from above or below grade are protected from the remainder of the 
building provided the doors leading to the shaft are kept closed. 
 
3. FIRE DEPARTMENT ACCESS 
Fire department access allows firefighters and their equipment to gain access to the building.  
Vehicles parked in a fire route, excessive vegetation, snow and other forms of obstructions to 
access routes, fire hydrants and fire department connections are not permitted by the Fire 
Code.  Maintaining Fire Department access is an ongoing matter.  In addition, access into a 
building requires consideration (e.g. with a key box, through preplanning, etc.) 
 
4. PORTABLE EXTINGUISHERS 
Portable extinguishers are intended as a first aid measure to cope with fires of limited size.  
The basic types of fires are classes (a), (b), and (c).  Portable extinguishers are rated for the 
corresponding class of fire. 
 
5. ELEVATORS 
All elevators should be returned to and kept at street level in fire emergency situations. 
 
6 FIRE PUMPS 
Fire pumps are used to ensure that the water required for firefighting and automatic sprinkler 
and standpipe hose systems is available. 
  
7. EMERGENCY LIGHTING 
Emergency lighting ensures that exits, corridors and principal routes providing access to exits 
are illuminated in the event of loss of power.  

  



67 

SECTION 10: Floor Plan Drawings 
 

FLOOR PLAN DRAWINGS 
 

Floor plan drawings need not be Professional drawings, you may use a pen and 
ruler and it does not need to be to scale, just neat and legible 

 
Include the location of all fire safety systems and devices such as fire access routes, 
hydrant locations, siamese locations, fire extinguishers, hose cabinets, water, gas, 
electrical and any other main utility shutoff.   
 
If the school has potentially hazardous areas i.e. spray booth, dip tank, welding/cutting, 
dust collection system, commercial cooking facilities, storage of flammable/combustible 
liquids and gases, indicate location on map. 
 
Clearly indicate ‘main’ entrance and all other exits.  As well, if the school contains a 
daycare or ‘other’ organized program, please identify location. 
 
  



68 

 
Floor Plan Drawing – Symbols and Description 
all symbols that are applicable to your building must be indicated  

 
Pull Pin For Kitchen Fire Suppression System 

 
Entrance / Exit 

 Hydrant 

 
Siamese Fire Department Connection 

 
Free Standing Siamese Fire Department Connection 

 

Valves (General) Identify The Type Of Valve (I.e. Shut Off Valve For Natural Gas, 
Sprinklers, Etc.) 

FCP  
Fire Alarm Control Panel 

FAA  
Fire Alarm Annunciator 

  

  

  

 
Pull Station 

  

  

  

ABC  
Fire Extinguisher - ABC Type 

  

H 
Hose Cabinet 

 
Sprinkler Riser, indicate whether Wet or Dry System 

 

Indicate “North” on each page of the building schematic 

  



69 

SECTION 11: Suspected Gas Leak 
 

SUSPECTED GAS LEAK 
 

The school is to evacuate immediately and ensure 911 is called. 
 
 

  



70 

 
A.11 INTERRUPTION OF UTILITIES 

 
In case of interruption of utilities, or planned interruption of utilities, contact the Facility Supervisor 
and follow his direction. 
 
The purchase of hand sanitizer and bottled water should be considered in the event of a planned 
interruption. 
 
In the event the smell of gas is detected, you must immediately evacuate the school and call 911. 
 
Refer to Administrative Guideline:  School Closure/Bus Cancellation Due to Inclement Weather. 
 
 



71 

A.12 SEVERE WEATHER 
 

 
11.1 WEATHER AWARENESS 
 
Natural phenomena include severe thunderstorms, tornadoes, hurricanes, floods and winter blizzards. 
 
Many of these can be predicted by Environment Canada and advance notice is provided by weather 
forecasts on radio and television. 
 
Environment Canada issues warnings whenever expected weather conditions may affect public safety. 
 
A Severe Weather Watch is issued when there is a possibility of storms within the next six hours. 
 
A Severe Weather Warning is issued to provide an alert to an expected or impending event – within 
two hours. 
 
 
11.2   Severe Thunderstorms 
 

• Severe thunderstorms are often accompanied by high winds which can damage trees and 
buildings, and bring down electric or telephone wires.  Lightning is also a hazard during 
thunderstorms. 

 
• If a severe thunderstorm warning is in effect and a thunderstorm is observed at dismissal or 

recess time, keep the students in the school until the storm has passed.   
 

• During thunderstorms, it is best to remain indoors, away from doors and windows.  Avoid 
using telephones, electrical appliances and the shower or bath, and keep away from 
radiators, metal pipes or other metal objects which may act as electrical conductors. 

 
• Electrical and cable appliances such as televisions, computers and radios should be 

disconnected. 
 

• When outside during a thunderstorm, do not stand near tall objects such as trees or utility 
poles.  Stay away from open water, and metal objects such as wire fences or playground 
equipment.  Do not carry or hold metal objects. 

 
• Keep as low as profile as possible. 

  



72 

11.3   Tornadoes 
 
Tornadoes can be produced during severe thunderstorms, and are accompanied by violently whirling 
winds, sometimes called a twister. 
 
When a tornado threatens staff and students: 
 

• Keep students in school. 
• Stay away from windows, doors and outside walls.  Students and staff should protect their 

heads and crouch or kneel against the wall. 
• For maximum safety, go down to a basement, or seek shelter under stairways or study tables or 

closets. 
• Try to reach the center of the building or the side away from the storm. 
• Avoid large areas such as arenas, gymnasiums, or areas with skylights.  If caught in such a 

building, head for the lowest floor, an inside hallway, or small interior windowless room, or get 
under something sturdy. 

• If caught in the open, try to determine the tornado’s direction of travel and move at right angles 
to it.  If you cannot avoid the storm, find a ditch, ravine or other depression and lie flat. 

• Do not remain in a vehicle or try to out-race a tornado. 
• If no shelter can be found, hang on the base of a small tree or shrub. 

 
11.4 Winter Storms 
 
Severe winter storms, accompanied by winds, blowing or falling snow, and low temperatures, must be 
treated with caution 
 
Refer to Administrative Guideline:  School Closure/Bus Cancellation Due to Inclement Weather. 
 
 
11.5 After the Storm or Tornado 
 
Special dangers may exist after a severe storm is over. 
 

• Loose or dangling electrical wires must be avoided.  Report them to local authorities or call 
your Facility Supervisor.  Stay away from the wires. 

 
• Report broken sewer or water mains to the local authorities or your Facility Supervisor. 

 
• Beware of dangling tree limbs. 

 
• Stay out of damaged areas. 

 
• Stay out of the way of emergency vehicles and rescue workers. 

 
• Do not use the telephone except in a real emergency; leave lines open for officials to use. 

 



73 

• Keep tuned to local radio or television for further information or instruction. 
 
11.6 Floods 
 

• If the building is flooded, electricity should be shut off.  Do not attempt to do so if the main 
switch is in a location that has already been flooded.  Call the Facility Supervisor. 

 
• If conditions are wet around the switch box, stand on a dry board and use a dry stick to turn the 

switch off. 
 

• Flooded electrical equipment must be checked by a qualified electrician before being used 
again.  The Facility Supervisor can arrange for this. 

 
• If heating equipment has been flooded, arrangements for its inspection should be made by the 

Facility Supervisor. 
 
11.7 Earthquakes 
 
Earthquakes usually occur without warning.  Therefore, a pre-arranged set of instructions should be 
given to staff regarding actions to be taken which will safeguard students/staff and the public using the 
schools. 
 
In the event of an earthquake, the following procedures should be followed: 
 

• Remain where you are and assess the situation, then act. 

• Keep calm and maintain order. 

• Safeguarding Measures: 
• Take cover under desks, tables, other heavy furniture, interior doorways or narrow 

hallways; 
• Move away from the windows and beware of falling objects; 
• Move from under light fixtures or other suspended fixtures; 
• Move away from buildings into open areas; 
• Stay clear of utility poles and overhead wiring. 

• Following the earthquake: 
• Avoid touching any wires which may have fallen; 
• Do not allow entry to the school building or portables until they have been properly 

checked for structural damages; 
• Maintain class control and take an attendance check; 
• Notify the appropriate Superintendent 

  



74 

A.13 MISSING CHILDREN 
 

12.1 RUNNERS 

• Search the building and grounds for missing child 

• Page missing student to the office 

• Contact parents 

• Contact the police 

• Contact appropriate Superintendent of Schools 
 
12.2 ABDUCTION 
 
If children, staff, or parents express concern about a stranger loitering on or near school property, or 
following students between home and school, report it immediately to the police or call 911. 
 
12.2.1  HOW TO AVOID KIDNAPPINGS 
 

• All visitors should report to the office 
• Do not send visitors to the classroom 
• Report suspicious persons to the office immediately 
• Do not release a child to anyone other than the designated parent or guardian, as 

indicated in the school file. 
• Do not accept a substitute for the designated parent or guardian without proof of prior 

approval from the parent/guardian.  If in writing, make and keep a copy of this 
authorization.  If in doubt, attempt to contact the designated parent or guardian before 
release or do not release.  ALWAYS ERR ON THE SIDE OF CAUTION. 

• Refer to Administrative Guideline:  Custody Protocol 
 
12.2.2. IN THE EVENT OF A KIDNAPPING: 
 

• Report kidnapping, or attempted kidnapping, to the office immediately.  The supervisor 
will contact 911. 

• Note the person’s appearance and any other information about him or her (voice, 
clothing, vehicle type, license plate number, etc.) that might be helpful to the police 

• Remain calm. 
• Treat custody dispute problems as a possible kidnapping. 
• Account for all students and staff. 

 
 
 



75 

A.14 ENCOUNTER WITH DANGEROUS ANIMALS 
 

For more detailed information, refer to the Bear Protocol Administrative Guideline 
 
When encountering a dangerous animal: 
 

• Do not panic  
• Do not corner or provoke the animal 
• If you are outside, allow the animal an escape route 
• Remove people and students from the area 
• Stay as a group 
• Contact the Police and/or Ministry of Natural Resources 

 
TO REPORT BEAR PROBLEMS: contact the Ministry of Natural Resources Bear Reporting Line 
at: 1-866-514-BEAR (2327). 
 

  



76 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SECTION B. 
 
 

SITE 
 

SPECIFIC 
 

INFORMATION 
 
 
  



77 

 
B.  TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
 

 
B.1 Checklist to Manage Emergency Response ......................................................................... 78 
B.2 Evacuation Sites ..................................................................................................................... 79 
B.3 Emergency Contact Numbers ............................................................................................... 80 
B.4 Visitors to the School (sample form) .................................................................................... 82 
B.5 Roles and Responsibilities of Command Centre ................................................................. 83 
B.6 Certified First Aid Staff ........................................................................................................ 84 
B.7 Audit of Building Resources ................................................................................................. 85 
B.8 Communication Protocol ...................................................................................................... 86 
B.9 Media Statements ................................................................................................................... 87 
 



78 

B.1 CHECKLIST TO MANAGE EMERGENCY RESPONSE 
 
 

Task Date 

Confirmation of Evacuation Sites Established (late August preferred)  

Confirm Emergency Contact Numbers Section B.3 – apply regionally  

Ensure First Aid Kits are fully stocked (must be inspected quarterly)  

Update and maintain Emergency Response Kit (on a semi-annual basis)  

Post “Visitors Please Report to the Main Office” on all exterior doors  

Visitor Badges and sign in book  

Establish Command Centre and complete Section B.2  

Establish an Emergency Response Team  

Search procedures assigned  

Daily Attendance Record  

Student Registration Information  

Evacuation Plan for Physically Challenged Students, if applicable  

Register all locker assignments  

Lock all unassigned lockers, empty classrooms, storage rooms, etc. during the 
school day 

 

Post names of certified first aid personnel, location of first aid kits and 
emergency telephone numbers 

 

Staff In-service: Review all protocols: Evacuation, Lock Down, Staff In-Service  

Lock-Down Drill (once a year; record date)  

Fire Drills (six per year, three in the Fall, three in the Spring): 
 Date of 1st drill (during first week in September) 

 

 Date of 2nd drill  
 Date of 3rd drill  
 Date of 4th drill  
 Date of 5th drill  
 Date of 6th drill  



79 

B.2 EVACUATION SITES 
 
Site #1 
 
Site Name:  
 
Address:  
 
Contact:  
 
Phone No.:  
 
Communicated to Parents:   Yes       No   
 
Communicated to Staff:   Yes       No   
 
 
Site #2-  
 
Site Name:  
 
Address:   
 
Contact:  
 
Phone No.:  
 
Communicated to Parents:   Yes       No   
 
Communicated to Staff:   Yes       No    



80 

B.3 EMERGENCY CONTACT NUMBERS 
 

Only the telephone number 911 should be used when requesting assistance from any of the three 
emergency services, i.e. Fire, Police, Ambulance for emergency incidents.  In addition, it will expedite 
a responding agency when requesting assistance that you specify the service or services required and 
the location.  In this manner, your call will be placed directly to the appropriate agencies’ 
communications control center. 
 

Ambulance: 911 
  
 
Fire: 911 
 
 

 Security Monitoring Companies:  
 
TrueSteel Security 1.800.465.4166 
 
 

Poison Information Centre:    
 
 1-800-268-9017 

 Emergency Measures: 
 
 

Police: 911 
 
OPP  

 VCARS 
(Victims Crisis Assistance Referral Service):   
 
CRT (Crisis Response Team):  
  
East & West areas: 
 

Children’s Aid Society 
 Parry Sound 705.746.9354 
      North Bay                   705-472-0910 
 

   

North Bay Hospital 
 
West Parry Sound Health Centre: 
  

 Hydro One 1 (800) 434-1235 
Union Gas Emergency  1.877.969.0999 
Lakeland Power                      705-746-5866 



81 

Near North District School Board:  
 705.472.7015 
 1.800.278.4922 
 
Director:  
 
 
Superintendents: 
 
 
 
   
Health and Safety Officer: 
   

 Principal:  
 Cell:  
 
Vice Principal:  
    Cell  
 
Facility Supervisors (name and cell phones): 
 
 
Maintenance Supervisors (name and cell 
phones): 
 
 
 
Manager of Plant: 
 

    
 

 Media Contacts: 
 
 
 
 
 

Humane Society 
Society for Prevention & Cruelty to Animals,
 1-888-668-7722 
Ministry of Natural Resources (MNR) 
  1-800-667-1940 
Bear Reporting Line (MNR) 
  1-866-514-BEAR (2327) 

 Crime Stoppers 1-800-222-TIPS (8477) 
Environmental Spill Reporting 
 1.800.268.6060 
Ministry of Labour 
 705.497.5234 
(MOL - After hours) 1.800.268.6060 

 
 



82 

 
 
 

SCHOOL_______________________ 
 

  VISITOR   
 

BADGE #____ 

 
B.4 VISITORS TO THE SCHOOL 

 
Date Name Sign-In Time Sign-Out Time Badge No. 

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     
 
 

Board or School Logo 



83 

B.5 ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF COMMAND CENTRE 
 
LOCATION OF COMMAND CENTRE:   

Position Person Responsibilities 

Overall Supervision  Site spokesperson 
Head of Command Centre 

Logistics Officer  Work with police logistic personnel to 
obtain necessities for students/staff 

Records Manager  Maintain up-to-date attendance records 
and annual inspection of contents in 
Emergency Response Kit 

Supervisors of 
Students/Staffs 

 Direct students/staff to appropriate 
locations, arranges for supervision of 
holding areas 

Reception Area 
Manager 
 

 Receives incoming calls and information, 
directs people to the appropriate person or 
location. 

Parent/Family 
Liaison 

 Staffs the reception area, meets parents, 
handles their inquiries. 

Media 
Liaison/Police 
Contact or 
Community Officer 

 Handles media during a crisis. 

Search Team  Using buddy system, two to three people 
per team search supervised areas 

Fire Captains  Designated staff to inspect that all rooms, 
washrooms, change rooms, etc. have 
been evacuated. 

Board Liaison  Forwards the most recent plan to the 
Health and Safety Officer at the Board 
(by September 30th of each year) 

 



84 

B.6 CERTIFIED FIRST AID STAFF 
 

(Copies of certificates to be posted in First Aid Room as per First Aid Regulation 1101) 
 

Name Department/Room  Certification Expiry Date 

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

 



85 

B.7 AUDIT OF BUILDING RESOURCES TO ASSIST EMERGENCY PERSONNEL 
 

(To be completed by Facility Supervisor for each school) 
 

Construction of Building:  
 
Number of Stories:   
 

PLEASE REFER TO DRAWINGS FOR LOCATIONS OF BUILDING RESOURCES 
 
 

 Yes/No Location 
1.  Is there a fire vehicle access route?   
2.  Are there Fire Dept. connections?   
3.  Is there a fire alarm system?    
4.  Is the fire alarm connected to private 

monitor company? 
  

5.  Where is the fire alarm panel located?   
6.  Where is the annunciator panel 

located? 
  

7.  Is there an emergency voice 
communication system?    

  

8.  Are there smoke control measures?   
9.  Sprinkler system    
10. Location of sprinkler shut-valve   
11. Is there a standpipe and hose system?   
12. Is there a fire pump?     
13. Is there emergency power?   

14. Are there elevators?    
15. Are there portable fire extinguishers 

throughout?  
  

16. Location of Exits    
17. Location of Gas Shut Offs:    
 
 



86 

B.8 COMMUNICATION PROTOCOL 
 
During a crisis incident communication is essential.  There are distinct steps to be followed in 
accordance with Ontario North East Region Police and School Protocol  
 
Pre-planning: 
 

• Refer to the School staff handbook for website, social media, and news media provided by 
NNDSB Communications Team and sample statements below. 

 
During a Crisis: 
 

• The police department will issue media releases relating to school-related incidents in such a 
manner that the school is not identified.   

• If it is unavoidable in releasing the name of the school, the police and school official (Principal 
or Supervisor) will consult prior to dealing with the media. 

• The Emergency Services Official is the best resource in dealing with statements to the media in 
their field of expertise. 

• The Principal or Supervisor will contact the appropriate Superintendent prior to dealing with 
the media if possible. 

• The Principal or Supervisor, after consultation with the Superintendent, will be the only media 
contact. 

• The staff of the school will refrain from dealing with the media. 
 
Post-Crisis: 
 

• The Principal or Supervisor in consultation with the Superintendent and Communications Team 
may issue any one of the following: News Release; Letter to Parent; Interview with Media; or 
other. 

• Conduct a de-briefing meeting to review all facets of the crisis including police, staff, Board 
CRT, Superintendent and other parties in a confidential format. 

 
Review: 

 
• What could have been done better? 
• What should we not have done? 
• What was in the plan that but did not work? 
• What did we learn? 
• Who should we share this with? 
• What communication strategies would have improved the handling of the crisis? 
• Revise all protocols and procedures as necessary and communicate these to the appropriate 

stakeholders 
 



87 

B.9 MEDIA STATEMENTS 
 

Stand-by Statement – On Site 
 
My understanding is that an unidentified person has….. 
 
Right now I am in the process of making sure the student’s and staff are secure.  I will provide updates, 
as they become available. 
 

Standby-by Statement – Off Site 
 
I am presently returning to the school where I understand an incident has taken place.  The Critical 
Incident Management Team is in operation at the school and is providing me with updates. 
 
At this time, I am unable to provide any more information until I have arrived back at the school, and 
have had a chance to investigate the incident.  
 
 

Stand-by Statement – Media Release 
 
Today an incident occurred at ____________________.  The Critical Incident Team and emergency 
personnel are at the scene and are dealing with the incident. 
 
At this time, I cannot provide any further details on this incident until I have gathered more 
information.  I will remain on site at the school with the emergency personnel until this situation has 
been resolved. 
 
Until then, the Critical Incident Team’s primary concern and responsibility are for the students and 
staff. 
 
Thank you for being here and being concerned. 
 
 
________________, Principal 
 
 

Update Release 
 
At this time we have identified that …………………(what happened) occurred and that all students 
and staff are safe and secure.  The Critical Incident Management Team in conjunction with the 
Emergency Response Team has ………………(details of what has been done). 
 



 

 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE GUIDELINE 
 

BEAR PROTOCOL 
 

Effective Date:   December 2008                        Responsibility: Superintendent 
Revised Date:     November 16, 2021                 of Program and Schools 

 
 

While this is a “bear” protocol, it is understood that is applies to any wildlife deemed to be potentially 
dangerous to students and staff. This would include cougars, rattlesnakes, etc. 

 
The following procedures have been put into place at Near North District School Board to ensure the safety 
and protection of all staff and students from the potentially precarious situation that exists with bears and 
humans. 

 
As a precautionary measure, during the months of September, October, April, May, and June when bear 
sightings are highest, all staff who are responsible for outdoor supervision of pupils during the school day 
are required to have a whistle with them at all times.  

 
A. Bear Sightings in the School’s Vicinity: 

 
If the authorities, a parent or community member notifies the school that a bear has been sighted in the 
vicinity of the school: 
 

• The secretary will phone the proper authorities to get accurate information and  advice regarding the bear 
sighting. Call 1-866-514-2327 or North Bay MNR District Bear Wise Program Office: 475-5543 (March 
– December, during business hours – 8:00 a.m.- 4:30 p.m.). In case of immediate emergency, call 911. 
 

• The principal, upon verification of a bear sighting from the proper authorities or with  a clear 
understanding that the animal is in the vicinity, will inform all students and staff about the bear sighting. 



 

B. Bear Sightings on School Property 
 

I. DURING THE SCHOOL DAY: 
 

• If a bear is sighted immediately outside of the fenced area that borders the school property or 
within the school grounds while students are outside (either during recess, lunch hour, or 
instructional time) the supervising staff member(s) will blow their whistle three  times as a warning 
to the students. 
 

• Upon hearing the warning whistle, students must immediately walk slowly off the playground area 
and go directly into the school.  The supervisor on duty must ensure that all students have vacated 
the school grounds. Students and staff should not run as this could encourage a bear to give chase. 

 
• Students must enter the school immediately and proceed quietly to their classrooms. 

 
• All staff and students must be notified of the situation and will be asked to proceed immediately to 

their classrooms. 
 

• All teaching staff are required to take attendance promptly and must notify the office  that all 
students are present and accounted for. 

 
• Proper authorities will be immediately contacted by the secretary. 

 
• If the problem bear still persists on school property during the day, students will not  be allowed to 

go outside or leave the school building unless supervised by a parent/guardian. 
 

II. DURING SCHOOL DISMISSAL: 
 

• If the problem bear still persists on school property at dismissal time, office staff will contact 
parents of students who  normally walk home so that parent pick up can be arranged. 

 
• Office staff will notify the transportation operator and may arrange to have students picked up at 

an alternate entrance of the school if appropriate. Changes to dismissal procedures will be 
communicated to staff and students as required. 

 
• Staff must remain with students until all students have been picked up by a parent/guardian or 

transported home by bus. All educational assistants and teachers without other responsibilities at 
dismissal time shall assist with the dismissal as requested by the principal at the designated 
entrance of the school. Students will be escorted out to the bus by an adult. 

 



 

C. Duties of the Principal: 
 

• Make sure that yard supervisors carry a whistle during bear season. 
 

• Endeavour to ensure that no attractants (e.g. someone’s leftover lunch) are left in the school yard. 
 

• Conduct a bear drill in early September and March of each year so that all staff and students 
understand their roles and responsibilities during a bear sighting. 

 
• Review the bear procedure at the September staff meeting. 

 
• Ensure that staff and students are compliant with the bear protocol. 

 
D. Duties of the Secretary: 

 
• Notify the proper authorities of bear sightings. 

 
• Notify the transportation operator and arrange pick up students at an alternate entrance of the  

school, as necessary. 
 

• Activate the emergency phone list plan to notify parents/guardians of walkers who will need to be 
picked up at the school. 

 
• Answer any incoming telephone calls and  relay updated instructions to staff/students as required. 

 
E. Prevention: 

 
• Reduce garbage odors. 
 
• Keep garbage in bear-proof containers (steel is best).  

 
• Do not fill bird feeders until late fall, and empty them in the spring when bears wake up from 

hibernation and are hungry. 
 

• Refrain from planting fruit trees or shrubs, as bears are attracted to them. 
 

• Keep picnic tables clean of food debris.  
 

For more information on bears visit the Ministry of Natural Resources website at 
www.bears.mnr.gov.on.ca. 

http://www.bears.mnr.gov.on.ca/


Closing Date Project Location Bidders Submitting Bids Awarded to  Net Award    Tax    Total   Budget            Contract for Rational

October 21, 2021 NNDSB 2022-002, HVAC Upgrades Silver Birches Public 
School

Ainsworth                        
G&S Enterprises                  

Kenalex Construction Co.            
Venasse Building group Inc.

G&S Enterprises $68,000.00 $8,840.00 $76,840.00 Low bidder

October 29, 2021 NNDSB 2022-001, HVAC Uprades Alliance Public School

Patrick Mechanical Ltd              
Venasse Building Group           

Kenalex Construction Company       
Irvcon Limited                     

Descon Construction Ltd

Project on hold - not 
yet awarded $740,000.00 $96,200.00 $836,200.00 

Venasse is the low 
bidder, not yet 

awarded

August 26, 2021 NNDSB 2021-022, HVAC Upgrades West Ferris Secondary 
School

Mike Witherell Mechanical Ltd.        
Venasse Building Group             

Kenalex Construction Ltd.

Venasse Buiding 
Group $755,000.00 $98,150.00 $853,150.00 Low Bidder



 

Preliminary 2022-23 Enrolment Projections  
Student enrolment at the Near North District School Board has returned to a level consistent with pre-pandemic school 

years.  As of September 30, 2021 the board’s overall enrolment was 9,917 students, compared to 9,539 in October 2020 

and 9,840 in October 2019.  Preliminary enrolment projections for the 2022-23 school year currently sit at 9,816 

students, based on September 30, 2021 enrolment.  It should be noted that 2021-22 and 2022-23 enrolment figures are 

based on September 30, 2021 actual enrolment due to a change in process with the Ministry of Education.  Previous 

school year enrolment values represent October 31 values.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Within the elementary panel the significant increase in enrolment recovery from the 2020-21 school year to the current 

2021-22 school year, is represented in the JK and SK levels.  Increases in the other grades can be attributed to students 

who may have chosen to be home schooled during 2021-22.   

 

At the secondary panel, the significant increase in enrolment from 2020-21 to 2021-22 school year is at the Grade 12 

level.  This trend is due to an increased number of Grade 12 students choosing to return for a fifth year of secondary 

school.   

 Grade  9 Grade 10 Grade 11 Grade 12 Total 

2020-21 676 716 741 860 2,993 

2021-22 712 717 757 951 3,137 

2022-23 740 731 749 900 3,121 

 

 JK SK Grade 1 Grade 2 Grade 3 Grade 4 Grade 5 Grade 6 Grade 7 Grade 8 Total 

2020-21 529 636 649 628 622 677 669 692 750 694 6,546 

2021-22 603 631 645 693 674 647 724 663 741 759 6,780 

2022-23 590 626 632 644 691 676 653 737 681 768 6,698 

9953 9958

9840

9539

9917

9816

9000

9200

9400

9600

9800

10000

10200

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23
Projected

Board Enrolment



 
Taking these enrolment trends into consideration, the following projections were generated by grade and school for the 

2022-23 school year based on September 30, 2021 enrolment figures.  It should be noted that this process is typically 

based on October 31 enrolment figures to meet a Ministry of Education deadline in late November.  With the move of 

that deadline to late October, September 30 enrolment was used for projecting 2022-23 enrolment. 

 

Preliminary Enrolment Projections 2022-23 

 JK
 

SK
 

G
ra

d
e 

1
 

G
ra

d
e 

2
 

G
ra

d
e 

3
 

G
ra

d
e 

4
 

G
ra

d
e 

5
 

G
ra

d
e 

6
 

G
ra

d
e 

7
 

G
ra

d
e 

8
 

G
ra

d
e 

 9
 

G
ra

d
e 

1
0

 

G
ra

d
e 

1
1

 

G
ra

d
e 

1
2

 

To
ta

l 

Alliance 78 76 55 75 71 62 58 73 0 0 0 0 0 0 548 

Almaguin 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 127 151 119 149 546 

Argyle 6 6 5 3 10 2 6 7 6 5 0 0 0 0 56 

Britt 2 2 5 4 6 5 3 2 2 5 0 0 0 0 35 

Chippewa Intermediate 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 214 203 0 0 0 0 417 

Chippewa Secondary 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 216 187 176 247 889 

E.T. Carmichael 17 17 22 18 24 22 18 30 0 0 0 0 0 0 168 

E.W. Norman 6 6 21 12 13 30 20 48 0 0 0 0 0 0 156 

Evergreen 26 28 24 28 29 34 26 25 21 24 0 0 0 0 266 

F.J. McElligott Intermediate 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 16 27 0 0 0 0 43 

F.J. McElligott Secondary 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 33 20 26 19 98 

Ferris Glen 16 17 25 24 24 33 24 22 0 0 0 0 0 0 185 

Humphrey 22 27 21 20 22 19 9 20 14 33 0 0 0 0 205 

Land of Lakes 19 21 34 19 29 20 32 31 34 31 0 0 0 0 269 

Laurentian 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 37 41 80 

M.T. Davidson 12 12 18 8 17 13 16 15 9 18 0 0 0 0 138 

MacTier 10 11 11 10 7 12 11 13 5 6 0 0 0 0 95 

Magnetawan 5 6 8 8 8 8 10 6 7 4 0 0 0 0 69 

Mapleridge 23 24 25 20 27 24 22 30 31 35 0 0 0 0 261 

Mattawa 12 13 10 14 24 14 16 26 0 0 0 0 0 0 129 

McDougall 13 13 13 21 15 8 22 15 16 16 0 0 0 0 152 

Nobel 19 20 13 16 17 23 24 23 18 17 0 0 0 0 190 

Northern 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 48 36 32 53 169 

Parry Sound HS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 127 144 166 170 606 

Parry Sound Int 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 52 38 0 0 0 0 90 

Parry Sound Public 54 59 47 46 44 45 58 57 0 0 0 0 0 0 410 

Phelps 13 13 8 8 4 10 16 8 12 11 0 0 0 0 103 

Silver Birches 20 21 24 31 30 29 22 29 0 0 0 0 0 0 205 

South River 23 24 20 16 20 26 13 13 12 17 0 0 0 0 182 

South Shore 5 5 13 9 15 16 9 17 15 8 0 0 0 0 113 

Sundridge 28 30 24 28 29 26 22 26 23 26 0 0 0 0 261 



 

Sunset Park 45 47 43 48 49 51 43 53 0 0 0 0 0 0 379 

Vincent Massey 40 44 50 51 77 41 70 53 0 0 0 0 0 0 425 

West Ferris Intermediate 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 137 198 0 0 0 0 335 

West Ferris Secondary 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 190 192 194 221 819 

White Woods 25 26 21 43 21 20 30 30 33 35 0 0 0 0 283 

Whitestone 4 4 9 10 3 5 2 4 5 12 0 0 0 0 58 

Woodland 49 56 64 55 59 78 50 60 0 0 0 0 0 0 471 

Board Total 590 626 632 644 691 676 653 737 681 768 740 731 749 900 9818 

 

 

Projected Pupils of the Board Average Daily Enrolment (ADE) for 2022-23 

 

Elementary            

 JK SK Grade 1 Grade 2 Grade 3 Grade 4 Grade 5 Grade 6 Grade 7 Grade 8 Total 

Projected 
Enrolment 590 626 632 644 691 676 653 737 681 768 6,698 

less Other 
Pupils 2 2 13 12 11 15 12 9 12 13 101 

Pupils of the 
Board 588 624 619 632 680 661 641 728 669 755 6,597 

 

 

Secondary      

 Grade 9 Grade 10 Grade 11 Grade 12 Total 

Projected Enrolment 740 731 749 900 3,121 

less Other Pupils 9 14 29 34 86 

Pupils of the Board 731 717 720 866 3,035 

Projected March 31, 2023 less 6.5% 683.86 670.58 673.48 809.71 2,837.63 

ADE Enrolment 707.63 693.89 696.89 837.86 2,936.27 

 



 
 

 
BOARD MEETING | November 16, 2021 

 

       BOARD REPORT 
 

Title: Elementary Class Size Reporting for 2021-2022 
Contact:   Superintendent of Business Seija Van Haesendonck 
Date 
Submitted: 

November 16, 2021 

Mandate: Excellence in Communication – We are committed to promoting public confidence 
and community support in public education through timely, accurate, effective, and 
transparent communication of Board initiatives, vision and goals. 
 

Background: As per Memo 2021: SB21, dated September 23, 2021, the Board was required to 
submit the 2021-2022 Elementary Class Size Reporting Form by October 31, 2021, 
attesting to compliance with Ontario Regulation 132/12 - Class Size. 
 
As per the regulation, the Board is required to maintain 100% of its primary classes 
below 23, and 90% below 20.  
 
The Board’s average class size for Full Day Kindergarten (FDK) classes must not 
exceed 26, with a maximum of 29 pupils per class for the 2021-22 school year. 
 
The Board must also maintain a maximum board-wide average class size for 
grades 4 to 8 of 23.30. 
 

Update:  As per the attached 2021-2022 Elementary Class Size statistics report, the Board 
meets the class size requirements as follows: 
 

• % primary classes 20 and under – 91.5% 
• % primary classes 23 and under – 100.0% 
• Average junior/intermediate class size – 23.29 
• % grade 3/4 combined classes under 23 – 100.0% 
• Average kindergarten class size – 21.86 
• Number of kindergarten classes at or below 29 – 100.0% 

 
 



Board Statistics

% Primary Classes 20 and Under 91.5

% Primary Classes 23 and Under 100

Classes to Reach 90.0% of Primary at 20 or Under -1

Classes to Reach FDK Average of 26 -8

Classes to Reach Junior/Intermdediate Average of 24.5 -8

% FDK Classes 29 and Under (Ministry required for 2018/19) 100

% FDK Classes 30 and Under (Ministry allowed for 2017/18) 100

% FDK Classes 32 and Under 100

Average  FDK Class Size (Including Primary) 21.67

Average  FDK Class Size (Excluding Primary) Ministry 
Definition starting 2016/17

21.86

Average  Primary Class Size 19.26

Average  Junior/ Intermediate Class Size 23.29

In-Person Average  FDK Class Size (Excluding Primary) 21.86

In-Person Average  Primary Class Size 19.26

In-Person Average  Junior/ Intermediate Class Size 23.29

Virtual Average  FDK Class Size (Excluding Primary)

Virtual Average  Primary Class Size

Virtual Average  Junior/ Intermediate Class Size

Average  Class Size 21.84

Average  1-8 Class Size 21.88

% Grade 3/4 Combined Classes 23 and Under 100

Total KG Classes 57

Total Primary Classes 94

Total Jr/Int Classes 158

Total Classes 307

Number of Schools Offering ELP/FDK 28

Key Statistics

% of FDK/ELP Classes

15 and Under 18.18

16 to 20 12.73

21 to 25 32.73

26 20.00

27 to 29 16.36

Full-Day Kindergarten/Early Learning Statistics

Organization: Actual 2021-22

11/10/2021 1:20:09 PMClass Size Statistics

Admin Area: All Admin Areas



% of FDK/ELP Classes

30 0.00

31 to 32 0.00

33 and Above 0.00

# of FDK/ELP Classes

15 and Under 10

16 to 20 7

21 to 25 18

26 11

27 to 29 9

30 0

31 to 32 0

33 and Above 0

Total 55

FDK/ELP Classes

Total Early Learning Classes 55

Total Early Learning Enrolment 1215

Organization: Actual 2021-22

11/10/2021 1:20:09 PMClass Size Statistics

Admin Area: All Admin Areas



% of Primary Classes

20 and Under 91.49

21 2.13

22 3.19

23 3.19

24 0.00

25 and Above 0.00

Primary Statistics

# of Primary Classes

20 and Under 86

21 2

22 3

23 3

24 0

25 and Above 0

Total 94

Grade 3/4 Combined Classes
# Grade 3/4 Combined Classes

20 and under 8

21 1

Primary Classes

Total Primary Classes 94.00

Total Primary Enrolment 1810.00

Total Primary Classes (FTE) 94.00

Total Primary Enrolment (FTE) 1810.00

Primary Enrolment (FTE)

20 and Under 1633.00

21 42.00

22 66.00

23 69.00

24

25 and Above

Total 1810.00

Organization: Actual 2021-22

11/10/2021 1:20:09 PMClass Size Statistics

Admin Area: All Admin Areas



# Grade 3/4 Combined Classes

22 3

23 8

24 0

25 and more 0

Total 20

Grade 3/4 Combined Classes

Total Grade 3/4 Combined Class Enrolment 427

Total Primary Enrolment in Primary/Junior Combined Classes 191

Organization: Actual 2021-22

11/10/2021 1:20:09 PMClass Size Statistics

Admin Area: All Admin Areas



Junior/Intermediate Statistics

Junior/Intermediate Classes

Total Junior/Intermediate Enrolment 3680

Total Junior/Intermediate Classes 158

Self-Contained Special Education Statistics
Self-Contained Special Education Statistics

Total Self-Contained SPED Classes 12

Total Self-Contained SPED Enrolment 79

% of Junior/Intermediate Classes

25 and Under 60.13

26 11.39

27 17.09

28 8.86

29 1.90

30 and Above 0.63

# of Junior/Intermediate Classes

25 and Under 95

26 18

27 27

28 14

29 3

30 and Above 1

Total 158

Organization: Actual 2021-22

11/10/2021 1:20:09 PMClass Size Statistics

Admin Area: All Admin Areas



 

963 Airport Road, North Bay, Ontario  P1B 8H1  |  Tel: 705.472.8170  | nearnorthschools.ca 

 

Title: COVID-19 Management Update 

Contact:   Tim Graves  
Date Submitted: November 10, 2021 
Mandate:  As per the NNDSB MYSP, we remain committed to promoting public 

confidence and community support in public education through timely, 
accurate, effective, and transparent communication of Board 
initiatives, vision and goals. This report provides an update on 
COVID-19 management to the Board of Trustees. 
 

Background: Vaccination Disclosure:   
On Thursday, October 28, 2021, Education Minister Stephen Lecce 
announced that effective November 10, 2021, individuals who are 
subject to rapid antigen testing requirements must now provide 
verification of negative test results three times per week from the two 
currently required.  All staff to which this policy applies have been 
given an updated testing schedule and access to additional test kits to 
support the new requirement. 
 
Extra-Curricular Activities: 
The Near North District School Board has safely welcomed spectators 
to NDA football games, and is presently finalizing guidelines to also 
permit spectators at NDA Hockey Games. At this time spectators are 
not permitted at indoor sporting events in schools, consistent with 
OFSAA guidelines around spectators.  
 
Expanded COVID-19 Testing Strategy for Ontario Schools: 
On Thursday, October 28th 2021, Education Minister Stephen Lecce 
announced two new testing approaches being made available to 
school communities. The North Bay Parry Sound Health Unit has 
decided that these testing strategies will not be implemented in our 
area due to low case counts and the strong testing measures already 
in place.  
 
COVID-19 School Screening: 
There has recently been a minor update made to the COVID-19 
School and Childcare Screening Tool. Unvaccinated Individuals 
returning from international travel may not attend school or childcare 
for 14 days upon their return. For further clarity, while unvaccinated 
children under the age of 12 are exempt from federal quarantine if 
they travelled with a fully vaccinated companion, they may not attend 



 

963 Airport Road, North Bay, Ontario  P1B 8H1  |  Tel: 705.472.8170  | nearnorthschools.ca 

school or childcare for 14 days upon their return. Individuals with all 
other quarantine exemptions (e.g., travelling for cross-border custody 
arrangements; travelling for medical treatment) may continue to 
attend school or childcare. This information was communicated in our 
NNDSB Parent Letter on November 5th, 2021. 
 
Vaccination Clinics: 
A number of COVID-19 Vaccination Clinics were held in Secondary 
Schools across the district during the months of September and 
October. Plans are now underway to host Child Vaccination Clinics 
for 5–12-year-old children at our schools. These clinics are expected 
to take place on evenings and weekends at the end of November and 
into early December.  
 
Community Libraries: 
Two community libraries were reopened during the month of October 
thanks to planning and cooperation between the NNDSB and the 
municipal staff in Argyle and Mattawa.  
 
Community Use of Schools: 
The NDDSB is not able to accommodate community use requests at 
this time.  A message has been shared on the Community Use page 
of the Board website to explain that the additional workload to 
implement cleaning protocols is impossible to maintain at this time, 
particularly in light of staff shortages.  
 
Field Trips: 
Field trips are permitted in our schools, with an additional layer of 
approval now included to ensure that all COVID-19 protocols are 
considered. A cautious approach to field trips has been encouraged. 
This update was shared with School Administrators on October 13th. 
More information and links can be found on page 15 of the NNDSB 
COVID-19 Operational Procedures document. 
 
For your reference, the public link to the NNDSB COVID-19 
Operational Procedures 2021/2022 Document can be found here 
 

 
 
 

https://www.nearnorthschools.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/NNDSB-COVID-19-Operational-Procedure.pdf


 

1 | P a g e  
 

 

Title: Director’s Update 

Contact:   Craig Myles, Director of Education 

Date Submitted: Board Meeting November 16, 2021 

Welcome As the month of November unfolds, I would like to thank all our staff and 
union partners as we continue to refine our practices and protocols related 
to COVID-19 management, particularly as we approach the winter months.  
We continue to work very hard to ensure student success as our school 
year unfolds and remain grateful for the continued expertise from our 
Health Unit and our Ministry on remaining vigilant to protect our students, 
while supporting our staff with meaningful resiliency strategies. 
 

Program 
Updates  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Monthly Kudos- October honouree: 
The monthly kudos honourees are selected to align with members of our 
team that embody our strategic commitments- Excellence in Teaching and 
Learning, Excellence in Innovation, Excellence in Relationships, and 
Excellence in Communication contained in our MYSP.  
  
Please join us in recognizing this well-deserved member of our team for the 
month of October 2021: Lisa Spencer! 
 
Lisa is recognized for the extensive variety of projects she is supporting 
that truly speak to the value of the coordinator role and how far it can be 
stretched. For her work supporting the leadership modules, working with 
staff to build the NTIP and OWLS programs, supporting the work of our 
Mental Health Lead, and for her current involvement with Lucio Pavone on 
the newly announced PSW project. Lisa is a shining example of Excellence 
in Relationships, as this work speaks to the importance of cultivating strong 
relationships internally that we can use to model our external partnerships 
and relationships after.  
  
NNDSB Leadership Learning Update  
NNDSB is pleased to announce the online leadership learning modules 
have formally launched. This opportunity is open for all staff who wish to 
partake in succession planning growth. The content in the modules is most 
relevant to educational staff but they do provide access to leadership skills 
that are fundamental to any leadership role and have been designed to 
allow continuous intake to be completed on a schedule that suits the 
learner. This opportunity is intended to support the board’s ongoing efforts 
toward strategic succession planning, which ensures NNDSB always has 
the right leaders in place.  Authentic engagement in a comprehensive 



 

2 | P a g e  
 

leadership plan is our best chance to grow and thrive, and these learning 
modules present a great step forward in this journey. Further succession 
planning for non-educational staff is currently being explored and will 
include cross training, mentoring, and job shadowing  opportunities. 
 
Co-Operative Education Program 
It is noted that the emphasis in co-op is for the student to explore and 
experience a career that they are considering as a destination after high 
school and post-secondary training. There are many noted benefits for the 
students, as well as the placement host. Participating in co-op assists 
students in making more informed decisions about their future education 
and career pathway plans, while also learning about career opportunities 
available locally. NNDSB continues to be thankful to industry partners for 
accepting students into co-op placements. 
 
School Climate Survey 
A safe, inclusive, and accepting school environment is essential for student 
success and well-being. As part of NNDSB’s compliance with Bill 13 
Accepting Schools Act, the board has shared an invitation with students, 
parents, and staff to participate in a School Climate Survey. The purpose of 
this school climate survey is to find out about equity and inclusivity in our 
schools; gather information about bullying and harassment; and determine 
which health and well-being practices best support students.  
 
NNDSB values our students, parents and staff voices. These School 
Climate Surveys are an opportunity for their voices to be heard and to 
collectively make a difference to improve and maintain positive school 
climates. 
 
PSW Living Classroom Program Launch 
NNDSB is proud to partner with Cassellholme in North Bay to provide 
Personal Support Worker (PSW) training in a living classroom environment 
at Cassellholme. Participants in the program will do their theoretical 
learning in a classroom at Cassellholme, then be able to apply those skills 
on the floor of the long-term care home, without having to wait for theory 
work to end before experiencing placement. NNDSB hopes to help fill a 
growing demand for trained PSWs and to provide people 18 years of age 
and older with an exciting career path while contributing to our community 
by creating a critical mass of health care professionals.  
 
NNDSB will work closely with community partners to establish a hands-on 
program, inclusive of placements, in partnered long-term care facilities. The 
board continues to seek partnerships with local long-term care homes in all 
regions of the board to re-engage learners who are 18+ interested in 
training to become a PSW. The board is pleased to recognize Acting 



 

3 | P a g e  
 

Principal Pavone, Superintendent Gray and the Officer of Corporate Affairs, 
L. Blaskievich for their leadership to initiate this innovative partnership.  
 
Environmental Stewardship 
NNDSB is committed to helping students, staff and communities 
understand environmental needs and issues. As part of the board’s 
ongoing efforts, we recognize our responsibility to take a leadership role in 
environmental awareness across the board. Our commitment to 
environmental principles is displayed through a variety of school-based 
activities, board decision-making and planning for the future. We are 
pleased to highlight a number of these efforts to share how staff and 
student remain committed to advancing environmental awareness, 
education, and care: 

• Walking School Bus (planning to start soon with NPSSTS) 
• Whole-school focus on electronic means (Email, Edsby and School 

Messenger) of communication as an environmental strategy. 
• 'Take me Outside' day recognition  

During the 2021-22 school year the Program Department will establish an 
Environmental Education/Environmental Stewardship Working Group.  The 
group will consist of cross panel educators, administrators and system 
leaders.  The intention of the group will be to review resources available to 
deepen this work, communicate and share best practices in the system and 
support initiatives currently occurring and the development of further 
initiatives with a teaching and learning focus to the work. We look forward 
to reporting back on this work.  
 
NNDSB has begun conversations with Forestry Ontario on a tree-planting 
initiative in the Spring of 2022. Students in the SHSM Environment 
programs will be invited to mentor students in feeder schools about the 
benefits of tree planting to improve the environment. Logistics of the 
initiative will be worked out over the next few months. We would hope to 
also involve parents and community partners in this important 
environmental initiative.   
 

Administrative 
Guidelines for 
consultation  

Draft Administrative Guidelines are placed on the website for the public 
consultation phase. Feedback will be collected for 30 days. Currently, there 
are no AGs on the website for stakeholder input. Please continue to check 
back regularly. When documents are added for consultation, they are 
placed here:  
 
https://www.nearnorthschools.ca/board/administrative-guidelines/  
 

https://www.nearnorthschools.ca/board/administrative-guidelines/


 

4 | P a g e  
 

Event Updates  Special Recognition Days 
This month NNDSB is pleased to acknowledge special recognition days for 
their educational value, and connection to the Board’s mission, vision, and 
strategic plan. The following are a few examples noted this month, in 
addition to those shared as part of other board communications. 
Meaningful ways individual schools have recognized each day are featured 
on school websites and included in the monthly Chair/ Director newsletter, 
Near North Matters.  
 
November 1-7, 2021: Treaties Recognition Week 
In the first week of November, we acknowledged Treaties Recognition 
Week. A number of learning opportunities were scheduled throughout the 
week for all staff to participate in. On November 3, 2021, NNDSB was 
honoured to host well-known Anishinaabe historian, Alan Corbiere, for a 
personal visit. Thank you to our Indigenous Education Lead Tracy Hendrick 
for organizing this experience. 
 
November 8, 2021- National Indigenous Veterans Day 
NNDSB recognizes this day of remembrance and commemoration of the 
contributions of Indigenous veterans in the First and Second World Wars, 
as well as the Korean War. This Indigenous Veterans Day, we would like to 
express our gratitude for the contributions Indigenous veterans have made 
to Canada.  
 
November 11, 2021: Remembrance Day 
On November 11, 2021, staff and students paused to express solemn 
gratitude for those who have given their lives for Canada and for peace. 
We also celebrate the inheritance of freedom and democracy they have 
entrusted to us. This is especially meaningful this year as we mark the 
Year of the Poppy, honouring 100 years since the poppy was adopted as a 
symbol of remembrance in Canada 
 
November 15-21, 2021: Anti-Bulling Week 
Bullying has no place in our schools, and we stand for safe, equitable and 
welcoming spaces for learning and working for all of our stakeholders. 
 
November 16, 2021: Honouring Louise Riel and Métis Week in Canada 
In honour of Métis Week in Canada, NNDSB recognizes Louis Riel Day on 
November 16, 2021. Metis Nation of Ontario Education Officer Anne 
Trudel, and North Bay Metis Council representative Jeannie Vaillancourt 
presented a “Metis 101". An invitation was shared with all staff to attend for 
professional development. 
 

 



 
 

 
BOARD MEETING | November 16, 2021 

 
 

Message from the Chair for the Director’s Annual Report  
2020-2021 

 
 
November 16, 2021 

 
 
On behalf of our Board of Trustees which prides itself on teamwork along with strong 
collaboration with our Director and senior leadership team, we are proud of our major 
accomplishments this past year. 
 
It is noteworthy that we have made such progress in the face of a severely disruptive 
pandemic. The over encompassing achievement this year was the completion and initial 
implementation of our Multi-Year Strategic Plan with key engagement with our 
employees. This plan will guide our resources as well as determine our path over the next 
five years impacting Near North student success significantly. The plan includes a fresh 
and contemporary update of our board’s vision, mission and values.  
 
Hand in hand with this plan, we confidently supported our Director and his team with a 
realignment of board human resources to ensure we have the right people in the right 
places for implementation. In terms of school renewal, effective efforts have resulted in 
further progress in consolidation and modernization with W.J. Fricker elementary and 
Parry Sound K-12 schools entering final phases for approval and construction. With the 
goal of further improvement in our educational environment, a comprehensive study of 
facilities in North Bay resulted in a comprehensive plan to incorporate a number of our 
stand-alone services into our former Widdifield Secondary School which is currently 
vacant. 
 
Our board continues to be “student-centric” delivering our vision to ensure all members 
of our educational community contribute to a thriving and inclusive culture of student 
achievement and wellbeing. 
 
 
Jay Aspin 
Chair, Near North District School Board 



 

NORTHERN REGION MEETING 
Saturday, November 6, 2021  

10:00 a.m. to 12:00 p.m. EST 

Video Conference 

https://opsba-org.zoom.us/j/83435038043 

 
 

1. TRADITIONAL TERRITORY ACKNOWLEDGEMENT – Kathryn Pierroz 

  

2. WELCOMING REMARKS AND INTRODUCTIONS – Sheryl Evans 

 

3. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 

 

4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

a) Draft Minutes Regional Conference Meeting, October 16, 2021 

  

5.  CURRENT OPSBA MATTERS AND ISSUES 

a) Project Compass Consultation  
b) 2022-2023 Education Funding Guide / GSN preliminary discussion  

    

6.  DISCUSSION – Next Steps for Northern Region – Sheryl Evans 

 

7. FUTURE MEETINGS  

OPSBA Board of Directors Meeting 

o November 26 & 27, 2021 (Virtual Event) 

Northern Regional Meeting 

o January 28, 2022 (as part of the Public Education Symposium – Virtual Event) 

Public Education Symposium 

o January 28, 2022 (Virtual Event) 

Education Labour Relations and Human Resources Conference 

o April 28 & 29, 2022 (Location TBD) 

Annual General Meeting 

o June 9-11, 2022 (Ottawa, ON) 

   

8. ADJOURNMENT 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Priorities of Ontario’s Northern School Boards and 

Authorities  

Data to Support Change 

 

Ontario Public School Boards’ Association 

 

Research conducted in conjunction with Wilfrid Laurier University’s Master of Applied Politics Program 

Report prepared by Claudia Broda, Emma Dufour, and Karly Mabee 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



   
 

   
 

1 

Contents 
Contents .................................................................................................................................................... 1 

Executive Summary ................................................................................................................................... 2 

Introduction .............................................................................................................................................. 3 

Research Methods..................................................................................................................................... 3 

Results ....................................................................................................................................................... 4 

Indigenous Education ........................................................................................................................ 4 

Special Education .............................................................................................................................. 5 

Experiential Learning ........................................................................................................................ 6 

Mental Health & Well-Being ............................................................................................................. 8 

Recommendations .................................................................................................................................... 9 

Appendix: Participating Boards and Authorities ...................................................................................... 10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 



   
 

   
 

2 

Executive Summary 
 

Northern School Boards and School Authorities face unique challenges in providing educational services 

in comparison to their southern, more urban counterparts. In response to this, the Ontario Public School 

Boards’ Association (OPSBA) has identified four Priority Areas in need of greater support from the 

Ontario Ministry of Education: Indigenous Education, Special Education, Experiential Learning, and 

Mental Health and Well-Being.  

 

OPSBA, in partnership with graduate students at Wilfrid Laurier University, conducted a four-month-long 

research project inquiring into specifics about Northern Board and Authority needs regarding each of 

the four Priority Areas. This project relied on surveys and interviews to gather data directly from each 

Northern Board and Authority. All eight Boards and three Authorities responded, yielding a 100% 

participation rate.  

 

Overall, the research found that funding and staffing were the two greatest challenges for all Boards and 

Authorities across all Priority Areas. Eighty-one percent indicated a need for an enhanced funding model 

that would increase the funding dollars provided to Boards, as well as updating the funding formula to 

better reflect the unique needs of Northern communities. Ninety-one percent of respondents identified 

a need for enhanced staffing support, particularly for Indigenous Education, Special Education, and 

Mental Health & Well-Being. More specifically, three main themes emerged for each of the four areas: 

 

Priority Area Key Needs 
 

Indigenous Education 
 

 Adequate funding  

 Differentiated staffing formula  

 Human resources 
 

 

Special Education 
 

 Improved access to quality services  

 Investment in specialized staff  

 Predictable funding 
 

 

Experiential Learning 
 

 Improved funding model  

 Additional non-funding supports  

 Understanding of Northern 
circumstances 

 

 

Mental Health & Well-Being 
 

 Fill gaps in service and support 
recruitment  

 Suicide prevention and intervention  

 Timely access to high quality services  
 

Table 1: Summary of Key Needs for Each Priority Area 

 

 



   
 

   
 

3 

Based on these findings, it is recommended that the Ontario Ministry of Education:  

 Consult with Northern Boards and Authorities when determining funding packages.  

 Implement Board- and Authority-specific needs assessments when making decisions about 

funding.  

 Implement increased flexibility in teaching qualifications for specialized staff in the Northern 

region.  

 

 

Introduction 
 

As part of a research practicum starting in May, three graduate students from Wilfrid Laurier 

University’s Master of Applied Politics conducted research in partnership with Sheryl Evans (Regional 

Chair, Northern Region) and Kathryn Pierroz (Regional Vice-Chair, Northern Region) regarding the 

Northern School Boards and School Authorities. Senior staff with the Ontario Public School Boards’ 

Association (OPSBA) supported the project. The Northern Ontario region differs significantly from the 

more urban south of the province due to a variety of challenges such as vast geographic area, difficulties 

with staffing, and a lack of specialized services and resources in Northern communities. These factors 

impact the ability of Northern Boards and Authorities to optimally deliver education in their region, 

despite the ingenuity and resourcefulness they exhibit daily. As a result, OPSBA’s Northern Region has 

identified four Priority Areas that are important for student success in the North and that need 

increased support from the Ontario Ministry of Education. These areas include Indigenous Education, 

Experiential Learning, Special Education and Mental Health & Well-Being.  

 

To identify the specific needs of the Northern region, a survey was conducted in conjunction with 

interviews to identify and better understand the challenges and barriers that exist in the Northern 

region, and to identify its greatest needs regarding these four areas. The survey and interviews allowed 

researchers to gather both quantitative and qualitative data that establishes key action items for 

improving service delivery across the four Priority Areas in the North. All Boards and Authorities 

participated in the research project, indicating that results are representative of the greatest needs for 

the Northern region as a whole. 

 

 

Research Methods 
 

A survey was conducted with all Northern Boards and Authorities. It consisted of ranking, multiple 

choice, and textbox questions; it asked respondents about the supports and services offered in each 

Board or Authority, as well as the challenges and greatest needs in each of the four Priority Areas. It also 

asked a set of demographic questions to better understand and identify each Board and Authority. The 

survey took approximately 10 minutes to complete and was made accessible from June 16, 2021, to 

June 25, 2021. All the Boards and Authorities participated, yielding a response rate of 100%.  

 

Interviews were conducted over a two-week time span beginning on June 30, 2021. The goal of these 

interviews was to supplement the data from the surveys with storytelling and qualitative evidence, in 

order to greater understand the situation of each Board and Authority. The questions aimed to learn 



   
 

   
 

4 

more about the challenges each Board and Authority faces in relation to the four Priority Areas, as well 

as action items and resources that would be most helpful in addressing these challenges and improving 

student success. The interviews were semi-structured, and as such the questions were prepared in 

advance while still allowing researchers to ask to follow up questions when appropriate. The interviews 

ranged in length from 20 to 60 minutes, depending on the level of detail and time respondents were 

able to give during the interview. The response rate for the interviews was 71%, yielding a total of 10 

completed.  

 

 

Results 
 

Overall, funding and staffing emerged as two of the most prominent themes across all Boards and 

Authorities.  

 

Indeed, 81% of respondents indicated that there is a need for enhanced funding support for all four 

Priority Areas. Here, the use of the word ‘enhanced’ acknowledges that Boards and Authorities do not 

only need an increase in the funding dollar amount, but also require other structural changes to the 

current funding model provided by the Ministry of Education. The ‘one size fits all’ funding approach is 

not effective for the Northern region, and change is a necessary step to ensuring quality, equitable 

educational opportunities for all students in Ontario.  

 

In addition, 91% of respondents indicated a need for improved staffing support across areas of 

Indigenous Education, Special Education, and Mental Health & Well-Being. Recruitment and retention of 

staff both pose unique challenges to Northern communities, and significantly impact their ability to 

provide adequate support and opportunities for their students. This is particularly the case for 

specialized staff positions, such as psychologists, mental health professionals, graduation coaches, and 

Indigenous language instructors, as well as support staff including educational assistants (EAs). 

 

Indigenous Education 

 

In this research, the term Indigenous Education is used to broadly capture all aspects of educating 

Indigenous students, as well as educating all students on Indigenous language, culture, and history. It is 

also important to acknowledge that Indigenous Education is not just curricular, as School Boards and 

School Authorities work creatively with limited resources to meet the mental, physical, and spiritual 

well-being needs of students. The survey and interview data shows opportunities to better support the 

efforts that Northern Boards and Authorities make. 

  

The first is adequate funding. Adequate funding in our research was defined as more funding dollars. 

73% of respondents identified increased funding as most necessary compared to 6 other indicators. 

Although more funding is needed to meet the lack of staff and resources, the funding must also be 

consistent and based on consultation with the Board or Authority that needs it. This does not necessarily 

mean just more money, but instead money that is allocated based on demonstrated need rather than 

on a per-capita student basis. Northern Boards and Authorities require increased funding for the 

services of Indigenous language instruction, culturally relevant learning spaces, and the incorporation of 



   
 

   
 

5 

Elders and Knowledge Keepers in the classroom. The need for Indigenous education in the North of 

Ontario is unique and should be compensated accordingly.  

  

The second is differentiated staffing formulas for Northern Boards and Authorities. 77% of respondents 

identified that this actionable item would be beneficial to improving the delivery of Indigenous 

Education in their Board or Authority. Differentiated staffing formulas refers to creating smaller 

classroom sizes, and funding to allow for Elders and Knowledge Keepers in the classroom. The staffing 

formula should not be ‘one size fits all,’ in order to avoid limiting Northern Boards and Authorities 

capacity to deliver Indigenous Education. It is important for students in the Northern Boards and 

Authorities to have equal opportunity to a high-quality public education, which provides a diversity of 

courses. This means that even if classes are not full, they should not be cut from the schedule due to a 

smaller classroom size per the staffing formula. There is a greater need for decreased educator to 

student ratios in Northern classrooms to provide learning opportunities that respect the Indigenous 

tradition of storytelling and oral communication of history. One interview respondent suggested that 

“We want the kids, we want our [F]irst [N]ations, to see themselves reflected in the curriculum and in 

our schools.” The way to begin to integrate this curriculum is to make classrooms more manageable in 

size and increase funding for the incorporation of Indigenous curriculum.  

  

Finally, human resources were identified as being a key need for improving the quality of Indigenous 

Education in Northern Boards and Authorities. Human resources are defined as human capital and the 

addition of staff, retention of staff, and creation of more flexible qualification requirements. Ninety-two 

percent of respondents selected human resources among the top three biggest challenges they are 

facing. From the interviews, it is clear that Northern Boards and Authorities are struggling to fill 

specialized support staff positions and Indigenous language positions. This has been attributed to the 

funding schedule, as many of these positions are contract, and if funding changes the position could be 

cut. This lack of stability makes it challenging for potential employees to move their whole life to a new 

place for a one-year contract. An additional human resources challenge is the requirement of the 

Ontario College of Teachers that there be one licensed instructor in each classroom, with the College 

requiring two years of full-time studies to become a qualified educator. This makes it especially 

challenging to have Elders and Knowledge Keepers in the classroom as they must fund both that 

individual and an instructor to be present at the same time.  

  

Overall, these challenges must be addressed in consultation, as the principle of “nothing about us 

without us” should be applied to represent the voices of the Indigenous community and meet the needs 

they identify using methods that they deem most fitting. The North is unique, and each Board and 

Authority is also unique, so the ways that education policy is addressed in the North should be equally 

unique to meet the needs of the diverse student population. 

 

Special Education 

 

Special Education involves education programming and support for students with exceptionalities. The 

survey results indicated three themes that emerged regarding this Priority Area.  

 



   
 

   
 

6 

Across the Boards and Authorities, it became evident that the most challenging area of need for Special 

Education is access to supports and services. Eighty-three percent of respondents from the Boards and 

Authorities agreed that access to these services needs to be improved. The waitlists for assessments 

continue to be exceptionally long. In the survey, one Board stated that “a lot of pressure is being put on 

parents because there are not enough services being offered to the students. Families must wait up to 

two years to access Special Education services.” Another indicated that “in any given year […] we’re able 

to probably do anywhere from six to eight assessments within the school. […] it's really a drop in the 

bucket for us.” Yet another respondent stated that “reassessments need to be done every year, 

however, there is a lack of resources to do this.” This lack of services and resources has a negative 

impact on the students and affects their ability to be successful in an educational setting. Programming 

and assessments need to be improved to a point where each student has timely access to these 

services.  

 

Secondly, the survey results show that all of the Boards and Authorities indicated a need for investment 

in specialized support staff. One respondent indicated that it is exceedingly difficult to find staff with 

specific qualifications such as teachers of the Deaf and Hard of Hearing and the Blind, speech and 

language pathology, etc. It is also difficult to retain and recruit specialized staff because wages and 

benefits are low. Lack of housing also emerged as an issue that impacts staffing. Given these staffing 

barriers, investing in staff and improving their wages and benefits would be beneficial in the Northern 

region. One interview respondent stated “It is difficult to fill positions that require expertise. Therefore, 

addressing the broadband piece by the government would be important because this would allow for an 

innovative way to keep and obtain specialized staff.” Digital provision of specialized support is not ideal, 

given the physical and in-person nature of some supports such as speech language therapy. However, 

improving connectivity to allow for increased virtual Special Education support would allow for some of 

these staffing issues to be lessened. 

 

Lastly, 92% of respondents indicated that funding needs to be more consistent on a year-to-year basis. A 

survey respondent stated “It is exceedingly difficult to hire staff to support students with Special 

Education needs because of the uncertainty that comes with funding. There is no consistency when it 

comes to funding, therefore it is a lot more difficult to hire exceptional full-time staff and to be able to 

provide specialized services for Special Education students.”  

 

In addition to this, survey respondents indicated that “one of the biggest challenges that First Nation 

families and students face in the application process for Jordan’s Principle is sustainable funding.” Due 

to the uncertainty of funding, students are not able to obtain the support that they truly need because 

there is a lack of consistency and continuity in being able to provide specific services and to hire 

professionals. Implementing a more consistent and predictable funding system would ensure each 

Board and Authority in Northern Ontario would have enough funds to provide students with the services 

and professionals they need to be successful.  

 

Experiential Learning 

 

The survey results for Experiential Learning were quite varied at times, particularly regarding questions 

about which programs are most impactful for student success. This variation indicates that each student 



   
 

   
 

7 

learns differently and excels in unique ways, exemplifying the importance of access to a well-rounded 

set of Experiential Learning opportunities. 

 

In terms of the Experiential Learning Priority Area, three main needs emerged from the data: an 

improved funding model, additional non-funding supports, and a need for decision makers to 

understand Northern circumstances.  

 

The most prominent need is an improved funding model. This does not necessarily mean just an 

increase in the dollar amount available. Instead, the research shows that Boards and Authorities need to 

be consulted in the process of fund allocation, to determine where funds should be focused. Northern 

Boards and Authorities are aware of the situations and needs of their student populations and are 

working tirelessly to improve their programming. As one survey respondent stated, “we have a clear 

vision of what we would like to see happen and rather than us trying to fit different funding envelopes 

to this, it would be great to [… be] able to share and discuss, providing the scope of the work and how 

different funding components […] would be utilized.” Approaching funding in this collaborative manner 

by taking the Boards’ and Authorities’ plans into consideration will allow funds to be used more 

efficiently and have a greater impact on the success of program and service delivery.  

 

Also key for Experiential Learning is support not related to funding. Over half of respondents – 55% – 

indicated that this was important for improving Experiential Learning opportunities for students. Most 

frequently mentioned within this umbrella of support not related to funding was increased help with 

facilitating student placements for co-ops and apprenticeships. Northern Boards and Authorities are 

having difficulty establishing lasting partnerships with community organizations that are willing to take 

on students. Increased facilitation efforts would enable more students to receive placement 

opportunities and gain valuable workplace experience and hands-on skills. Ideas that were brought 

forward through the surveys and interviews include a database of willing employers in each region, as 

well as educating potential employers on the benefits of taking on co-op and apprenticeship students.  

 

Finally, the research shows that for meaningful change to occur, decision makers need to understand 

the situations of Northern communities. Sixty-three percent of Boards and Authorities noted this, many 

of them citing the differences in ways of life between the Northern and Southern Ontario communities – 

as well as the true costs that come with running programs in these Northern areas. These points are 

best illuminated with examples from the interviews. One respondent noted that the remote location of 

their Board or Authority means that certain modes of transportation such as boat and snowmobile are 

key to navigating everyday life in the community. Therefore, teaching students how to safely ride in 

these vehicles forms an integral part of experiential learning in the area. When submitting requests for 

Experiential Learning opportunities, these Boards and Authorities need the Ministry of Education to 

understand the ways in which the activities differ from a similar activity in the South. In terms of the 

true costs of running Experiential Learning programs in the North, respondents noted higher 

transportation costs due to the need to travel longer distances and higher costs of gas, as well as the 

cost of food and equipment to ensure student safety and comfort during experiences.  

 

 



   
 

   
 

8 

Mental Health & Well-Being 

 

Mental Health and Well-Being supports and services are integral to student success. Respondents have 

noted that it is difficult for children to focus on learning when they are facing mental or emotional 

distress. Mental Health and Well-Being fundamentally impacts the academic performance of children 

and youth, as well as their overall life – and the supports available in schools need to reflect this. As one 

respondent stated, “some children come to school to learn, some children come to school to be loved.” 

 

In terms of Mental Health and Well-Being, it was evident that there is a need to fill gaps in service and 

support the recruitment of specialty staff. Indeed, 82% of the Boards and Authorities identified a lack of 

psychologists, mental health support workers, and social workers. One survey respondent stated that 

“recruiting staff is extremely difficult. Many Boards find it difficult to get people to apply for jobs. In one 

Board, an Indigenous social worker role was posted and advertised five times with no success.” Another 

survey respondent also stated that their “Mental Health and Addictions nurse went on parent leave, and 

[they] could not find a replacement for the year, therefore they had to do without one.” Without these 

specialized support staff, it is difficult to meet the basic Mental Health needs of the students and to 

ensure full support for their mental and emotional well-being.  

 

Second, 80% of the Boards and Authorities in the Northern region indicated that there needs to be more 

adequate funding for suicide prevention and intervention. Students need to be provided with the proper 

programs and services to aid in crisis situations and prevention efforts. One survey respondent stated 

that “there is a lack of support for students with the greatest Mental Health needs as there is not 

enough treatments centres and it is difficult to access Mental Health services at school. There is a high 

number of suicides in various First Nation communities because of this.” Funding for better prevention 

and intervention is especially key in the Northern region, given this high rate of youth suicide. 

 

Finally, students need timely access to high quality services. Fifty-five percent of the Boards and 

Authorities stated that students do not have timely access to support services, which exacerbates 

already existing challenges to meet the Mental Health needs of students. One Board stated that “there 

is only one social worker for the entire Board, which makes it almost impossible for students to get the 

support that they need quickly.” In Boards and Authorities where specialty staff are shared across 

multiple areas, geographic challenges factor into their ability to provide timely and quality services. In 

some instances, the staff may be a three-hour drive away from the student in need of support. One 

interview respondent stated that “programs need to be implemented for students to provide specialists 

and other necessary things that will help to produce better outcomes for students. Exceptionally long 

wait times and waitlists set back students from getting the help that they need.” More timely access to 

services is key to supporting the Mental Health & Well-Being of students in the Northern region. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



   
 

   
 

9 

Recommendations 
 

Considering the above findings, the Ontario Ministry of Education should: 

 

1. Consult with Northern Boards and Authorities when determining funding packages. Northern 

Boards and Authorities are knowledgeable about the needs of their communities and have specific 

visions for improving the services they provide. Consulting with Northern Boards and Authorities prior to 

finalizing funding packages will enable them to use funds in the most effective way, ensuring that 

government funding has the biggest impact possible. 

 

2. Implement Board- or Authority-specific needs assessments as part of funding decisions. Have each 

Northern Board and Authority submit a summary of their needs in each Priority Area and use this 

information to supplement the current per-capita funding model. This will ensure that there is equitable 

access to services for all students, regardless of where they live. 

 

3. Implement increased flexibility in the teaching qualifications for specialized staff in Northern 

regions. Obtaining qualifications is a huge barrier to staffing positions in the North, and flexibility would 

allow schools to hire based on relevant skill for areas such as Indigenous Language instruction and 

skilled trade classes.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



   
 

   
 

10 

Appendix: Participating Boards and Authorities 
 

Participating Northern Boards and Authorities are listed below in alphabetical order. 

 

Algoma District School Board 

District School Board Ontario North East 

Keewatin-Patricia District School Board 

Lakehead District School Board 

Near North District School Board 

Rainbow District School Board 

Rainy River District School Board 

Superior-Greenstone District School Board 

James Bay Lowlands District School Board 

Moose Factory Island District School Board 

Moosonee District School Board 

 

Also participating in the research was OPSBA’s Indigenous Trustees’ Council. 

 

Thank you to all boards and authorities who participated. 

 

 



Student Trustee Update 

Regular Board Meeting 

Tuesday, November 16th, 2021 

6:00 p.m.  

 

Good evening fellow board members,  

 

 As we progress through November, there have been many interesting and educational 

events occurring for students across the board. From sports games, arts programs, and planned 

theme days, student activity has been booming in the past month. Extending the recognition of 

Indigenous history, treaty acknowledgement week, and Indigenous veterans, several secondary 

schools, such as West Ferris and Northern have participated in and planned a Walk for Wenjack. 

As well as the Student Senate team is working towards cohesion and equality for Indigenous 

peoples through reading of land acknowledgements. In continuation of this, the Indigenous 

Youth Circle has begun holding monthly meetings, and I had the honour to attend and speak 

about my role, the responsibilities of a Student Trustee and the application process to help their 

election of an Indigenous member.  

 

 Additionally, sports seasons have been progressing throughout the Near North District 

School Board. As girls’ basketball and boys’ volleyball continue to wrap up, and OSFAA is in 

the near future (being hosted at Chippewa Secondary School), tryouts for the next activities are 

beginning. In terms of individual athletic opportunities, cross country runners attended 

championships, and Nordic skiers have begun training. Other extra-curricular activities, such as 

band, theater and choir, are nearing their time of performance, and are adapting their shows to 

virtual or outdoor.  



 

 The boards student councils truly orchestrated successful Halloween activities. At 

Northern, their annual movie trailer contest, which included both NSS and ÉSPNO, was a hit, 

with numerous entries. Students were able to enjoy their friends' trailers on the Friday before 

Halloween, before participating in the rest of the day's activities which included a Halloween art 

contest. Almaguin, Chippewa, Parry Sound, and West Ferris, had varying events consisting of 

costume contests and pumpkin carving, which were greatly enjoyed among students. 

 

  Looking to the future, student councils are focussing on Remembrance Day, and anti-

bullying awareness. As well as, holiday celebrations are in discussion, and several schools have 

been in contact with their local foodbank, to organize toy and food drives this season. Secondary 

schools including Almaguin, and F.J McElligot are preparing to host university and college 

presentations for grade 11 and 12 students from schools such as University of Ottawa, Canadore 

College and more.  

 

 Near the beginning of the month I had the pleasure to attend the Ontario Student Trustees 

Association’s Fall General Meeting. I was able to network with many amazing Student Trustees 

from across the province, and learn from mentors, and influential guest speakers. All of this 

knowledge will help me in my role as both a Student Trustee, and advocate for student voice 

within the board. We had a session with the deputy minister of education that was incredibly 

informative, as well as presentations by executive council members with information to help us 

thrive in our role, and to accomplish our goals within our term. Additionally, I was excepted as a 

member of the environmental sustainability working group within OSTA-AECO, which will be 



beginning in the upcoming days, where we will advocate for environmental justice within our 

boards, and work on initiatives to create more environmentally conscience schools.   

 

 The Student Senate has been working towards implementing an Indigenous Student 

Trustee, to gain equity and inclusion at the board table. In addition, we have assigned a focus of 

specific elements such as the student body’s views on the current schedule system at hand, as 

well as assuring students know the Student Senate group, and our goals, mission, and how to 

reach us. We are reaching these objectives through student voice representatives and 

collaboration with students to amplify their voices.  

 

This past month has been a busy and interactive time for students., and the Student 

Senate group is excited to continue to improve the education experience for their peers of the 

Near North District School Board. I would like to thank you for your time and interest in the 

work of the Student Senate and the Student Trustee.  

-Cecilia Darling 

Student Trustee 

 

 



 
 

 

 

       BOARD REPORT 
 

Title: By-law Levying Education Taxes for 2022 

Subsection 257.7(1) of the Education Act 

Contact:   Seija Van Haesendonck, Superintendent of Business 

Date Submitted: Board Meeting November 16, 2021 

Mandate:   School boards are responsible for levying taxes at the rates set out in 
Ontario Regulation 400/98 made under the Education Act and are 
required to pass by-laws annually for that purpose.  

Background: In accordance with subsection 257.11 of the Act, the Ministry of Finance 
will pay out to school boards the amounts levied annually in respect of 
Education taxes. 

These payments will be made on or before the regular installment dates 
of: 

March 31 

June 30 

September 30 

December 15 

To be eligible to receive installment payments as described above, the 
by-law levying the tax must be passed, and evidence of same must be 
received by the Ministry no later than December 31, 2021. 

Recommendation: That the Board approve the following: 
 
Whereas subsection 257.7(1) of the Education Act requires the Board to 
levy the tax rates prescribed under section 257.12 of the Act; 
 
And whereas Ontario Regulation 400/98 prescribes the tax rates under 
subsection 257.12 of the Act; 
 
Now therefore the Board enacts as follows: 
 
The rates set out in Ontario Regulation 400/98 for 2022 are hereby levied 
in localities within the area of jurisdiction of the Board on the property 
indicated in section 257.7 of the Act. 
   

 



www.ontario.ca 
 

Ministry of Finance 
 
Compliance Branch 
Provincial Land Tax 
PO Box 625 
33 King Street West 
Oshawa ON  L1H 8H9 
Tel: 1 905 431-8564 
Fax: 905 433-5770 

Ministère des Finances  
 
Direction de l'observation fiscal 
L’impôt foncier provincial 
C.P. 625 
33, rue King Ouest 
Oshawa ON  L1H 8H9 
Tél: 1 905 431-8564 
Téléc: 905 433-5770 

 
 

 
September 24, 2021 
 
Sent via email only:  Seija.VanHaesendonck@nearnorthschools.ca 
 
Near North District School Board 
Attention: Seija Van Haesendonck 
963 Airport Road 
PO Box 3110 
North Bay ON  P1B 8H1 
 
 
Re: By-law Levying Education Taxes for 2022 
 Subsection 257.7(1) of the Education Act (Act) 
 
School boards are responsible for levying tax at the rates set out in Ontario Regulation 
400/98 made under the Act and are required to pass by-laws annually for that purpose.  
Attached is sample wording that can be used for the purposes of passing the said by-
law.   
 
In accordance with subsection 257.11 of the Act, the Ministry of Finance will pay out to 
the school boards the amounts levied annually in respect of Education Taxes.  
 
These payments will be made on or before the regular installment dates of: 
 

o March 31st 
o June 30th 
o September 30th  
o December 15th 

 
To be eligible to receive installment payments as detailed above, your by-law 
levying the tax must be passed, and evidence of the same must be received by 
the ministry, no later than December 31, 2021.   
 
Please forward an originally signed by-law to my attention at the above noted address. 
 
 
 



www.ontario.ca 
 

 
 
If you wish, you may also e-mail an electronic version of your signed by-law to 
michelle.spellen@ontario.ca, however, the original must be submitted prior to 
December 31, 2021. 
 
If you have any questions regarding this letter, please feel free to contact the writer 
directly. 
 
 
 
Yours truly, 
 
 

M L Spellen 
 

Michelle Spellen 
Provincial Land Tax Program Analyst 
Ministry of Finance 
 
enclosure 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



www.ontario.ca 
 

 
 
 
Sample wording: 
 
Whereas subsection 257.7(1) of the Education Act (Act) requires the Board to levy the 
tax rates prescribed under section 257.12 of the Act;  
 
And whereas Ontario Regulation 400/98 prescribes the tax rates under subsection 
257.12(1) of the Act;  
 
Now therefore the Board enacts as follows:  
 
The rates set out in Ontario Regulation 400/98 for 2022 are hereby levied in localities 
within the area of jurisdiction of the Board on the property indicated in section 257.7 of 
the Act. 
 
Dated this ___ day of _____, 2021. 
 
 



 
 

 

BOARD MEETING | November 16, 2021 

 

       BOARD REPORT 
Title: Trustee Honoraria 2021 

Contact:   Superintendent of Business Seija Van Haesendonck 

Date Submitted: November 16, 2021 

Mandate: Excellence in Communication – We are committed to promoting public 
confidence and community support in public education through timely, accurate, 
effective, and transparent communication of Board initiatives, vision and goals. 

 

Background: Ontario Regulation 357/06 Honoraria for Board Members outlines the process 
through which school boards shall calculate the limits on honoraria paid to trustees 
under section 191 of the Education Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. E.2. Attached is a copy of 
Ontario Regulation 357/06 for your reference. 

The trustee honoraria is calculated taking into consideration the following 
components as defined by O. Reg. 357/06: base amount, enrolment amount, 
attendance amount, and distance amount. The components and amounts of the 
honoraria are established by policy by the board of trustees in office (predecessor 
board), on or before October 15 of the calendar year in which the term of office 
begins for the newly elected trustees. The board may change the policy at any time 
during the year in such a manner that a component may not be paid, the amount 
of the component is lowered or the percentage applied in calculating the enrolment 
is reduced for a year. If the policy is changed for a year, the original policy may be 
reinstated at any time during the term to which the policy applies.  

In 2021, a year of a member’s term of office begins on December 1st and ends on 
the following November 14th. Beginning in 2022, a year of a member’s term of office 
will begin on November 15th, and end on the following November 14th. 

The enrolment portion of the honoraria is calculated annually for the beginning of 
each new term of office. This is calculated using the estimate of the board’s day 
school average daily enrolment of the fiscal year that ends in the calendar year in 
which the year of a term of office begins. This year the average daily enrolment for 
day school was obtained from the 2020-2021 estimates (fiscal year ending August 
31, 2021). 

For 2021, Trustee honoraria is calculated as follows, effective December 1, 2021 
(the first pay deposit will fall on December 10, 2021): 

Member:  Base 
Amount: 

Enrolment 
Amount: 

Attendance 
Amount: 

Total 
Amount: 

Chair $ 10,900.00 $ 2,367.06 NIL $ 13,267.06 

Vice-Chair $   8,400.00 $ 2,117.06 NIL $ 10,517.06 

Trustee $   5,900.00 $ 1,867.06 NIL $   7,767.06 



 
 

 

BOARD MEETING | November 16, 2021 

As outlined by O. Reg. 357/06, the distance amount cannot exceed $50.00, and 
may be paid to a member for attending in person at any meeting of the board or of 
a committee of the board that is required to be established by an Act or a regulation 
made under an Act.  On the day of the meeting, the distance between the member’s 
residence and the place where the meeting is held must be more than 200 
kilometres, for the member to be eligible to receive the amount, and the member 
may only receive the distance amount once in respect of any day. The distance 
amount per meeting for each eligible member is paid separately. Given that the 
distance amount may be paid to the member for attending any meeting of the board 
or a committee of the board that is required to be established by an Act or a 
Regulation under an Act, a list of actual meetings that this distance amount is 
calculated on should be confirmed. 

 

Recommendation: That the Near North District School Board approves the trustee honoraria for 
2021-2022 as presented, effective December 1, 2021.  

 



1 

Français 

Education Act 

ONTARIO REGULATION 357/06 

HONORARIA FOR BOARD MEMBERS 

Consolidation Period: From December 1, 2018 to the e-Laws currency date. 

Last amendment: 436/18. 

Legislative History: 163/07, 190/10, 164/11, 57/12, 81/14, 190/14, 292/18 (as am. by 436/18), 436/18. 

This is the English version of a bilingual regulation. 

Purpose 

 1.  This Regulation sets out the method for calculating the limits on honoraria paid under section 191 of the Act.  O. Reg. 
357/06, s. 1; O. Reg. 57/12, s. 1. 

Components of honorarium 

 2.  (1)  For a term of office beginning in 2006 or later, the honorarium for a member of a district school board, in respect of 
any year of his or her term of office, shall consist of such of the following components as the board determines, subject to 
section 4; 

 1. The base amount for the year. 

 2. The enrolment amount for the year. 

 3. The attendance amounts payable to the member for the year. 

 4. The distance amounts payable to the member for the year.  O. Reg. 357/06, s. 2 (1). 

 (2)  In 2018, 2019 and 2020, the year of a member’s term of office begins on December 1 and ends on the following 
November 30. O. Reg. 292/18, s. 2. 

 (3)  In 2021, the year of a member’s term of office begins on December 1 and ends on the following November 14. O. Reg. 
292/18, s. 2. 

 (4)  Beginning in 2022, a year of a member’s term of office begins on November 15 and ends on the following November 
14. O. Reg. 292/18, s. 2. 

 3.  REVOKED:  O. Reg. 190/10, s. 1. 

Policy re honorarium components 

 4.  (1)  For a term of office beginning in 2006 or later, the board shall establish a policy, on or before October 15 of the 
calendar year in which the term of office begins, with respect to, 

 (a) which components listed in paragraphs 1 to 4 of subsection 2 (1) it will pay during the term of office;  

 (b) for the base amount, the attendance amount and the distance amount, if the component will be paid, the amount of the 
component to be paid to a member for each year of the term of office, determined in accordance with sections 5, 7 and 
8; and 

 (c) for the enrolment amount, if it will be paid, the percentage to be applied in calculating the enrolment amount limit for a 
member for each year of the term of office.  O. Reg. 357/06, s. 4 (1); O. Reg. 163/07, s. 2 (1); O. Reg. 190/10, s. 2 (1). 

 (2)  The board may, at any time, change its policy under subsection (1) such that a component is not paid for a year, the 
amount of a component to be paid is lowered for a year, or the percentage to be applied in calculating the enrolment amount 
limit is lowered for a year.  O. Reg. 163/07, s. 2 (2). 

 (3)  If the board changes its policy for a year under subsection (2), it may restore the original policy made under subsection 
(1) at any time before the end of the period to which the policy applies.  O. Reg. 163/07, s. 2 (2). 

 (4)  REVOKED:  O. Reg. 190/10, s. 2 (2). 

Base amount 

 5.  (1)  The base amount for a member for a year of a term of office is an amount that does not exceed the base amount limit 
determined under subsection (2), (3) or (4), as the case may be.  O. Reg. 357/06, s. 5 (1). 

 (2)  For a member other than the chair or vice-chair, the base amount limit for the year is $5,900. O. Reg. 436/18, s. 1. 

http://www.ontario.ca/fr/lois/reglement/060357
https://www.ontario.ca/laws/regulation/R06357
http://www.e-laws.gov.on.ca/navigation?file=currencyDates&lang=en
https://www.ontario.ca/laws/regulation/R18436
https://www.ontario.ca/laws/regulation/R07163
https://www.ontario.ca/laws/regulation/R10190
https://www.ontario.ca/laws/regulation/R11164
https://www.ontario.ca/laws/regulation/R12057
https://www.ontario.ca/laws/regulation/R14081
https://www.ontario.ca/laws/regulation/R14190
https://www.ontario.ca/laws/regulation/R18292
https://www.ontario.ca/laws/regulation/R18436
https://www.ontario.ca/laws/regulation/R18436


2 

 (3)  For the chair, the base amount limit for the year is determined by adding $5,000 to the amount determined under 
subsection (2).  O. Reg. 357/06, s. 5 (3). 

 (4)  For the vice-chair, the base amount limit for the year is determined by adding $2,500 to the amount determined under 
subsection (2).  O. Reg. 357/06, s. 5 (4). 

Enrolment amount 

 6.  (1)  The enrolment amount for a member for each year of a term of office is an amount determined for that year that does 
not exceed the enrolment amount limit.  O. Reg. 163/07, s. 4 (1). 

 (1.1)  The enrolment amount shall be calculated anew in each year of a member’s term of office.  O. Reg. 163/07, s. 4 (1). 

 (1.2)  The enrolment amount limit is determined by multiplying the percentage determined by the board for the year under 
clause 4 (1) (c) or subsection 4 (2) or (3), as the case may be, by the amount determined for the member under subsection (2), 
(3) or (4), as the case may be.  O. Reg. 163/07, s. 4 (1). 

 (2)  For a member other than the chair or vice-chair, determine an amount as follows: 

 1. Multiply the enrolment of the board for the year as determined under section 9, by $1.75. 

 2. Divide the number determined under paragraph 1 by the number of members determined for the board under subclause 
58.1 (2) (k) (i) or subsection 58.1 (10.1) of the Act, as the case may be.  O. Reg. 357/06, s. 6 (2); O. Reg. 163/07, s. 4 (2). 

 (3)  For the chair, add the amount determined under subsection (2) to the amount determined as follows: 

 1. Multiply the enrolment of the board for the year as determined under section 9 by 5 cents. 

 2. Determine the greater of, 

 i. the amount determined under paragraph 1, and 

 ii. $500. 

 3. Determine the lesser of, 

 i. the amount determined under paragraph 2, and 

 ii. $5,000.  O. Reg. 357/06, s. 6 (3); O. Reg. 163/07, s. 4 (3). 

 (4)  For the vice-chair, add the amount determined under subsection (2) to the amount determined as follows: 

 1. Multiply the enrolment of the board for the year as determined under section 9 by 2.5 cents. 

 2. Determine the greater of, 

 i. the amount determined under paragraph 1, and 

 ii. $250. 

 3. Determine the lesser of, 

 i. the amount determined under paragraph 2, and 

 ii. $2,500.  O. Reg. 357/06, s. 6 (4); O. Reg. 163/07, s. 4 (4). 

Attendance amount 

 7.  (1)  The attendance amount is an amount that does not exceed the attendance amount limit of $50.  O. Reg. 357/06, 
s. 7 (1). 

 (2)  The attendance amount may be paid to a member for attending any meeting of a committee of the board that is required 
to be established by an Act or a regulation made under an Act.  O. Reg. 357/06, s. 7 (2). 

Distance amount 

 8.  (1)  The distance amount is an amount that does not exceed the distance amount limit of $50.  O. Reg. 357/06, s. 8 (1). 

 (2)  For a board member described as follows, the distance amount may be paid to the member for attending in person at any 
meeting of the board or of a committee of the board that is required to be established by an Act or a regulation made under an 
Act: 

 1. The board member is a member of a board that has,  

 i. a board area greater than 9,000 square kilometres, as set out in Table 1 of Ontario Regulation 412/00 (Elections to 
and Representation on District School Boards) made under the Act, as that regulation reads on the day that the 
board makes its determination under section 4, or  



3 

 ii. a dispersal factor of greater than 25, as set out in Table 5 of Ontario Regulation 412/00 (Elections to and 
Representation on District School Boards) made under the Act, as that regulation reads on the day that the board 
makes its determination under section 4. 

 2. On the day of the meeting, the distance between the member’s residence and the place where the meeting is held is more 
than 200 kilometres.  O. Reg. 357/06, s. 8 (2); O. Reg. 163/07, s. 5; O. Reg. 292/18, s. 4. 

 (3)  A board member may receive the distance amount only once in respect of any day.  O. Reg. 357/06, s. 8 (3). 

Enrolment 

 9.  For the purposes of section 6, the enrolment of the board for a year of a term of office is the estimate of the board’s day 
school average daily enrolment that was, 

 (a) determined for the purposes of the regulation made under section 234 of the Act in respect of calculating average daily 
enrolment for the school board fiscal year that ends in the calendar year in which the year of the term of office begins; 
and 

 (b) submitted to the Ministry together with the estimates required by clause 232 (6) (c) of the Act.  O. Reg. 163/07, s. 6; 
O. Reg. 164/11, s. 1. 

Service for a partial year 

 10.  (1)  The honorarium for a board member who serves for a partial year is determined in accordance with this section.  
O. Reg. 357/06, s. 10 (1); O. Reg. 190/10, s. 3. 

 (2)  The base amount is an amount that does not exceed the base amount limit for the partial year, which is determined by 
prorating, according to the time served, the base amount for a board member who serves for a full year.  O. Reg. 163/07, s. 7. 

 (2.1)  The enrolment amount is an amount that does not exceed the enrolment amount limit for the partial year, which is 
determined by prorating, according to the time served, the enrolment amount for a board member who serves for a full year.  
O. Reg. 163/07, s. 7. 

 (3)  The attendance amount and the distance amount are determined in accordance with sections 7 and 8, with necessary 
modifications.  O. Reg. 357/06, s. 10 (3). 

 11.  REVOKED:  O. Reg. 190/10, s. 4. 

Honorarium for members of school authorities 

 12.  (1)  A school authority may pay to its members an honorarium at the same rate and on the same conditions as the 
allowance being paid to its members on December 1, 1996.  O. Reg. 357/06, s. 12 (1). 

 (2)  If a school authority was paying an amount as an additional allowance to its chair or vice-chair on December 1, 1996, 
the school authority may pay that amount as an additional honorarium to its chair or vice-chair, at the same rate and on the 
same conditions as applied on December 1, 1996.  O. Reg. 357/06, s. 12 (2). 

PART II (s. 13) REVOKED: O. Reg. 292/18, s. 6. 

TABLE 1 REVOKED:  O. Reg. 190/10, s. 5. 

 

Français 

 

Back to top 

http://www.ontario.ca/fr/lois/reglement/060357


Trustee Honorarium Calculation for December 2021 - Year 4 of  4 Year Term 

Basic Information:

2020/2021 ADE (Average Daily Enrolment)

*(as per 2020/2021 Estimates) 9,602.00

Elected Trustees 9

Distance:

10 Board Meetings 10

  

Effective 

December 1, 

2021:

 Effective 

December 1, 2020:

Trustees:

Base Amount Max. $5,900 5,900.00 5,900.00

Funding per ADE/9 elected Board Members Max. $1.75/ADE 1,867.06 1,863.84

Attendance at any meeting of a committee established by an Act or Regulation Max. $50 per meeting 0.00 0.00

Distance greater than 200Km - based on circumstance *** Max $50/board mtg.

Total Per Trustee Rumeration 7,767.06 7,763.84

Chair:

Base Amount (max. increase $5,000) Max. $5,900+$5,000 10,900.00 10,900.00

Greater of $500 or Funding per A.D.E (by $0.05) to a maximum of $5,000 2,367.06 2,363.84

Attendance at any meeting of a committee established by an Act or Regulation Max. $50 per meeting 0.00 0.00

Distance greater than 200Km - based on circumstance *** Max $50/board mtg.

Total Chair Remuneration 13,267.06 13,263.84

Vice-Chair:

Base Amount (max. increase $2,500) Max. $5,900+$2,500 8,400.00 8,400.00

Greater of $250 or Funding per A.D.E (by $0.025) to a maximum of $2,500 2,117.06 2,113.84

Attendance at any meeting of a committee established by an Act or Regulation Max. $50 per meeting 0.00 0.00

Distance greater than 200Km - based on circumstance *** Max $50/board mtg.

Total Vice-Chair Remuneration 10,517.06 10,513.84

Grand Total for Board Remuneration=7 trustees, 1 chair, 1 vice-chair 78,153.54 78,124.56

Assumptions:

Trustees:

Base Amount 5,900.00 5,900.00

Base funding Per ADE divided by 9 1.75 1.75

Attendance at Meetings (other than Board) 0 0

Distance Travelled 50 50

Chair:

Base Amount 10,900.00 10,900.00

Greater of $500 or Funding per ADE (by $0.05) to a maximum of $5,000 0.05 0.05

Attendance at Meetings (other than Board) 0 0

Distance Travelled 50 50

Vice-Chair:

Base Amount 8,400.00 8,400.00

Greater of $250 or Funding per A.D.E (by $0.025) to a maximum of $2,500 0.025 0.025

Attendance at Meetings (other than Board) 0 0

Distance Travelled 50 50

Distance:

The distance amount only applies to a Board member when, on the day of a meeting, the distance betweeen the member's residence and the

place where the meeting is held is more than 200 kilometres. A Board member may only receive the distance amount once in respect of any day.

Attendance:

Based on attendance at statutory meetings other than regular board and/or committee meetings ( for meetings such

as SEAC, Audit, etc).  To be paid bi-yearly (June & December) based on attendance from (December-May,June-November).

At the January 22, 2008 board meeting a motion was passed to discontinue the $50/meeting compensation for trustees

attending any such meetings but approved the $50 distance amount for each member eligible.

 



 

 Special Education Services  Oct 21, 2021 
 
1.  Call to Order – 1:04 pm 
 
2.  Attendance via ZOOM online meeting platform  
Chris Guillemette  Alan Bottomley 
Susan Wilson   Laura Hansman 
Kimberley Gignac     
Candy St. Onge     
Louise Sargent   
 
Regrets: Albina Lavictoire, Karen Gratton-Miscio, Lisa Paradis and Nichole King 
 
Not an official meeting due to not having quorum for most of the meeting. 
 
3.  Approval of Agenda:  Oct 21, 2021 
Still in the process of processing the financial documents, SO Van Haesendonck will 
come to next month’s meeting to make the full presentation, but today speak to the 
Parry Sound Build. 

 Moved – Louise Sargent. 
Seconded – Chris Guillemette 
Carried. No Conflict of interest   

 
4.  Approval of Minutes:  

 Sept 16, 2021       
 Moved – Chris Guillemette 
 Seconded - Candy St. Onge    

 
 

Business - Demographic Data Update from Karen Waller and Jeff Roynon 
Key points discussed were: 

• Following up from the results from our This is Us – Student Identification Survey. 
The results bring clarity to our diverse population and enhance the understanding 
of our students in the NNDSB. 

• The evidence will help with the student success and well-being 
• NNDSB one of 8 boards to engage in pilot work on Anti-Racism Data Standards 
• 2 parts to the survey – demographic data questions, and student questions. 
• About to take part in the analyze data, and report on the de-identified data 
• This Is Us Survey from NNDSB website https://www.nearnorthschools.ca/this-is-

us/ 
• Identity based data census details shared; surprised with the 82% of the 7 and 8 

students 
• Overall 37% of families/students from K-12 in 2019 (3636 respondents) 
• Very similar amount of respondents to other boards 
• Grouped responses by Region/Family of Schools 
• Gender diverse slide and sexual orientation questions are work that’s being done 

in our schools now. 



 
• Using Data to inform our decisions – cyclical process, working with the Ministry as 

to what the cycles look like. 
• Look at what we already collect (EQAO, etc) - and help to indefinity and align to 

set targets, etc. 
• Work began last spring with de-streaming of grade 9 math 
• Leader also worked with the administrators on the grade 9 objectives of de-

streaming 
• Most important detail that staff are working with – we need to disrupt, engage 

those that are learning 
• Confidential info, but we’re able to link it to students – nobody has names or 

numbers; nobody has access to the data; just the overlap of the data 
• Trustee Bottomly brought up concerns with de-streaming steps that the Ministry is 

wanting us to do. 
 
Moving into information meeting now as we’ve lost quorum. 
 

Business - Land Acknowledgement presentation – Tracy Hendricks 

• A lot of organizations are sharing a land acknowledgment before their event – like hockey, 
etc. 

• No set rules for Land Acknowledgement; depends on the event. 
• Tracy provided info on how she goes about consulting with people when writing their own 

land acknowledgements. 
• Tracy created a Writing Your Own Land Acknowledgement document to share with staff 
• Reviewed Ontario treaties map. https://nearnorthschools-

my.sharepoint.com/:o:/g/personal/tracy_hendrick_nearnorthschools_ca/EnmqakMQ1uNHj
rd8iIjPXPIBAzhCsYyQ2N34MC6CiVI3VA?e=WZXXbQ 

• Best to know the communities near you (she has a community tab with background on the 
communities) 

• Indigenous person might do a territory acknowledgement rather than land 
acknowledgement, or a welcome, or thank you, and connection to land. 

• There are examples - from script, off the cuff, or simple welcome. 
• Land acknowledgement links are included under resource tab. 
• This continues to be a working document on the NNDSB end of things. 

Business - Financial Report – SBO Seija Van Haesendonck 

• Seija provided us with her background, and current roles within her Portfolio 
• Currently preparing for audit to take place next week; will return at next meeting and will 

deliver Spec Ed report. 
• Elementary Class re-org completed on Sept 30th 
• 2 large building projects on the go. 
• Construction awarded for the Fricker property 
• Parry Sound Build – stakeholders involved, teaching staff, etc and design plans are in 

process. Through design process, determined partial demolition – and nearly completed. 

 

Business - Membership discussion – SO Tim Graves 

• SO Graves put in a call to the Hands Exec Director re Dr. Karen Gratton-Miscio. 
• SO Graves outlined the SEAC membership requirements  



 
• Asked for feedback based on the documents he provided in the package. 
• No LDAO local chapter...think that Barb was also there as a parent. 
• Hands and OKP – we’d love to accept as many exceptionalities as possible.  We 

try to do our best to make the committee as fulsome as possible. 
• SO Graves – send suggestions to Krista Holmes and we can bring it to the next 

meeting. 

 

 

Business - Letter to the LDAO from Sue Wilson 

• Want to let the Committee know that Sue responded to the LDAO with a letter early last 
week. 

• Ontario Disability Employment Network Free Webinars --> Chris can send more info if 
anyone needs it, as she’s been on their board for 10+ years. 

• Fall 2021 Webcast schedule 
• Capital Planning and Accommodation Updates 

Ministry communications/PPM 

•  Nursing Services in schools and family managed home care.  
• We are pursuing what these details mean. We think that this might mean that these 

services can also happen at school (not just at home). 

Covid related Ministry notes 

• Notable update from SO Graves – if student under 12, travel with vaccinated 
parents – Provincially have to self-islolate, but Federally don’t have to. This will be 
clarified in our letter to families in a coming update. 

• Ministry made clarification to re-opening Covid guidance document – Reg 364. If 
we rent out, that regulation applies, but as the owner of the property make sure all 
items of the regulation are upheld – mandatory covid vaccination, screening, 
enhanced cleaning, etc. Almost impossible to return to community use, especially 
with shortage of custodial staff. 

• Have to have conversation with SO Smylie re Early Years, and that would be a 
priority for us. 

 

Special Education Plan 

• No update at this time. 

Special Education Budget 

• No update at this time. 

 
Reports 

SEAC chair 

• Not submitted as she’s sick. 















 

4 | P a g e  

 

 
There being no further business to discuss, on November 2, 2021 the Parry Sound Build 
Committee stands adjourned at 1:55 PM.  

Minutes: JC/GS/km. 

7.0     Adjournment 



 

1 | P a g e  

               
 

P.O. Box 3110, 963 Airport Road  
North Bay, ON P1B 8H1 

                    705.472.8170, Fax:  705.472.9927  
                                                                                             
Jay Aspin, Chair  Craig Myles, Director of Education  

 
Parry Sound Build Committee Meeting 

Wednesday, November 10, 2021 
Head Office of the Near North District School Board 

963 Airport Road, North Bay, ON 
 

Committee Members Present  Staff Present   
Jay Aspin, Board Chair 
John Cochrane, Committee Chair 
Marianne Speirs, Capital Projects 
Manager 
 
Committee Regrets:  
Gay Smylie, Superintendent 
Nichole King, Trustee 
Rob Learn, Trustee 

Craig Myles, Director of Education  
Krista Messenger, Executive Assistant 
Seija Van Haesendonck, Superintendent of Business 
 
Guests:  
Bill Steer, Trustee 
Paul Sapounzi, +VG 
Ed Bourdeau, +VG 
Attila Bogdan, Altus Group 

  

 
Committee Chair Cochrane called the meeting to order at 11:00 AM. Attendance was taken to 
ensure the meeting has quorum. Committee Chair Cochrane welcomed Trustee Steer to the 
meeting.  
 

         
Committee Chair Cochrane referred members to the agenda in the agenda package. The 
floor was opened for additions, with none rose.  
 
Moved by Committee Chair Cochrane and seconded by Board Chair Aspin that the agenda 
for the Parry Sound Build Committee meeting of November 10, 2021 is approved as 
presented. - CARRIED. 
 
 

         
3.1 Review of Minutes- November 2, 2021 
Committee Chair Cochrane referred members to the meeting minutes contained in the 
agenda package. The floor was opened for corrections with none rose.  
 

1.0    Call to Order 

2.0      Review of Agenda 

3.0      Review of Minutes   



 

2 | P a g e  

Moved by Committee Chair Cochrane and seconded by Board Chair Aspin that the minutes of 
the November 2, 2021, meeting of the Parry Sound Build Committee be approved as 
presented. - CARRIED 

 
Committee Chair Cochrane noted the committee would move into private session.  
 
Moved by Committee Chair Cochrane and seconded by Board Chair Aspin that the 
Committee moves into private session. – CARRIED.  
 
 
Following the return to regular session, the Committee moved to adjourn the meeting.  
 
 

 
There being no further business to discuss, on November 10, 2021 the Parry Sound Build 
Committee stands adjourned at 12:38 PM.  

Minutes: JC/SVH/km. 

3.0     In-Camera  

4.0     Adjournment 


	ADP1704.tmp
	1.0 Call to Order
	3.0 Welcome Trustee Elect Gagne
	3.1 Declaration of Office
	Following the appointment of C. Gagne at the previous meeting to fill the vacancy in zone 2, C. Gagne was provided with the Declarations of Office in advance of the meeting to review.
	Chair Aspin confirmed she had received the document and questioned whether the Trustee Elect was prepared to proceed. Trustee Elect Gagne affirmed that she was and proceeded to read the Declarations aloud to declare she is qualified to hold office, wi...
	3.2 Oath of Allegiance
	In the presence of trustees and the Board’s Secretary (Director Myles), Chair Aspin read aloud the Oath of Allegiance for Trustee Elect Gagne. Trustee Elect Gagne repeated after the Chair to affirm her allegiance.
	Following the swearing of the oath, Chair Aspin formally welcomed and introduced Trustee Gagne.
	5.0 Business Arising
	5.1 Menstrual Product Report
	Chair Aspin noted that this is an item of business arising from the June meeting from the previous Student Trustee, Ms. Hall-Paradis. Director Myles was invited to speak to this item. Highlights noted as:
	 Trustees were referred to the report contained in the package about menstrual product access in NNDSB schools.
	 Initially, this report was designed to inform the Board’s decision to write a letter of support for this initiative.
	 It is noted that following the development of this report, the provincial government announced a partnership with Shoppers Drug Mart to give menstrual products to school boards across the province, which can be accessed in school washrooms. The inve...
	 Student Trustees, M. Hall-Paradis and C. Darling were recognized for their work with the Ontario Student Trustee’s Association (OSTA), given how the report has shown what great benefit this will bring to NNDSB students.
	 Providing equity of access to menstrual products fosters inclusivity in the NNDSB school community, and represents further strides towards the strategic commitment to Excellence in Teaching and Learning.
	Director Myles noted that SO Graves is in attendance to respond to any questions.
	Chair Aspin opened the floor for questions, with none rose. Chair Aspin thanked Director Myles for presenting this item.
	6.0 Communication to the Board
	7.0 Items for Decision
	9.0  Next Meeting Date
	Chair Aspin confirmed the Board of Trustees would meet next on Tuesday, November 16, 2021.
	10.0 Motion to Adjourn
	Jay Aspin Craig Myles

	Nov 16 Student Conduct Management AG.pdf
	Activities for which suspension must be considered under subsection 306(1) of the Education Act for Junior, Intermediate and Senior Students:
	1.  Uttering a threat to inflict serious bodily harm on another person:
	Ontario Student Record (OSR) Documentation
	Notifying the Parent(s)/Guardian Following a Serious Student Incident
	Not Notifying a Parent/Guardian
	Notifying Parent/Guardian of a Student who has engaged in a Serious Student Incident
	Mitigating Factors
	(Suspension Letter - Appendix 3)
	Alternative Suspension Program
	The Re-Entry Meeting
	Section 5.1 Appeal of Suspension
	Transfer to Another School
	Following an incident at the school, it might be necessary to transfer to another school the student who has been disciplined or the victim for safety reasons and/or for compliance with an Order of the Court or police restrictions. In all cases where ...
	Suspension Pending Expulsion (Appendix 8)
	Procedural Steps When Imposing a Suspension Pending Expulsion
	Principal’s Investigation
	Any police investigation will be conducted separately from the principal's investigation.
	Section 6.1 Decision Not to Recommend Expulsion
	Recommendation to the Board for an Expulsion Hearing
	For the purposes of the expulsion proceeding, the principal shall:
	Response to the Principal’s Report
	The Superintendent of Safe Schools:
	Expulsion Hearing Before the Discipline Committee
	Parties to the hearing are:
	Submissions and Views of the Parties
	Factors the Discipline Committee Must Consider in its Decision
	Restriction on Expulsion
	Decision
	If Student is Not Expelled
	If Student is Expelled
	Expulsion Appeal
	Section 6.3 Programs for Expelled Students
	Academic Component
	Non-academic Component
	Developing and Implementing the Student Action Plan (SAP )
	 2A Delegation of Authority Teacher-in-Charge
	Vice-Principals
	Teachers in Charge

	Appendix 2B
	Delegation of Authority Vice Principal-in-Charge

	Appendix 3
	Suspension Letter

	Appendix  4
	Notice of    Suspension  Review
	Re: Suspension of [Student's Name], [DOB] from [Name of School]
	Head Office

	Suspension Review Decision
	Re: Suspension Review of Suspension of [Student’s Name], [DOB] from [Name of School]

	Notice of Suspension Appeal
	Re: Appeal of Suspension of [Student's Name], [DOB] from [Name of School]

	Notice of Suspension Appeal Decision
	SUSPENSION APPEAL DECISION
	date or event).

	Suspension Pending Possible Recommendation for Expulsion
	Decision Letter Not to Recommend Expulsion
	Notice of Recommendation for Expulsion
	Expulsion Decision
	[School Board Name]

	Decision

	Appendix 12
	VIOLENT INCIDENT FORM
	Name of student:
	Date of inclusion in OSR:



	ADPC182.tmp
	ADMINISTRATIVE GUIDELINE
	Title:  Health and Safety:  Emergency Response Plan

	A. INTRODUCTION
	B. PREPARATION AND PLANNING
	 A complete list of staff and students with photographs (if available), addresses, telephone numbers, next of kin, bus rosters
	C. MANAGING AN EMERGENCY
	D. POST-EMERGENCY CARE
	E. VISITORS IN THE SCHOOL
	A.1 BOMB THREAT
	A.3 VIOLENT INCIDENT EMERGENCY RESPONSE PLAN
	Introduction
	Locking Down

	3.1 PERSONS WITH WEAPONS
	 Notify appropriate Superintendent

	4.1 IN-BUILDING EVACUATION
	4.2 OUT-OF-BUILDING EVACUATION
	A.6 LOCK-DOWN PLAN
	A.10 FIRE SAFETY PLAN
	11.1 WEATHER AWARENESS
	11.2   Severe Thunderstorms
	11.3   Tornadoes
	11.4 Winter Storms
	11.5 After the Storm or Tornado
	11.6 Floods
	11.7 Earthquakes

	SECTION B.
	SITE
	B.  TABLE OF CONTENTS
	B.1 CHECKLIST TO MANAGE EMERGENCY RESPONSE
	Site #1
	Site #2-


	B.5 ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF COMMAND CENTRE
	LOCATION OF COMMAND CENTRE:
	PLEASE REFER TO DRAWINGS FOR LOCATIONS OF BUILDING RESOURCES
	B.9 Media Statements
	Stand-by Statement – On Site
	Standby-by Statement – Off Site
	Stand-by Statement – Media Release
	Update Release



	Date
	Hydro One 1 (800) 434-1235

	Sign-In Time
	School_______________________

	ADP6D26.tmp
	A. Bear Sightings in the School’s Vicinity:
	B. Bear Sightings on School Property
	II. DURING SCHOOL DISMISSAL:
	C. Duties of the Principal:
	D. Duties of the Secretary:
	E. Prevention:

	ADP930C.tmp
	Superintendent of Business Seija Van Haesendonck
	November 16, 2021

	ADPD294.tmp
	Craig Myles, Director of Education
	Board Meeting November 16, 2021

	6.3b Bylaw Request Letter.For 2022 Tax Year.Near North.pdf
	Ministère des Finances 
	Ministry of Finance

	ADP9A9F.tmp
	Parent Involvement Committee (PIC)




